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KEY FIGURES?

2022/2021

2022 2021 2020" Change in %

Incoming orders € million 5,008.4 4,291.0 3,283.2 16.7
Orders on hand (Dec. 31) € million 4,014.0 3,361.0 2,556.7 19.4
Sales revenues € million 4,314.1 3,536.7 3,324.8 22.0
of which abroad % 85.2 84.2 83.1 1.0 pp
Gross profit € million 938.7 819.4 596.3 14.6
EBITDA € million 337.5 299.4 125.3 12.7
EBIT € million 205.9 175.7 1.1 17.2
EBIT before extraordinary effects € million 232.2 199.1 99.5 16.6
EBT € million 188.1 132.6 -18.5 41.9
Net profit/loss € million 134.3 84.9 -13.9 58.1
Earnings per share (basic) € 1.89 1.20 -0.23 57.5
Earnings per share (diluted) € 1.81 1.16 -0.23 56.0
Dividend per share € 0.702 0.50 0.30 40.0
Cash flow from operating activities € million 264.7 257.0 215.0 3.0
Cash flow from investing activities € million 13.3 -121.9 -119.2 -
Cash flow from financing activities € million -141.3 -334.2 27.4 57.7
Free cash flow € million 171 120.8 110.7 -3.1
Equity (with non-controlling interests) (Dec. 31) € million 1,124.2 1,005.6 908.1 11.8
Net financial status (Dec. 31) € million -4b6.4 -99.5 -49.0 53.4
Net working capital (Dec. 31) € million 415.9 427.9 382.6 -2.8
Employees (Dec. 31) 18,514 17,802 16,525 4.0
of which abroad % 52.2 51.4 52.0 0.8 pp
Gearing (Dec. 31) % 4.0 9.0 5.1 -5.0 pp
Equity ratio (Dec. 31) % 24.8 24.2 23.4 0.6 pp
Gross margin % 21.8 23.2 17.9 -1.4pp
EBITDA margin % 7.8 8.5 3.8 -0.7 pp
EBIT margin % 4.8 5.0 0.3 -0.2 pp
EBIT margin before extraordinary effects % 5.4 5.6 3.0 -0.2 pp
Net financial debt / EBITDA 0.1 0.3 0.4 -
ROCE % 17.3 15.5 1.1 1.8 pp
EVA € million 18.3 38.8 -66.0 -52.8

" Please note the information on page 76 concerning the figures.
2 Dividend proposal for the annual general meeting.

Minor variances may occur in the computation of sums and percentages in this report due to rounding.



THE DURR GROUP

As one of the world's leading mechanical and plant engineering firms, we help our customers

establish sustainable and efficient production. In 2022, automotive customers accounted

for 46% of our sales and 37% came from furniture and timber house manufacturers. Other

customer segments include the chemical, pharmaceutical, medical products, and battery

manufacturing industries. Our technology boasts energy efficiency, automation and a high

degree of digitalization.

Our five divisions

PAINT AND
FINAL ASSEMBLY
SYSTEMS

* Paint shops

* Final assembly systems

* Testing and filling tech-
nology for the automotive
industry

* Assembly and test systems
for medical devices

APPLICATION
TECHNOLOGY

* Paint application technology

* Gluing technology
* Sealing technology

CLEAN

TECHNOLOGY
SYSTEMS

* Air pollution control

* Noise abatement systems

* Coating systems for battery
electrodes

MEASURING

AND PROCESS
SYSTEMS

= Balancing equipment

= Diagnostic technology

= Industrial filling technology

= Tooling systems

WOODWORKING
MACHINERY AND
SYSTEMS

= Machinery and equipment
for the woodworking
industry

€1,436.2 M
SALES

€57.3 M
EBIT BEFORE EXTRA-
ORDINARY EFFECTS

€586.6 M
SALES

€48.8 M
EBIT BEFORE EXTRA-
ORDINARY EFFECTS

€456.1 M
SALES
€11.4 M

EBIT BEFORE EXTRA-
ORDINARY EFFECTS

€276.2 M
SALES

€17.2 M
EBIT BEFORE EXTRA-
ORDINARY EFFECTS

€1,602.1 M
SALES

€124.8 M
EBIT BEFORE EXTRA-
ORDINARY EFFECTS

5,439 2,040 1,363 1,707 7,525
EMPLOYEES EMPLOYEES EMPLOYEES EMPLOYEES EMPLOYEES
|DURR ||]URR ||]URH SCHENCK H: HOMAG




Responsible. Resilient. Resourceful.
These three “Rs” say a lot about us and
the opportunities our business holds.

RESPONSIBLE

stands for our focus on sustainability principles. We reduce
emissions, develop low-consumption technologies, and enable
the series production of climate-friendly products. This makes

us a trailblazer for a largely CO,-free society.

RESILIENT

means we have the strength to withstand economic headwinds.
Even during difficult times, our customers still invest. This

Is because our solutions have them well prepared for the
transformation toward sustainability, e-mobility, and automation.

RESOURCEFUL

perfectly captures the spirit of the people in the Dirr Group.
They think independently and develop tailor-made solutions for

the customers’ requirements.
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Chairman’s letter
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LETTER

Dr. Jochen Weyrauch
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Chairman’s letter

Dear readers,

In 2022, the Dirr Group performed better than expected given the challenging environment. In spite
of supply chain chaos, price inflation for materials, and tough lockdowns in China, we surpassed our
sales target and significantly increased our earnings. Even more telling is our order intake, which
exceeded the €5 billion threshold for the first time and was thus well above the original target corridor
(€4.1 to €4.4 billion).

Our flexible approach to the adverse circumstances was pivotal in our robust performance. Thanks to
the extraordinary commitment of our staff in purchasing, manufacturing, project execution, logistics,
and many other areas, we completed orders in a reliable and customer-oriented way - and always
with utmost personal dedication. This is symbolized by our colleagues in Shanghai, who slept in the
plants and kept operations going during the spring lockdowns. My thanks go to them and all other
employees who have contributed to our success.

Another reason for our good performance is the resilience of our business model. We have aligned the
Dirr Group strategically with the topics of the future: sustainability, electromobility, and automation.
This offers us growth potential and stabilizes our business. The year 2022 showed that customers go
ahead with their investments in decarbonization, e-mobility factories, and intelligent automation even
in the face of economic headwinds, since this is crucial for remaining competitive.

Sustainability, e-mobility, and automation will continue to carry our business in the years to come.
For many customers, the switch to energy-efficient production processes is only just beginning. We
are ready to support them in this process. We can already build carbon-free paint shops today that
run on green electricity instead of fossil fuels. Business in coating lines for electrode manufacture is
only just starting to gain momentum, too. Here, for the first time, we exceeded the €100 million order
intake threshold in 2022. Since e-mobility is driving a need for many additional battery factories, we
see potential for expansion to between €300 and €500 million.

The sustainability trend is also offering new opportunities for growth at HOMAG. More and more
houses are being built using timber as a climate-friendly material. The corresponding production
technology is provided by HOMAG and is in high demand, since HOMAG is at the cutting edge of tech-
nology and can deliver entire factories for the automated production of construction elements. This
makes HOMAG a pioneer in the industrialization of timber house construction and enables customers
to erect even large buildings and entire residential complexes efficiently using timber.

Automation is one of the Dirr Group’s core competences. We invest in this field, as automated
solutions are becoming increasingly important in view of the labor shortage. In addition, require-
ments in terms of both quantity and quality in many sectors are so high that products can only be
manufactured efficiently with high-performance automation. Medical plastic products such as insulin
pens or syringes are examples of this. In this growth area, we are active with the Teamtechnik Group
and will expand our position further.
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In view of our robust core business and our focus on the future topics outlined above, we increased
our medium-term sales targets at the end of 2022. Instead of the previous 2% to 3% p.a., we are
now targeting average growth of 5% to 6% with an aim to generate sales of over €6 billion by 2030.
Furthermore, we are striving to achieve a more advantageous business mix: The proportion of sales
accounted for by fast-growing activities such as automation and battery production is to rise from 15%
to 30% by 2030. With its above-average profitability,
HOMAG's business is to contribute the largest propor-

We have a l'ig n ed th e D u rr tion of sales, at 40% on a sustainable basis. The share
Grou p Strategica lly with of the automotive business, on the other hand, will

shift from around 45% toward 30%. This is based on

t h e to p i cS of t h e futu re: our new “value before volume” strategy: In automotive

plant engineering, we are focusing on projects that

Susta i na bility' elect ro- offer attractive margins rather than size at any price.
mobility' and automation_ For the 2022 fiscal year, we propose a dividend increase

of 40% to €0.70 per share. In view of our anticipated
earnings, | am confident that we can continue the
trend of a dividend increase going forward. In 2023, we want to raise the EBIT margin before extra-
ordinary effects to between 6.0% and 7.0%, thus taking a big step toward our target margin of at least
8% in 2024. Sales should grow to up to €4.8 billion, while order intake is to reach €4.4 to €4.8 billion.

Together with the heads of our divisions, Dietmar Heinrich and | are optimistic about the future. The
Dirr Group showed resilience in dealing with the years 2020 to 2022, which were marked by supply
chain problems and the pandemic. The trend toward sustainability and decarbonization, in particular,
offers many opportunities, since we are the pioneer in energy-efficient solutions in our markets.
We will take advantage of this technological edge to achieve profitable growth. In addition, we will
continue to invest in climate protection at our sites to make our contribution toward the 1.5°C target.

Together with our employees, we are strengthening our cohesiveness within the company. The basis
for this is a jointly developed corporate statement, consisting of vision, mission, purpose, and values,
which we will introduce this year. In view of the war in Ukraine and growing unilateralism, we hope
that we can return to the principle of international understanding. At the Diirr Group, we believe in
the positive power of cross-border cooperation and economic interdependence. At the same time,
we are represented in all key markets with a strong local presence. International reach is a pillar of
our success, as are our strength of innovation, reliability, and openness to new things. On this basis,
we will develop our company further - for our customers, partners, employees, and shareholders,
whom | want to thank for their trust.

Yours sincerely

Dl L.

Dr. Jochen Weyrauch
CEO

Bietigheim-Bissingen, March 15, 2023
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Board of Management

BOARD OF MANAGEMENT
OF DURR AG
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Dr. Jochen Weyrauch (56) Dietmar Heinrich (59)
CEO CFO
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Report of the Supervisory Board

REPORT OF THE
SUPERVISORY BOARD

Dear readers,

The year 2022 showed us that economic and political stability cannot be taken for granted as much
as we thought it could. The Russian attack on Ukraine caused peace in Europe to shatter, posed new
challenges for Western democracies, and resulted in a serious energy crisis, especially in Germany.
High inflation put a burden on consumers and companies. Added to that were persistent supply chain
problems and lockdowns, which, at times, significantly limited business in China.

Given the extent of this turmoil, the Dirr Group showed remarkable resilience last year. This could
be seen, above all, in order intake, which was considerably higher than initially predicted, exceeding
the €5 billion mark for the first time. Sales increased from quarter to quarter and, despite tense
supply chains, were slightly above the target corridor. In May, the Board of Management had to revise
the initial earnings forecast, since the war in Ukraine and the lockdowns in China had resulted in
additional burdens. In the second half of the year, however, earnings performed very solidly. On this
basis, and thanks to the high level of incoming payments, free cash flow exceeded the target range,
even though investments rose and management accepted the need for higher levels of stock to ensure
the company’s ability to deliver. The latter proved to be right: Despite the adverse environment, the
Dirr Group demonstrated its reliability and completed the vast majority of its projects on schedule
and with a high level of quality - which is precisely what customers all over the world appreciate in
Diirr, HOMAG, and Schenck.

The Board of Management carefully steered the company through these turbulent times. In addition,
Dr. Jochen Weyrauch, CEO since the beginning of last year, defined new strategic focal points, in close
cooperation with CFO Dietmar Heinrich and with the divisions” management, in order to achieve the
targeted EBIT margin before extraordinary effects of over 8% from 2024. The focal points include:
the “Value before Volume” sales strategy in plant engineering; strengthening the service activities,
especially at HOMAG; and stepping up the Group-wide OneDurrGroup synergy program.

At the same time, the Board of Management aligned the Group even more systematically with the
topics of the future: sustainability, electromobility, and automation. This, too, will boost the resilience
of the business, since these three trends are being prioritized by many customers and are prompting
extensive investments. Their implementation is relatively unaffected by economic fluctuations.
Considering, above all, the great potential offered by the fields of the future - timber house construction,
battery production, and automation technology - the Supervisory Board firmly believes that the Board
of Management has set the right target. In November, the Board of Management announced an average
increase in sales of 5% to 6% p.a. until 2030, along with a higher level of earnings.
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Report of the Supervisory Board

Gerhard Federer
Chair of the Supervisory Board

WORK OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD, PARTICIPATION IN MEETINGS,
AND FURTHER TRAINING

The Supervisory Board supported and advised the Board of Management continuously in 2022. The
Board of Management promptly and comprehensively provided and explained all the necessary
information on business performance, strategic measures, planning, and activities requiring consent.
The Supervisory Board adopted its resolutions following thorough review and debate, and based
on written decision-making materials and discussions. The Supervisory Board carefully monitored
the Board of Management's conduct of the company’s affairs and confirms that the Board of
Management always acted lawfully, diligently, and economically. The Board of Management used the
risk management system effectively in operational, financial, legal, and sustainability-related matters,
while receiving support from various corporate departments such as Compliance, Legal, Controlling,
and Internal Auditing. The Board of Management provided the Supervisory Board with regular and
comprehensive information on risks and opportunities.

In 2022, the Supervisory Board held five regular and three extraordinary meetings. Six meetings
were held in hybrid format, i.e. with both in-person and video participation, while two meetings
were exclusively held by videoconference. In the case of the hybrid meetings, the clear majority of
the Supervisory Board members opted to attend in person. All regular meetings were attended by
all Supervisory Board members, the only exception being the meeting on October 5, 2022, which
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Report of the Supervisory Board

Mr. Hayo Raich was unable to attend. Prof. Alexandra Diirr was absent from the extraordinary meetings
held on June 3 and July 13, and Dr. Anja Schuler was unable to attend on July 13. Three of the ten
committee meetings held in 2022 took place in hybrid format, while seven were held virtually. All
meetings were attended by all members, with one exception. Mr. Richard Bauer was unable to attend
the Nominating Committee meeting held on November 10. As a result, the participation rate at the
Supervisory Board and committee meetings was 100% for two thirds of the members and over 80% for
all members. The members of the Board of Management took part in the Supervisory Board meetings
unless the Supervisory Board Chair had made other provisions. Any meeting segments not attended
by the Board of Management usually covered issues concerning the Board of Management itself. In
my capacity as Chair of the Supervisory Board, | had regular contact with the Board of Management
between the meetings. There were no conflicts of interest for any of the Supervisory Board members
in 2022.

The majority of the Supervisory Board members took part in Supervisory-Board-specific further
training in 2022. This included internal training, offered by experts from within the Dirr Group and by
external staff on the topics of sustainability, digitalization, mergers & acquisitions, and the German
Financial Market Integrity Strengthening Act (FISG). In addition, some Supervisory Board members
took part in various external training events. Key topics for these included artificial intelligence and
digitalization, sustainability and EU Taxonomy, as well as the German Act on Corporate Due Diligence
Obligations in Supply Chains. The plan for the current year includes further training on future
sustainability reporting, for which Dirr AG will offer the members of the Supervisory Board at least
one internal event.

COMPOSITION OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD UNCHANGED

The composition of the Supervisory Board remained unchanged in 2022. The current term of
office for all members began in 2021. The shareholder representatives are elected for a term of
four years, while the employee representatives’ term of office is five years, in accordance with the
German Co-determination Act. On the shareholder representatives’ side, Mr. Bauer has announced
his resignation. The Supervisory Board is thus proposing to the annual general meeting that
Dr. Markus Kerber be elected as his successor, as proposed by the Nominating Committee.

KEY TOPICS

At all meetings held in 2022, the Supervisory Board received information about the company’s business
performance. Among other things, it looked at the impact of the war in Ukraine, the supply chain
problems, and the coronavirus lockdowns in China. In this context, it was also briefed about the
company’s handling of the high level of inflation and of the energy crisis in Europe. The Supervisory
Board also paid regular attention to the financial situation and the outlook. When assessing the
economic situation, it primarily looked at the development of incoming orders, sales, EBIT and
EBIT margin, as well as ROCE, free cash flow, net working capital, net financial status, and liquidity.
Another focus was on investments for modernization and expansion, especially at HOMAG, and on
the development in areas of growth such as timber house construction and battery production.
The Supervisory Board also paid close attention to the topic of corporate governance. In 2022, no
discussions were held between institutional investors and myself as Chair of the Supervisory Board.
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The key topic of the meeting held on March 16, 2022, to approve the financial statements was the review
and approval of the annual and consolidated financial statements for 2021. Furthermore, the agenda
for the virtual annual general meeting on May 13 was discussed and approved. During the further
course of the meeting, the Supervisory Board analyzed the effects of the German Act on Corporate Due
Diligence Obligations in Supply Chains, which came into force at the beginning of 2023. In his capacity
as Employee Affairs Director, Dr. Weyrauch presented the latest personnel report.

The first extraordinary meeting of the year took place on April 26, 2022. It started with a look at business
in China, which had been impacted by the coronavirus lockdown. The Supervisory Board then moved
on to the meeting’s main topic and was given in-depth information by the Board of Management on
the strategy of the Diirr Group and the HOMAG subgroup.

On the day of the annual general meeting (May 13, 2022), the Supervisory Board held a short meeting
in the morning and first discussed the option of increasing the two-strong Board of Management.
Similarly to the Personnel Committee, which had previously addressed this topic, the full Supervisory
Board decided that the appointment of a third Board of Management member would not be necessary
for the time being. In making its decision, the Supervisory Board took into account that, even though
the Board of Management has a lean setup, the size of the Group’s top management team is sufficient,
thanks to the enhanced cooperation between the Board of Management and the division heads. Another
key topic was the percentage of women on the Board of Management. The Supervisory Board decided
to set the target for the number of women on the Board of Management at one. The deadline for
achieving this target is June 30, 2027. The previous resolution adopted in 2017 ended on June 30, 2022.
It had set a target of 0%, which was no longer in keeping with modern practice.

During the extraordinary meeting on June 3, 2022, the Supervisory Board approved the conclusion
of a consultancy contract between Mr. Arnd Zinnhardt and iTAC Software AG, which is part of the
Dirr Group. In addition, it decided to follow the recommendation of the Personnel Committee to adjust
the short-term incentive (STI) for fiscal 2022 during the year, in view of the EBIT target, and to lower
to 130% the cap for total target achievement of the STI for fiscal 2022. This was based on the option
included in the remuneration system that remuneration may be adjusted in the case of extraordinary
developments or events. The Supervisory Board made use of this option, since the business targets
initially set for the fiscal year were no longer achievable due to the ongoing pandemic, the lockdowns
in China, the war in Ukraine, and significant supply chain problems. In connection with this resolution,
the Declaration of Compliance with the German Corporate Governance Code was updated on the same
day. Further explanations can be found in the remuneration report on page 124.

The strategy meeting that had started on April 26 continued at the extraordinary meeting on
July 13, 2022. The heads of the Paint and Final Assembly Systems, Application Technology, Clean
Technology Systems, and Measuring and Process Systems divisions provided a comprehensive overview
of the respective strategies. They also answered questions from the Supervisory Board members. In
addition, the schedule of responsibilities for the Board of Management was modified slightly with effect
from August 1, 2022.
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The meeting held on August 3, 2022, started with the decision to reappoint Mr. Heinrich as a member of
the Board of Management, as proposed by the Personnel Committee. Then, Mr. Zinnhardt reported on the
Audit Committee meeting held the previous evening. In this context, the Supervisory Board discussed,
among other things, the increase in net risk potential shown in the latest Group risk report. The Board
of Management reported on current activities in the field of sustainability, targets for the percentage
of women at the first and second senior management levels below the Board of Management, and the
OneHR program for optimizing human resources. Further items on the agenda were the Supervisory
Board’s approval for a new building at the Group company Benz GmbH Werkzeugsysteme as well as
the first-time instruction of Deloitte GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft to audit the 2022 annual
financial statements, the 2022 non-financial statement, and the 2022 remuneration report. Finally,
the Supervisory Board approved various consultancy contracts with IMU Institut GmbH, for which
Dr. Martin Schwarz-Kocher works.

One of the key points of the meeting on October 5, 2022, was the second personnel report, presented by
Dr. Weyrauch, and its discussion. In the corporate governance context, the Supervisory Board reviewed
its skills profile, adopted in September 2021, and saw no need for amendments. In addition, it prepared
the qualification matrix required by the German Corporate Governance Code. This matrix is based
on the skills model. Following a detailed discussion, the Supervisory Board endorsed the option for
individual members to acquire specific expert knowledge, adjusted its rules of procedure accordingly,
and appointed Dr. Schuler as sustainability expert with effect from January 1, 2023. It took this step, not
least to stay abreast of the growing importance that sustainability holds for the Dirr Group. Finally, the
Declaration of Compliance with the German Corporate Governance Code was approved.

The final meeting of the year took place on December 14, 2022. During that meeting, the Supervisory
Board approved the budget for 2023 and acknowledged the medium-term planning for the period
between 2024 and 2026. It also discussed the second risk report. Following a report by Mr. Zinnhardt
on the work of the Audit Committee, the Supervisory Board analyzed the second risk report of the year
and acknowledged the Diirr Group’s policy statement required under the German Act on Corporate
Due Diligence Obligations in Supply Chains. Further key topics were refinancing issues and - following
the Personnel Committee’s recommendation - defining the parameters for the short-term variable
remuneration components (STI) for 2023 and determining the LTI for the three-year period between
2023 and 2025. Furthermore, the Supervisory Board approved the Board of Management’s plan to
increase the stake in the Italian Group company CPM S.p.A. from 51% to 100%. Regarding the succession
of Mr. Bauer, the Supervisory Board received a report from the Nominating Committee, which had
convened on November 10.

PERSONNEL COMMITTEE

The Personnel Committee, which is also the Executive Committee, convened six times in 2022. On
March 15, in preparation for the Supervisory Board meeting the following day, it determined the target
achievement for the variable Board of Management remuneration for 2022. Furthermore, it discussed
whether an additional member, specializing in digitalization matters, should be appointed to the
Board of Management. However, this option was dismissed, since the digitalization requirements
within the Group are highly complex and would thus be better fulfilled at division level.
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On April 21, 2022, the Personnel Committee revisited the question of increasing the Board of
Management. In this context, it also sought Dr. Weyrauch’s opinion and asked him to clarify the
demands placed on the Board of Management by the OneDirrGroup synergy program and to explain
the cooperation with the divisions’ management. Consequently, the committee formulated the
recommendation not to increase the Board of Management for the time being but to keep this option
in mind, going forward.

On May 31, 2022, the Personnel Committee met to prepare the Supervisory Board's resolution
scheduled for June 3 to adjust the short-term incentive targets for fiscal 2022 during the year. In doing
so, it also recognized the relevant legal requirements and recommended an update of the Declaration
of Compliance with the German Corporate Governance Code.

The Personnel Committee meeting held on July 13 focused on the reappointment of Mr. Heinrich as
CFO. The committee recommended that his appointment be extended, with a contract term expiring on
September 30, 2026. On November 18, the Personnel Committee discussed the Board of Management’s
remuneration system and made preparations for its adjustment, especially in view of the regulations
on variable remuneration. The adjustment of the Board of Management’'s remuneration system was
also a key topic at the last meeting of the year (December 9). In addition, the committee prepared the
resolution, to be adopted by the full Supervisory Board, on the targets for the 2023 STl and for the LTI
for the three-year period between 2023 and 2025.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee held three regular meetings in 2022. Recurring tasks were discussions about
the consolidated and individual financial statements of Diirr AG and about new accounting matters.
The committee sees no indication that the internal control system, the risk management system, and
the internal auditing system could be ineffective. It reviewed the financial reporting process and the
compliance management system. It also monitored compliance with statutory regulations governing
capital markets and with the requirements for dealing with non-audit services. In his capacity as
Committee Chair, Mr. Zinnhardt had both regular and ad-hoc discussions with the auditors, who also
attended two Audit Committee meetings.

At the first regular meeting on March 15, 2022, the committee reviewed the annual and consolidated
financial statements, the non-financial statement, and the remuneration report for 2021. In addition,
it received a current internal auditing report and focused on the review of the 2021 risk reports.

On August 2, the Audit Committee analyzed the latest risk report, paying special attention to the
increased risks resulting from the war in Ukraine and the pandemic-related lockdowns in China.
During the risk function review, for which the committee is responsible, the decision was taken to
conduct a completeness and efficiency review of the risk management system with the help of an
auditing firm. Following an internal auditing report, the Audit Committee adjusted the rules for the
approval of non-audit services and received a report on the compliance management system and the
compliance situation. Furthermore, it looked at the impairment test of goodwill, the current situation
of two US pension funds, and the induction of the new auditor, Deloitte. In view of the upcoming audit
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season, it defined the Supervisory Board's key points for the audit of the consolidated and individual
financial statements. In addition, it decided to recommend that the full Supervisory Board instruct
Deloitte GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft to audit the consolidated and individual financial
statements, to perform a limited assurance audit of the non-financial statement, and to audit the
remuneration report in terms of form and content.

The third Audit Committee meeting took place on December 14. It started with a discussion about
the second Group risk report of the year and about reports on the internal control system, the
compliance management system, and the internal auditing work. Afterwards, the auditing firm PwC
provided information on a readiness check it had conducted to examine the requirements for the
risk management system review that had been agreed in August. The discussion about the agenda
item “accounting topics” focused on sustainability reporting, the impairment test, and tax-related
matters. Further topics of the meeting were: the budget for the review of the consolidated and annual
financial statements, the non-audit services provided by the auditor, the status of the auditing work,
the dividend potential for 2022, and IT governance at the Dirr Group.

NOMINATING COMMITTEE AND MEDIATION COMMITTEE

The Nominating Committee held one meeting in 2022 (November 10) to discuss the succession of
Mr. Bauer, following his resignation announcement. As in previous years, the Mediation Committee
did not have to convene in 2022.

AUDIT AND ADOPTION OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Deloitte GmbH Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft audited Diirr AG's annual financial statements, Dirr's
consolidated financial statements, and the combined management report prepared by the Board of
Management for the period ended December 31, 2022, and issued unqualified audit opinions. The
annual financial statements, the consolidated financial statements, and the combined management
report were submitted to the members of the Supervisory Board in good time. They were discussed
in detail with the Board of Management and reviewed on March 15, 2023, at the Supervisory Board
meeting held to approve the financial statements. The same applies to the auditors’ reports, which
were also submitted in due time. The auditors signing the audit opinion participated in that meeting
and in the Audit Committee meeting held on the previous day. They reported on their audit and
were available for further explanations and discussions. Mr. Jan Biihler from Deloitte GmbH was
responsible for carrying out the audit for the first time. The remuneration report, prepared together
with the Board of Management and agreed by the Board of Management and the Supervisory Board,
was reviewed by the auditor. It was noted in the auditor’s report that the remuneration report had
been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with Section 162 (1) and (2) of the German Stock
Corporation Act (AktG).
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Report of the Supervisory Board

At the Supervisory Board meeting held to approve the financial statements, the Audit Committee
Chair, Mr. Zinnhardt, gave his detailed opinion on the audit documents, on the preliminary talks with
the auditors, and on the Supervisory Board's key audit points. The latter were: the up-to-date status of
registry entries in connection with management, supervisory bodies, authorized representatives, and
authorized signatories as well as the separation of functions in IT change management processes.

Based on the documents presented to it and the reports of the Audit Committee and the auditors,
the Supervisory Board examined and accepted the annual financial statements, the consolidated
financial statements, and the combined management report (including the non-financial consolidated
statement). The Supervisory Board's own review found no cause for objection. The Supervisory
Board approves the results of the audits of both sets of financial statements, agrees with the Board
of Management in its assessment of the situation of the Group and of Diirr AG, and approves the
annual financial statements and the consolidated financial statements prepared for the period ended
December 31, 2022. The annual financial statements are thereby adopted. Considering the Audit
Committee's recommendation and its own review, the Supervisory Board approves the Board of
Management's proposal on the use of net retained profit - a dividend of €0.70 per share is planned
for 2022.

The Supervisory Board thanks the Board of Management, the senior managers, and the employee

representatives as well as all employees for their commitment in 2022. Thanks also go to the
shareholders for their trust.

Gerhard Federer
Chair of the Supervisory Board

Bietigheim-Bissingen, March 15, 2023
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CAPITAL MARKET

New growth targets

By providing transparent, factual, and timely information, we help
to achieve a fair valuation of the Diirr share. In doing so, we attach
importance to sustainable relations based on a spirit of mutual
trust with private investors, institutional investors, and equity
analysts.

In 2022, our capital market communications focused on the fall-
out from the war in Ukraine, the lockdowns in China, and inflation,
as well as the implications of a possible recession. Many ques-
tions concerned our response to the supply chain constraints
and increases in the price of materials. Sustainability also con-
tinued to grow in importance as an issue. The fact that we were
one of only four companies in the DAX family to report not only on
EU taxonomy-eligible business activities but voluntarily also on
taxonomy-aligned activities attracted great attention.

CAPITAL MARKET DAY WITH NEW GROWTH
TARGETS IN NOVEMBER

During a capital markets day in November, we organized a visit
with our guests to HOMAG in Schopfloch and Teamtechnik in
Freiberg in addition to the Group headquarters in Bietigheim-
Bissingen. Interested parties were also able to follow the Board
of Management’s presentation online. With a total of more than
70 participants, the event focused on margin targets, earnings
resilience, and our long-term growth potential. We presented
in detail the growth drivers of electromobility, automation, and
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sustainability and outlined concrete growth targets for the future
fields of timber house construction, automation technology, and
battery production for the first time. All in all, these three growth
fields are to increase their sales to between €1.3 and 1.5 billion by
2030. We also defined targets for cash flow, the cash conversion
rate, and leverage. Further details can be found in the chapter
entitled “Strategy and medium-term objectives” on page 30 of the
management report.

With travel still severely restricted in the first half of the year
due to the coronavirus pandemic, we again attended many inves-
tor conferences and roadshows in person following the summer
break. In addition, the investor relations team communicated with
capital market participants in numerous telephone calls, video
conferences, and e-mails.

TOP RANKING FOR THE INVESTOR
RELATIONS TEAM

Our investor relations activities received excellent ratings in
the important “Institutional Investor” capital market survey. In
the Capital Goods category, we ranked third across all sector
companies and first in the Small & MidCap segment. In this
segment, we also achieved top-three positions in the ratings
“Combined: Best Company Board” [first place) as well as “Best
ESG”, "Best IR Program”, and “Best CFO” (third place in each case).
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1.1 — PERFORMANCE OF DURR SHARE IN XETRA TRADING, JANUARY - DECEMBER 2022

Compared to the DAX, MDAX and SDAX (indexed figures)
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= Diirr share = DAX MDAX = SDAX

PEER GROUP AND CONSENSUS

The peer group of listed companies relevant for us includes
mechanical engineering companies and engineering service pro-
viders such as Andritz, Bertrandt, Deutz, EDAG, GEA, Heidelberger
Druckmaschinen, Jungheinrich, Kion, Krones, and Rheinmetall.
We benchmark our valuation against this peer group’s share
prices on a monthly basis, concentrating in particular on the price/
earnings ratio, enterprise value (EV) relative to EBIT, EBITDA and
sales, and the price-to-book ratio. We publish the continuously
updated analyst consensus for sales, EBIT, and earnings after tax
for the year as a whole as well as for future years under Investors/
Share/Estimates at www.durr-group.com. Prior to publishing
our quarterly and annual reports, we calculate a consensus and
publish this information online.

EQUITIES LOWER IN THE FIRST HALF OF THE YEAR,
WITH A RECOVERY EMERGING IN SEPTEMBER

At 15,885 points, the DAX entered the year on a strong note, reach-
ing a high for the year of 16,272 points as early as on January 5.
Ahead of and after the outbreak of the war in Ukraine, the stock
markets were on a downward trend that did not end until the late
summer. Fueled by the energy crisis, inflation as well as fears of
a recession triggered a turnaround in interest rates.
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The DAX hit a low for the year of 11,976 points at the end of Sep-
tember. This gave way to a recovery that was underpinned by pre-
liminary signs of more muted inflation, among other things. The
index closed the year at 13,924 points and was thus down 12.3%
over 2022 as a whole.

The Dirr share (ISIN: DE0005565204) was unable to detach itself
from the negative market trends in the first half of the year.
Indeed, various risks were priced into the share, including the
energy crisis in Germany, the increased cost of materials, the
lockdowns in China, and a possible recession, causing our
share to underperform the DAX and the MDAX. It hit a low for
the year of €19.97 on September 6. Spurred by positive analyst
comments on the company’s business performance and growth
businesses, solid nine-month figures and the announcement of
our battery business partnership with mechanical engineering
companies Grob and Manz, the share recovered significantly.
At €31.52, it closed the year 20.2% lower (including the dividend
of €0.50). Thus, although the Dirr share fell short of the F.A.Z.
Mechanical Engineering Index (-19.7%) and the DAX (-12.3%), it
still outperformed the MDAX (-28.5%).
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DIVIDEND OF €0.70 PER SHARE PROPOSED

The Board of Management and the Supervisory Board will be
proposing an increase in the dividend to €0.70 per share for
2022. This translates into a rise of 40.0% over the previous year
and reflects the good business performance in an environment
characterized by major challenges. The proposed dividend results
in a total payout of €48.4 million.

Dirr AG is one of the 100 largest listed companies in Germany
and is included in the MDAX. In 2022, an average of around 142,000
Dirr shares were traded via XETRA per trading day, which is fewer
than in the previous year (162,000 shares). Daily trading volumes
reached €4.0 million, down from €5.9 million in the previous year.
At €1,275.7 billion, XETRA trading volumes of all German shares
were around 4% lower than in the previous year (€1,324.6 billion).

1.2 — KEY FIGURES FOR DURR SHARE

€ 2022 2021 2020
Earnings per share (basic) 1.89 1.20 -0.23
Earnings per share (diluted) 1.81 1.16 -0.23
Book value per share

(December 31) 16.17 14.45 13.06
Cash flow per share 3.83 3.71 3.1
Dividend per share 0.70" 0.50 0.30
High? 42.46 44.08 34.18
Low? 19.97 31.06 15.72
Closing price? 31.52 40.12 33.40
Average daily trading volume

(number of shares)? 142,000 162,000 269,000
Market capitalization

(December 31) € m 2,181.2 2,776.4 2,311.3
Number of shares 69,202,080 69,202,080 69,202,080

" Dividend proposed to the annual general meeting
2XETRA
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CHANGES IN ANALYST COVERAGE

Oddo BHF added our share to its universe at the beginning of 2022,
followed by Exane BNP Paribas in the spring. Morgan Stanley
suspended coverage in May, for the time being, as a result of
personnel changes; Goldman Sachs likewise discontinued its
coverage in October. At the end of 2022, 15 analysts were covering
the Dirr share.

After the Russian invasion of Ukraine and the resulting risks and
uncertainties for the economy, many analysts scaled back their
estimates for the Dirr Group. Good first-half figures and the
upbeat sentiment for the rest of the year and 2023 set a counter-
weight to this in the second half of the year. The average target
price fell from an initial €46.03 to €36.20 at the end of the year
and was thus 14.8% higher than the closing price. “Buy” or “Hold”
ratings accounted for 80% of the investment recommendations.

FREE FLOAT OF 70.3%

With a share of 26.2% in Dirr AG, Heinz Dirr GmbH remains
the anchor shareholder. A further 3.5% is held by Heinz und
Heide Dirr Stiftung. Looking forward, the Dirr family intends
to continue holding a share of over 25%. The members of the
Board of Management held a total of 0.06% of Durr shares as of
December 31, 2022. Dr. Jochen Weyrauch held 24,000 and Dietmar
Heinrich 15,000 shares. The members of the Supervisory Board
or parties related to them held 0.12% of Dirr’s shares at the end
of the year. The free float in accordance with the Deutsche Borse
definition stands at 70.3%.
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1.3 — SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE' (DECEMBER 31, 2022)

Heinz Diirr
GmbH, Berlin 26.2%

Institutional Heinz und Heide

and private Diirr Stiftung,
70.3% investors? Berlin  3.5%

]

Institutional and private investors? of which
SMALLCAP World Fund, Inc. 3.13%
Candriam Luxembourg 3.12%
Members of Diirr AG’s Supervisory Board 0.12%
Members of Diirr AG’s Board of Management 0.06%

' Free float as defined by Deutsche Bérse AG
20n the basis of statutory notifications

1.4 — SHAREHOLDERS BY REGION (DECEMBER 31, 2022)

1%  Other
20% USA !
Germany  44%
Rest of

35%  Europe
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INTEREST RATE TURNAROUND WEIGHING
ON CONVERTIBLE BOND

The October 2020 convertible bond (ISIN DEOO0A3H2XRé) for a
total of €150 million has a coupon of 0.75% per year, a maturity of
around 5.3 years, and a conversion premium of 40% (conversion
price: €34.22). Linked to a sustainability component, the bond was
trading at 134.01% at the beginning of 2022. Following the interest
rate turnaround, the price fell significantly over the course of the
year, hitting 109.05% at year-end.

RATINGS

Issue and issuer ratings call for a considerable amount of time
and money. We currently do not have a rating, particularly as we
have not been dependent on it in the past for raising funding for
transactions and have been able to secure relatively attractive
financing terms. Ahead of the issue of new financial instruments,
we are currently considering whether to obtain a rating again.
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COMBINED MANAGEMENT REPORT

The management reports of the Diirr Group and Diirr AG have been combined in accordance with Section 315 (5) of the German Commercial Code (HGB] in conjunction
with Section 298 (2) HGB. This management report is therefore a combined management report. Where the combined management report contains disclosures whose
content was not audited as part of the statutory audit, this is marked with a dashed or solid line in the margin. The parts whose content was not audited comprise
the Group non-financial statement within the meaning of Sections 315b et seq. HGB in conjunction with Sections 289c et seq. HGB, a reference to the combined
Declaration on Corporate Governance including further reporting on corporate governance, and parts that are unrelated to the management report. The Group non-
financial statement whose content was audited by Deloitte GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft, as part of a separate instruction, to obtain a limited assurance in
accordance with the ISAE 3000 (revised) auditing standard is marked with a dashed line in the margin and the abbreviation NFS. Where the combined management
report contains any further disclosures whose content was not audited, this is marked with a solid line and the note “unaudited”. Unless otherwise specified, the
information below is applicable to both the Diirr Group and Dirr AG. Statements referring exclusively to Diirr AG are marked as such and appear at the end of the
combined management report.
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FUNDAMENTALS

The Group at a glance

PROFILE

The Dirr Group is a global leader in mechanical and plant
engineering with extensive expertise in automation, digitalization,
and energy efficiency. Our machines, systems, and services stand
for economical and sustainable production processes. In 2022, we
generated 46% of our sales from the automotive industry and 37%
from producers of furniture and timber houses. The remaining
sales were distributed among sectors such as mechanical
engineering, chemicals, pharmaceuticals, medical devices,
and electrical engineering. We operate from 123 locations in
32 countries. Our business extends globally, especially with our
Diirr, Schenck, and HOMAG brands.

GROUP ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

Dirr AG is purely a management holding company. It holds
- directly or indirectly - the investments in the Group companies
and handles central tasks such as financing, controlling and
accounting, legal affairs, taxation, compliance, security and
internal auditing, corporate communications, investor relations,
human resources management, and sustainability. Together with

2.1 — GROUP STRUCTURE

the investment holding companies Diirr Technologies GmbH
and Dirr International GmbH, as well as Dirr IT Service GmbH,
Dirr AG forms the Corporate Center. Within the Dirr Group, there
are the three subgroups, Dirr Systems, Schenck, and HOMAG,
with the parent companies Dirr Systems AG (Stuttgart), Carl
Schenck AG (Darmstadt), and HOMAG Group AG (Schopfloch].
Five divisions and their operating businesses are assigned to
the subgroups. These divisions form the reportable segments as
defined by the IFRS:

= Paint and Final Assembly Systems

» Application Technology

= Clean Technology Systems

= Measuring and Process Systems

- Woodworking Machinery and Systems

DIVISIONS, SALES MARKETS, MARKET SHARES',
IMPORTANT PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

Paint and Final Assembly Systems

The Paint and Final Assembly Systems division plans, builds, and
updates paint shops and final assembly lines for the automotive
industry. We supply products and processes for all process stages
in paint shop technology. Important solutions include, for example,
the RoDip dip-coating — page 262 system, the energy-efficient

Management holding

company Dirr AG

Divisions Paint and Final Application Clean Technology Measuring and Process ~ Woodworking Machinery
Assembly Systems Technology Systems Systems and Systems

Subgroups Dirr Systems Schenck HOMAG

"Internal figure, determined on the basis of division sales and market volume
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EcoDryScrubber paint separation system, the EcolnCure oven,
and the EcoProBooth paint booth for interior and exterior
painting. Added to this is the “paint shop of the future” concept,
which relies on individually controllable painting boxes instead of
conventional painting lines. We usually also supply the relevant
control and conveyor systems as well as air supply and exhaust-
air systems. With a global market share of 40% to 50%, we are
the leader in paint shop systems. Our digital product range is the
DXQ software family, which includes solutions for plant monitoring,
manufacturing execution systems (MES]), advanced analytics, and
predictive maintenance — page 262, among other digital solutions.

In the area of final assembly systems, we supply conveyor, filling,
testing, and assembly technology, as well as marriage stations
for connecting the car body and power train. The filling technology
— page 262 segment comprises systems for filling fluids such as
oil or brake fluid into vehicles in the final assembly process. Key
products in testing technology — page 262 include test stands and
calibration stations for brakes, electronics, and chassis geometry.
In final assembly systems, too, we are one of the few providers
worldwide capable of supplying turnkey plants. Electromobility is
leading to new business opportunities in this field, since a greater
degree of automation is possible in the assembly of electric vehicles
due to their less complex power train. In addition, battery cars
are heavier, requiring conveyor technology designed for heavier
loads, which is provided by Paint and Final Assembly Systems. In
testing technology, autonomous driving and new safety functions
in vehicles mean that additional products are needed for adjusting
cameras and radar systems. Our market share in business related
to final vehicle assembly is around 15% to 25%.

Since 2021, the Teamtechnik Group has been part of the Paint
and Final Assembly Systems division. The automation specialist,
in which we hold a 75% stake, offers test stands for electric and
hybrid drives as well as production facilities for solar modules and
medical devices, such as injection systems and inhalation devices.
The Teamtechnik Group also includes Hekuma GmbH, which was
also acquired in 2021 and primarily operates in the medical devices
market.

Another unit of the Paint and Final Assembly Systems division is
Dirr Consulting. It advises customers on production processes
planning, particularly in painting and final assembly technology.
The current focus is on concepts for the production of electric cars
and batteries.
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Application Technology

Application Technology generates the majority of its sales with
technologies for the automated spray application of primers,
base coats, and clear coats. Its key products are the third
generation of the EcoRP painting robot family, the EcoBell3 high-
speed rotary atomizer — page 262, the EcoLCC2 color changer,
and the robot-based EcoPaintJet application system, which is
particularly suitable for razor-sharp two-tone painting without
paint loss. Other Application Technology products include
systems for paint supply, quality assurance, as well as process
control and evaluation. In the automotive business, we are the
world market leader with a share of 45% to 55%. Our two most
important competitors are manufacturers of standard industrial
robots.

In addition to paint application technology — page 262, we are active
in the related business areas of sealing technology — page 262
and gluing technology — page 262. Sealing processes are used
to seal welding seams, to apply underbody protection, and to
inject insulating materials in cars. Gluing is an alternative to
welding vehicle components during body-in-white production
and final assembly, enabling the use of non-weldable lightweight
materials in the manufacture of vehicle bodies. The uses of
gluing technology in final assembly include fitting windows, glass
roofs, and cockpits.

With its Industrial Products segment, Application Technology
is also active outside the automotive industry. It offers paint
application products for plastics, ceramics, shipbuilding, timber,
furniture, and other industries.

Clean Technology Systems

The largest area of Clean Technology Systems is exhaust-air
purification technology. Our systems are used in a variety of
industries, but primarily in the chemical and pharmaceutical
sectors. 16% of sales are accounted for by exhaust-air purification
technology for automotive paint shops. Our most important
process is thermal oxidation — page 262, in which pollutants are
incinerated at temperatures of up to 1,000°C. With a market share
of between 20% and 30%, we are the world’s leading supplier.

Another fast-growing area of the business comprises electrode
coating systems — page 262 for lithium-ion batteries. As a supplier
of complete lines, we supply coating technology as well as dryers
and solvent recovery systems. We offer an innovative technology for
the simultaneous coating of both electrode sides. For conventional
equipment for single-sided coating, we cooperate with the
Japanese mechanical engineering company Techno Smart. In
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September 2022, we entered into a strategic partnership with the
German mechanical engineering companies Grob and Manz with
the aim of jointly equipping complete battery factories. In addition
to exhaust-air purification and coating systems, the portfolio
of Clean Technology Systems also includes noise abatement
systems, for example for gas turbines.

Measuring and Process Systems

Measuring and Process Systems offers balancing and diagnostic
technology as well as automated refrigerant charging solutions
for refrigerators, air-conditioning systems, and heat pumps.
Automotive accounted for around a quarter of sales in this division
in 2022. In balancing technology — page 262, we lead the field with
a global market share of 40% to 50%.

Since January 1, 2022, the tooling systems business for machining
wood, metal, and composite materials has also been part of
Measuring and Process Systems. Previously, this activity was part
of Woodworking Machinery and Systems. It is mainly operated by
the Group company Benz GmbH Werkzeugsysteme, which is one
of the leading suppliers in this field. The aim of the transfer is
to expand Benz's business in industries outside the woodworking
sector, for example in metalworking. For further information,
please refer to the chapter entitled “Explanatory notes on the
figures” — page 76.

Woodworking Machinery and Systems

Our Woodworking Machinery and Systems activities reside in
the HOMAG Group, the world’s leading supplier of machinery and
systems for woodworking. Our technology is used, for example,
in the production of furniture, kitchens, as well as parquet and
laminate flooring. Our core products include panel dividing and
through-feed saws, CNC processing centers, drilling machines,
sanders, edge banding machines, as well as handling and storage
systems. The software portfolio ranges from easy-to-use apps
for trades businesses through to solutions for digitalizing entire
factories. With a global market share of 25% to 35%, the HOMAG
Group ranks clearly ahead of its two nearest competitors in
business with furniture manufacturers.

The division’s second pillar is the construction elements solutions
segment, which offers equipment for producing construction
elements for timber houses. We have a market share of 25% to
35% in this segment as well. Since timber houses are climate-
friendly and their production can be easily automated, we see
great potential for growth in this area. The portfolio includes
machines for manufacturing prefabricated house components,
room modules, windows, doors, and stairs, as well as equipment
for solid wood optimization and high-frequency presses for
producing cross-laminated timber boards.
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DIGITALIZATION/INDUSTRIAL INTERNET
OF THINGS (110T)

Software solutions are a growing part of our product range.
This enables us to keep pace with the ongoing digitalization of
production processes. Our digital product range includes, for
example, manufacturing execution systems (MES) for centralized
factory control and analytics applications, which often work
with artificial intelligence. Their areas of application include
quality control, root cause analysis, and predictive maintenance.
Our digital solutions are developed in digital factories at Diirr
Systems, Schenck, and the HOMAG Group. The activities of the
three digital factories are coordinated by a cross-functional team.
Moreover, there are standardized development processes and
tools, a common innovation agenda, and a systematic exchange
of applications and development results.

COMPREHENSIVE RANGE OF SERVICES

Each machine and system we sell adds to our installed base - and
thus to our potential to generate additional service business
throughout the product life cycle. Our range of services includes
plant modernization and optimization, audits of plant productivity
and energy efficiency, software updates as well as training,
maintenance, repair, and spare parts supply. Digital services such
as remote analysis, maintenance assistance, and performance
checks are becoming increasingly important. The service side
employs 3,013 staff, representing 16.3% of the Group workforce.

TECHNOLOGIE- UND INDUSTRIEPARK GMBH (TIP):
PROPERTY SERVICE COMPANY, DARMSTADT

Schenck Technologie- und Industriepark GmbH (TIP), part of the
Measuring and Process Systems division, markets and operates
offices as well as production and logistics spaces at Schenck’s
Darmstadt location. In all, TIP rents out 109,900 sqm of floor space
on a 105,000 sgm lot; office space accounts for 46%.
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2.2 — ACTIVITIES AND SALES MARKETS

PAINT AND FINAL ASSEMBLY SYSTEMS DIVISION

Business type Activities Customer groups
* Plant engineering * Paint shops = Automotive manufacturers
* Individual painting process stations = Automotive suppliers
* Products and systems for final vehicle assembly * General industry (e.g. construction equipment
(incl. filling and testing technology) and farm machinery)
* Testing technology for electric drives * Manufacturers of medical devices
* Production technology for battery modules = Solar module manufacturers
and packs

= Production facilities for medical devices
* Production facilities for solar modules

* Service
* Consulting * Consultancy = Automotive manufacturers
= Automotive suppliers
= General industry
APPLICATION TECHNOLOGY DIVISION
Business type Activities Customer groups
* Mechanical engineering and component business * Robots and products for automated spray painting = Automotive manufacturers
* Sealing technology = Automotive suppliers
* Gluing technology + General industry (e.g. plastics, ceramics,
* Service timber, shipbuilding)
CLEAN TECHNOLOGY SYSTEMS DIVISION
Business type Activities Customer groups
* Plant engineering and component business * Exhaust-air purification systems = Chemical industry
* Battery electrode coating systems = Pharmaceutical industry
* Noise abatement systems = Carbon fiber production
* ORC technology * Printing/coating
* Service = Automotive manufacturers (paint shops)
+ Automotive suppliers (paint shops)
* Woodworking
= Lithium-ion battery manufacturers
* Mining
= Energy industry
= Oil and gas industry
= Packaging industry
= Operators of decentralized power plants
MEASURING AND PROCESS SYSTEMS DIVISION
Business type Activities Customer groups
* Mechanical engineering * Balancing and diagnostic systems = Automotive manufacturers
* Filling technology for air-conditioning systems, = Automotive suppliers
heat pumps, and household appliances = Electrical industry
* Tooling systems for machines and processing * Turbines/power plants
centers = Mechanical engineering
* Service = Aerospace industry
= Household appliance industry
WOODWORKING MACHINERY AND SYSTEMS DIVISION
Business type Activities Customer groups
* Mechanical and plant engineering * Machines and complete production lines = Furniture industry
for manufacturing furniture, kitchens, and = Kitchen manufacturers
construction elements for timber houses * Manufacturers of windows, doors, laminate flooring
* Service = Woodworking trade

= Timber house construction
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LEGAL STRUCTURE

Dirr AG owns 100% of the shares in the following companies: Dirr
Systems AG, Dirr International GmbH, Diirr Technologies GmbH,
Carl Schenck AG, and Durr IT Service GmbH. These companies
have entered into domination and profit and loss transfer
agreements with Dirr AG. We own 64.89% of the shares in HOMAG
Group AG and the associated voting rights via Diirr Technologies
GmbH. We contributed 11.0% of the shares in HOMAG Group AG
to a share pool between Dirr Technologies GmbH and the
Schuler/Klessmann shareholder group. The Schuler/Klessmann
shareholder group owns 14.05% of the shares in HOMAG Group AG.
Members of this shareholder group are the Schuler family, who
founded HOMAG, and the Erich and Hanna Klessmann Foundation.
The pool agreement, first concluded in 2014, was renewed in 2021.
It includes extensive reciprocal options and runs until December
31, 2029. A domination and profit and loss transfer agreement
has been in place between Diirr Technologies GmbH and HOMAG
Group AG since 2015. Dirr Systems AG, Dirr Technologies GmbH,
Dirr International GmbH, and Carl Schenck AG hold direct
or indirect stakes, mainly 100% holdings, in all other Group
companies.

PORTFOLIO CHANGES

There were no acquisitions of external companies or other
significant portfolio changes in the 2022 fiscal year. Within the
Group, we increased our shareholding in the Italian company CPM
S.p.A. and its Brazilian subsidiary from 51.0% to 100% in December.
CPM has been part of the Dirr Group since 1999 and operates in
the field of final automotive assembly as part of the Paint and Final
Assembly Systems division. In 2022, the company generated sales
of approximately €100 million with around 90 employees.

We wrote down our investment worth €4.4 million in ADAMOS GmbH
as of December 31, 2022. The write-down was recorded directly to
equity, with no impact on net profit. ADAMOS GmbH will cease its
business activities in accordance with a shareholders’ resolution.
The joint venture was established in 2017 by several mechanical
engineering companies to provide an lloT platform — page 262 for
the industry and support collaboration on digitalization. ADAMOS
subsequently developed into an industrial software marketplace
with networking technology. The cessation of operations is due
to the fact that smaller production and mechanical engineering
companies in particular have been hesitant in advancing their
digital activities in view of the coronavirus pandemic. The ADAMOS
business model would have required another three to five years
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of intensive investment. In addition, our customers have very
individual requirements for cloud software solutions that cannot
yet be efficiently mapped via a marketplace.

Further information on the acquisition of shares in CPM and
on ADAMOS as well as on transactions in the previous year can
be found in — notes 37 and 18 of the notes to the consolidated
financial statements. This also includes information on mergers
and other changes at Group companies in the 2022 fiscal year.

BUSINESS MODEL

Our core competence is the engineering — page 262 of efficient
production technology. We offer our customers a full range of
options from individual machines to turnkey manufacturing
systems. In this context, our offering in digital networking and
control of production systems is becoming increasingly important.

Our technologies and services are designed to help our customers
achieve efficient and sustainable production by focusing on the
following primary factors:

» digitalization and technological innovation

- development of material-efficient, energy-saving, and
low-emission products

- planning, engineering, and order processing know-how

= a comprehensive range of services for the entire life cycle
of our products

* global presence, proximity to customers in all market regions

We operate in niche markets, where we are either the market
leader or among the largest suppliers, with market shares
ranging from 15% to 55%. In 2022, 57% of Group sales came
from mechanical engineering and 43% from plant engineering.
In mechanical engineering, we aim for EBIT margins of 10% or
more; in plant engineering, the target margin is over 6%. In terms
of return on capital employed [(ROCE) — page 263, we target a figure
of 25% or more again from 2024. In principle, our business model
allows us to achieve high operating and free cash flows — page 263.
From 2025, free cash flow should permanently amount to at least
80% of earnings after taxes.

Financial importance of individual products, services,
and sales markets

The financial importance of individual products and services
is limited in view of our broad-based portfolio. A key success
factor in paint and final assembly technology and at the HOMAG
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2.3 — PROCESSES IN PLANT ENGINEERING

Project inquiry

from customer Planning phase Order receipt Delivery order Service
>» > >» >» > > > > > »
Planning Bid Technical  Engineering Manufacture Installation ~ Commis- Final Spares,
analysis sioning inspection upgrades
etc.

Group is our systems expertise, i.e. the ability to plan and build
turnkey systems. Digital technologies are playing an increasingly
important role. The service business generates an above-average
contribution to earnings. Thanks to our international presence,
we have a balanced regional sales breakdown. In 2022, 15% of
sales came from Germany, 28% each from other European
countries and North and South America, 22% from China, and
8% from other Asian countries, Africa, and Australia. We tend to
achieve slightly higher margins in regions of strong growth than
in other markets.

Business processes/process advantages

Planning, engineering, order execution, and service make up our
most important business processes. Our real net output ratio is
lower than that of typical industrial manufacturing companies.
Professional project management is critical to success, especially
in large plant engineering projects. A major project usually
takes 15 to 24 months to complete, while orders in mechanical
engineering take between 3 and 12 months. Smaller remodeling,
upgrade, and service projects take less time.

Large projects require efficient collaboration between
various departments and sites, which is why we employ
standardized processes in planning, order execution, service,
and administration. These processes are increasingly
supported by digital tools or - especially for administrative
processes - automated with the help of robotic process automation
(RPA) — page 262. This prevents interface problems, increases
speed and process reliability, and improves international
cooperation and capacity management.
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Customer relations

Business with the automotive industry is technically complex and
long-term. We therefore maintain constant communication with
our customers. When it comes to major investment projects, we
are consulted up to two years before an order is placed. We act
as planner, consultant, and systems supplier as well as service
partner in plant operation and modernization. Customers often
inform us in advance of new vehicle models in development to
ensure that we can supply the required production technology
in time.

The mechanical engineering divisions - Measuring and Process
Systems and Woodworking Machinery and Systems - have a
broad market base with tens of thousands of customers. Sales-
related costs are therefore higher than in plant engineering for
the automotive industry. However, the mechanical engineering
sector also features larger-scale projects with extended lead
times, in addition to business supplying individual machines.

Supplier relations

We source goods, raw materials, and services from several
thousand suppliers. In addition to part and component suppliers,
these also include contract manufacturers, engineering service
providers, and logistics companies. In the case of crucial
commodities, we have worldwide framework agreements in place
with preferred suppliers. This enables us to pool the requirements
of several companies and divisions and leverage economies of
scale. For further information, please refer to the “Procurement”
—> page 34 chapter.

Further features of our business model

At 38%, our real net output ratio is relatively low, though there are
differences between the divisions. While the real net output ratio
in Measuring and Process Systems (mechanical engineering) is
48%, it is significantly lower in Paint and Final Assembly Systems
(plant engineering) at 30%.
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Due to the low real net output ratio, asset intensity — page 263
and capital commitment are also relatively low. The prepayments
received from customers generally cover a large portion of
the receivables and accrued project costs in current assets.
Consequently, the net working capital INWC) — page 263 in plant
engineering is usually low. In relation to fixed costs, too, we benefit
from the low real net output ratio and asset intensity in plant
engineering. This makes us more flexible in the event of cyclical
order fluctuations.

At 34.7 days, days working capital at the end of 2022 was
significantly below the target corridor of 40 to 50 days, and below
the previous year's figure (43.6 days). Due to the low demand for
tangible assets in plant engineering, our investment requirements
(excluding acquisitions) are low. The normal annual level typically
amounts to less than 3% of sales.

Most divisions have local production plants and procurement
structures in major foreign markets. This reduces their need to
import, and thus transaction risks, which are also lowered by
foreign currency hedging on a project basis. Nevertheless, there
are translation risks resulting from the conversion of foreign
currency positions into euros.

Many of our projects have long lead times. This allows us a clear
picture in terms of the future order intake. We can therefore make
areliable assessment of our future sales, capacity utilization, and
income for a large part of the business.

BUSINESS LOCATIONS AND DIVISION OF LABOR
WITHIN THE GROUP

At year-end 2022, 34% of the workforce was employed in the
emerging markets. Almost 2,400 employees work in Shanghai alone,
including around 370 external staff. Our lead sites in Germany control
the Group’s global operations. The Diirr Campus in Bietigheim-
Bissingen (approx. 2,300 employees) is the Group’s corporate
headquarters and also the head office of Paint and Final Assembly
Systems, Application Technology, and Clean Technology Systems.
The Darmstadt location (around 515 employees) coordinates the
operations of Measuring and Process Systems. The HOMAG Group
head office in Schopfloch (approx. 1,800 employees] manages the
business activities of Woodworking Machinery and Systems.

There are guidelines in place to define how Group companies
collaborate on cross-border systems projects in plant engineering.
Project management for major orders of Paint and Final
Assembly Systems is usually handled by the system centers in
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Bietigheim-Bissingen or Shanghai. There are also business centers
responsible for smaller upgrades, parts of systems projects, and
local sales and service. In mechanical engineering, the German
lead locations act as the hub for international projects.

Company-specific leading
indicators

In order to be able to respond to a changed economic and
demand situation at short notice, we track leading indicators. We
distinguish between four categories:

= Key economic leading indicators are money supply, commodity
and energy prices as well as purchase manager and business
climate indices. Research reports and macroeconomic statistics
also assist us in recognizing cyclical changes at an early stage.
Moreover, we pay close attention to the development of interest
rates. Business trends within our main customer industry
segments (automotive and woodworking] correlate in part with
the development of the global economy. However, it should be
borne in mind that high levels of investment can also occur
during periods of macroeconomic weakness. This was the
case, for example, in 2022, when transformational trends such
as automation, electromobility, decarbonization of production,
and building with wood contributed significantly to our high
order intake.

More specific indicators to assess future business potential
are customers’ investment plans as well as statistics and
forecasts on production and sales. In addition, we follow the
expectations of analysts regarding our customers’ cash flows
and investments.

» The third leading indicator relates to specific investment
projects pursued by our customers. We collect the respective
information in our customer relationship management system,
along with an assessment of our opportunities of winning
contracts. In the product business, the quote time period for
offers serves as an indicator. When customers take longer to
make investment decisions, the average quote time period
increases. This indicates weaker demand.

The fourth group of indicators comprises incoming orders and
order backlog. Since many projects have a long lead time, both
key figures are suitable for assessing capacity utilization and
sales for the coming quarters.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Combined management report

Fundamentals: Strategy and medium-term targets

Strategy and medium-term
targets

Our corporate strategy is oriented to both profitability and growth.
It aims to act on opportunities in established core business as well
as in new or high-growth business areas. In established business,
the focus is on expanding market leadership and profitability.
We call the new business areas “growth business”. They are
characterized by high growth potential and access to new markets
and customers. In this chapter, we have, in some places, changed
the presentation of our strategy compared to previous years. This
is to better reflect the growing importance of growth business, and
it offers more transparency regarding our respective established
business and growth business targets.

TARGET KEY FIGURES
Our strategy includes several KPI targets that extend until 2030:

» Sales are to grow by an average of 5% to 6% per year from
2023 and reach more than €6 billion in 2030. Depending on the
activity, established business is to contribute to this with growth
rates of 0% to 2% and 3% to 9%. We expect expansion of more
than 10% p.a. for growth business.

The EBIT margin before extraordinary effects is to consistently
reach at least 8% from 2024. The margin targets of the individual
divisions are shown in — table 2.4.

ROCE — page 263 is likewise to be 25% or higher from 2024.

From 2025 onward, we are aiming for a cash conversion rate of
at least 80% (free cash flow — page 263 is at least 80% of earnings
after tax).

= Service business is to permanently contribute at least 30% to
Group sales.
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2.4 — MARGIN TARGETS FOR GROUP AND DIVISIONS

Medium-term

targets EBIT

margin before

extraordinary

effects Business type

Mechanical and plant

Diirr Group' >8% engineering

Paint and Final Assembly Systems  >6% Plant engineering

Application Technology >10% Mechanical engineering

Clean Technology Systems 26% Plant engineering

Measuring and Process Systems >10% Mechanical engineering

Woodworking Machinery and

Systems 10% Mechanical engineering

" Margin target for 2024

ESTABLISHED BUSINESS

Established business mainly entails paint shops, final assembly
technology, and painting robots for the automotive industry,
environmental technology, balancing, tooling and filling systems
as well as HOMAG machinery for furniture production. We hold
leading global market positions in these areas and expect them
to generate moderate to medium sales growth. The main priority
in established business is to enhance profitability. The relevant
activities are to achieve the earnings required to meet the Group’s
target of an EBIT margin before extraordinary effects of 8% by 2024,
after earnings in the years 2020 to 2022 came under pressure from
the pandemic, supply chain problems, and high material prices.
At the same time, we are working to further increase earnings
resilience, for example by expanding service business, adopting
a margin-oriented “value before volume” sales strategy in plant
engineering, and harnessing synergistic benefits.

2.5 — GROWTH TARGETS FOR ESTABLISHED BUSINESS

Target sales
growth by 2030
Activity (CAGR") Division

Application Technology,
Paint and Final Assembly
Systems

Painting robots, paint shops,

final assembly technology 0to 2%

Environmental technology
(exhaust-air purification systems) 3 to 9%

Clean Technology
Systems

Balancing, tooling, filling
technology

Measuring and Process

3to 9% Systems

Woodworking Machinery

Machinery for furniture production 3 to 9% and Systems

T CAGR: compound annual growth rate
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2.6 — GROWTH TARGETS FOR GROWTH BUSINESS

Activity Sales in 2022

Sales target for 2030 Division

Construction Elements Solutions
(Production technology for climate-friendly timber houses)

Approx. €220 million  Approx. €500 million

Woodworking Machinery and Systems

Production Automation Systems

[Automation technology for medtech, e-mobility, solar modules) ~ Approx. €170 million  Approx. €500 million

Paint and Final Assembly Systems

Battery Production
(Coating technology for electrode production)

Approx. €30 million

Approx. €300-€500 million Clean Technology Systems

Total Approx. €420 million Approx. €1,300-€1,500 million

GROWTH BUSINESS

Growth business consists of three business areas with potential
for strong, above-average sales growth. Aggregated sales
from growth business reached roughly €420 million in 2022. By
expanding our activities, we are aiming to increase this to a total
of €1.3 to €1.5 billion by 2030. To this end, we also intend to make
further acquisitions. In this way, the three growth business areas
outlined below are to make the greatest contribution to the growth
in Group sales to more than €56 billion.

1. Construction Elements Solutions: HOMAG is one of the largest
suppliers of systems for the automated production of components
for climate-friendly timber houses. This market is growing sharply,
with growth rates of 11% p.a. expected until 2026. This is because
timber construction is sustainable and can be readily automated.
This latter factor reduces construction times and is an effective
tool for addressing shortages of skilled labor. Multi-story timber
houses are better suited for series construction — page 262 than
conventional buildings. This permits the easy creation of affordable
housing and makes an important contribution to solving one of
the most pressing problems of urban societies. Not least of all as
a result of the acquisition of the Danish mechanical engineering
companies System TM and Kallesoe (2020 and 2021), HOMAG has
positioned itself as an efficient partner in the industrialization
of timber house construction. This trend is characterized by
the construction of highly automated factories with an output of
several thousand timber building elements per year.

2. Production Automation Systems: With the acquisition
of Teamtechnik and Hekuma (2021), we have expanded our
automation technology expertise and opened up new markets.
Both companies operate in the field of production systems for
medical devices, such as injection systems or inhalers. Known
as the medtech market, this sector is growing by 8% to 10% p.a.
as the need for medical care services is increasing as a result
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of demographic growth and rising life expectancies. Thanks to
the partnership with Teamtechnik and Hekuma under the Dirr
umbrella, a good basis has been created for attracting new
customers, especially in North America. Further acquisitions
form part of our strategy for the medtech market. In addition,
Teamtechnik is a leading provider of automated test systems for
electric drives in the automotive industry as well as production
systems for solar modules.

3. Battery Production: Electromobility in particular is greatly
increasing the demand for additional battery factories. According
to forecasts, the installed base for the production of lithium-
ion batteries in Europe is expected to widen more than tenfold
by 2030 and reach a capacity of over 1,300 gigawatt hours. This
market growth is opening up opportunities for us as we cover a
central step in battery production by offering end-to-end lines for
electrode coating — page 262. In addition to coating technology,
our range also includes systems for drying and solvent recovery.
Together with our partners Grob and Manz, we want to establish
ourselves as a European supplier of components for battery
factories and offer cell manufacturers in Europe an alternative
to Asian equipment suppliers. Above all, we want to set ourselves
apart with high-level digitalization, sustainable processes, high
product quality, and low material consumption.

ORIENTATION TO PRIMARY TRENDS

We are orienting our business activities to three primary trends
that are of high relevance for our customers. This is enhancing
the resilience of our order intake, as customers are implementing
investment plans on the basis of these trends, even in phases of
economic weakness, to ensure their long-term competitiveness.
In 2021 and 2022, this orientation enabled us to achieve record
order intake despite the severe macroeconomic dislocations.
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Sustainability

Sustainability has emerged as the most important trend in
our markets. Many customers want to reduce their ecological
footprint and are looking for alternatives to fossil fuels in order
to decarbonize their operations. The energy crisis, triggered by
the war in Ukraine, and the demands of the climate protection
movement have further intensified this reorientation. As a
mechanical and plant engineering company, we are an important
pioneer for the sustainable transformation of production processes
for our customers. Over the next few years, our expertise in energy
and material efficiency will continue to grow in importance and be
a central driver of our business. This is because, looking forward,
operators will invest even more in the environmental and climate
compatibility of their plants.

We are not only improving the sustainability of production
processes but also supporting our customers by offering them
technologies for the production of sustainable products for a
largely carbon-free society. One example of this is the expansion
of business areas such as Construction Elements Solutions and
Battery Production.

Electromobility

Electromobility offers opportunities for the Dirr Group. This is
because it requires high investments by our customers in new
production technologies and the conversion of existing plants.
At the same time, the emergence of new producers of electric
vehicles is widening our customer base. Almost half of our order
intake in automotive business is already attributable to production
technology for electric vehicles, and this business is expected to
continue to grow in the future. Our product range - and, hence,
also our sales potential - is somewhat larger for electric cars
than for conventional vehicles, since we are also active in the
field of battery production technology. Our product development
activities are specifically geared to the requirements of e-mobility,
for example in the areas of two-tone painting, car body drying, and
final assembly automation.

Automation

Automation is one of the Dirr Group's key competences. We are
continuing to expand our position in this area, as automation
technology will continue to grow in importance in the face of
shortages of skilled labor. At the same time, we are specifically
tapping into industries in which particularly high-performance
automation solutions are required due to the large quantities
and high quality requirements involved. Examples include the
high-speed production of medical technology plastic products,
automated test stands for electric motors, and the production of
solar modules.
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STRATEGIC FIELDS AND ENABLERS

We have identified five strategic fields that are critical for achieving
our goals and expanding our leadership in the global market: glocal
(global/locall, technology leadership, digitalization, efficiency,
and life cycle services. We have also defined four enablers, i.e.
supporting functions, which are particularly important for the
successful implementation of the strategy. These are sustainability
management, mergers & acquisitions, finance management, and
people development.

Digital@DURR as a strategic field

As digitalization progresses, the intelligence of the machines
and systems offered is playing an increasingly decisive role. Our
goal is to offer every customer the best solution available on the
market for the digital optimization of their production activities. To
this end, we are continuously expanding our range of data-based
applications and services. In this way, we are tapping into new
sales potential and shielding our business from competitors in the
software industry. We have a crucial advantage over them in that
we combine digital know-how with expert knowledge of production
processes (also known as “shop floor competence”).

Glocal (global/local) as a strategic field

We operate locally in all major markets around the world.
In this way, we can take advantage of opportunities and act
competitively wherever customers need us. These local activities
are supported by our efficient Group network. What is particularly
important is the localization of our products, i.e. the adaptation
of machines and systems to specific regional requirements and
local production. This is accompanied by a global strategy for
engineering — page 262, research and development, production,
and supply chain management. We organize these activities within
the Group network in such a way that each location can contribute
its individual strengths such as customer proximity, technological
skills, or costs.

Technology leadership as a strategic field

We owe our market leadership to cutting-edge technology. Our
R&D work focuses on increasing the sustainability and efficiency
of production processes. Consequently, the Group's product
development activities seek to lower energy and resource
consumption, emissions, and unit costs. A further aspect is making
factories more flexible. The proportion of digital technologies is
widening across practically all innovations. Further information on
the innovation strategy and recent examples can be found in the
chapter entitled “Research and development” — page 36.
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2.7 — STRATEGIC FIELDS AND ENABLERS

DURRGROUP.

GLOCAL

= Global business

with local supply
chain

= Strong regional
setup (Europe,
Asia, North
America)

TECHNOLOGY
LEADERSHIP

* Most efficient
& sustainable
products

* Rethinking
production
processes

* Highest quality

DIGITALADURR

* Software as

differentiator

* From smart Apps

to MES and whole
ecosystems

* Internal digital

transformation

EFFICIENCY

* Drive synergies,

esp. scale,
processes

* Lean and agile
organization

* Optimize global
footprint

LIFE CYCLE
SERVICES

* Leverage vast
installed base

* Whole range
of consulting,
training, support

* Predictive & fast

9% -6%

CAGR SALES REVENUE

28%

BY 2024 EBIT MARGIN

* >30% of sales

225%

Enabler: Mergers &

Acquisitions

Sustainability
Management

Finance
Management

BY 2024 ROCE
People
Development

Efficiency as a strategic field

The efficiency of processes and structures is crucial in our
business. For this reason, continuous efficiency analyses and the
identification of improvement measures on this basis form part
of the strategy. We implement our corporate statement of an
efficient, adaptable organization with the help of the OneDirrGroup
program. It aims to harness synergies through the cooperation of
the three subgroups, common business processes and IT systems
as well as the use of shared service centers. OneDirrGroup also
entails the optimization of the global Group network through the
merger of smaller companies and locations. Another aspect of
efficiency as a strategic field involves creating a work environment
that enhances performance. For example, we rely on methods
such as lean management and agile working, communications and
employee participation, and the promotion of individual strengths.

Life cycle services as a strategic field

We are continuing to develop service business in a targeted
manner, as it contributes significantly to earnings and customer
loyalty. We want service business to contribute at least 30% to
sales. For this purpose, we are aligning our services along the

33

entire life cycle of our products and are increasingly offering data-
based digital services such as preventive maintenance. We are
also expanding our brownfield business — page 262 by offering
plant modernization, with an increasing focus on improving the
ecological footprint.

Mergers and acquisitions as an enabler

Within the framework of our portfolio-oriented management,
we are exploring opportunities for acquisitions and divestment
requirements. By acquiring companies and technologies, we tap
into growth potential and new business areas. We distinguish
between three types of acquisitions: “bolt-on” (strengthening
existing business areas), “cross-divisional” (acquisition of cross-
sectional technologies, e.g. software), and “complementary”
(portfolio expansion, new business areas). Complementary
acquisitions target mechanical and plant engineering companies
that are leaders in niche markets and possess potential for
improving earnings and harnessing synergies. The most recent
complementary acquisitions were Teamtechnik and Hekuma
(2021) for the purpose of establishing ourselves in the growth
business of Production Automation Systems.
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Sustainability management as an enabler

We are increasingly being guided by the principles of sustainable
business in order to do justice to our responsibility toward society
and the environment as well as the requirements of customers,
investors, employees, and other stakeholders. At the same time,
we are convinced that, as a partner for sustainable production
processes, we only have credibility if we, for our part, act
responsibly. The expansion of sustainability management within
the Group ensures that we meet regulatory and stakeholder
requirements and are one of the leading companies in our industry
in terms of sustainability. Detailed information can be found in the
chapter entitled “Sustainability” — page 40.

Finance management as an enabler

We underpin our growth with effective financial management. It
supports corporate management, provides funding on favorable
terms and ensures that it is used efficiently. The terms under
which we raise borrowed funds normally contain a sustainability
component. Under the OneFinance program, we are stepping up
the standardization and digitalization of financial processes to
provide information and reports even more swiftly and efficiently.

People development as an enabler

As an engineering company, we depend on highly qualified
employees - this is truer than ever before in the digital era. We
therefore see personnel development as a strategic task and focus
on the following key issues: further training, talent management,
modern leadership, individual development, a motivational work
culture, and enhancing our appeal as an employer.
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Procurement

THE ROLE OF PROCUREMENT AT THE DURR GROUP

In 2022, the cost of materials rose substantially by 30.8% to
€1,720.3 million. The pivotal factors in this were the increase in
sales as well as the prevailing supply chain problems and high
inflation. Added to that were exchange-rate effects to the tune of
€58.9 million, which increased our costs.

In plant engineering, aside from raw materials and semi-
finished products, we also purchase installation and engineering
services, along with complete units, modules, and assemblies. In
mechanical engineering, we purchase many finished parts and
pre-assembled modules. Other important procurement groups
are mechanical and electrical bought-in parts, such as drives
and sensors. Measured against sales, the proportion of bought-in
goods and services in the Diirr Systems subgroup is higher than
in the Schenck and HOMAG subgroups, both of which have a higher
proportion of in-house production.

We have a broad procurement base of over 30,000 suppliers, which
are distributed across all key markets. This enables us to purchase
mainly locally. When it comes to important commodity groups, we
conclude worldwide framework agreements to achieve better
terms through economies of scale. In Asia, we are increasingly
buying manufacturing products and components for projects and
plants in other markets. We exclusively manufacture certain core
products ourselves to protect our know-how and to provide quality
and on-time delivery. To ensure supplier availability, we forecast
our needs in the sales stage, we set store by long-term capacity
planning, and we closely monitor deadlines when dealing with
suppliers.

At the end of 2022, around 620 employees were working in pur-
chasing. Our Global Sourcing Board coordinates our worldwide
purchasing activities and is made up of the divisions’ purchasing
heads. Global lead buyers have worldwide purchasing responsi-
bility for individual commaodity groups and pool the requirements
of multiple companies and divisions.
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PROCUREMENT MARKET DEVELOPMENT

In 2022, Russia’s attack on Ukraine and the lockdowns in China
further intensified the pre-existing supply chain bottlenecks. On
the whole, there was a high level of price volatility driven by, among
other things, the development of energy prices, transport costs,
and exchange rates. After the start of the war, prices for metal
products reached a peak in spring; then they initially remained
stable or decreased slightly. Prices for plastics as well as for steel
and other raw materials rose substantially in some cases. Here
it must be borne in mind that, in plant engineering, we primarily
source steel that has already been processed, or complete units
such as dip tanks for paint shops. The availability of mechanical
components improved considerably during the second half of the
year. The availability of semiconductors was subject to serious
restrictions throughout the whole year.

We took several measures to ensure prompt and cost-optimized
supply. Examples include the temporary increase of our stock
levels, the integration of new suppliers, the cooperation with
suppliers from different countries, contract awards based on
game-theory methods as well as the close coordination of
delivery dates and the timely escalation of problems. To avoid
bottlenecks, we had to switch from sea to air freight in some
cases, and we used broker markets. For critical goods, alternative
solutions for materials and intermediate products that were less
costly and more readily available were developed together with
the R&D departments. Thanks to these measures and the close
coordination with our customers, we were able to complete
most projects successfully, despite the adverse procurement
environment. Nevertheless, the price increases and logistics
problems pushed up procurement costs and had an appreciable
impact on material supply.

FURTHER ORGANIZATIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Our experience of the challenging procurement environment in
2022 has prompted us to bolster the resilience of our supply chain
to additionally protect against external disruptions. In specific
terms, we are pursuing a strategy of regional diversification of
our supply sources, thus enabling us to be flexible in choosing
alternatives if supply chains are disrupted.
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In March 2022, we successfully completed the broad centralization
of our purchasing activities in the Dirr Systems subgroup. In
addition, the position of Chief Procurement Officer was created
for Dirr Systems in the course of the "High Performance
Procurement” project. The new structure enables essential
process and cost optimizations, for instance through the central
control of project purchasing and commodity group management
as well as through standardized methods, processes, and
systems. Operational purchasing processes remain within the
remit of the divisions’ purchasing units.

To achieve further efficiency gains in purchasing, we are promoting
the internationalization of our structures and processes, and we
are also establishing this in companies we have acquired. As part
of OneDirrGroup, the purchasing department is driving forward
the OneSRM program (SRM: Supplier Relationship Management].
The aim is to harmonize and digitalize supplier management. This
is to improve worldwide transparency of suppliers and purchasing
volumes as well as to enable Group-wide supplier assessment
and a faster response to changing needs. The digitalization of
procurement activities also includes new solutions for data
maintenance and for data and process mining — page 262.

In view of the German Act on Corporate Due Diligence Obligations
in Supply Chains, which became effective on January 1, 2023, we
introduced the IntegrityNext platform. This software supports
us in making our sustainability standards an integral part of
the supply chain and in managing high-risk suppliers. We are
checking whether we can also use IntegrityNext for queries on
the responsible handling by suppliers of chemicals and hazardous
materials that are detrimental to the environment and difficult to
dispose of.
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Research and development

R&D GOALS

With our R&D work, we want to support the transformation to a
climate-neutral society. That is why we focus on the development
of energy- and resource-efficient products and production
processes. A key role is played by digital applications, which
incorporate our experience with our customers’ processes. In
addition, we want our innovations to be modular and globally
applicable. For successful development work, we rely on the close
collaboration of our R&D departments with sales and purchasing.

R&D KEY FIGURES AND EMPLOYEES

Research and development expenses were increased by 10.2% to
€136.5 million in the 2022 fiscal year. This corresponds to an R&D
ratio of 3.2%. Order-related development costs were included in
the cost of sales rather than the direct R&D costs. Capitalized
development costs totaled €23.6 million, while their amortization
amounted to €12.9 million. Measured against the direct R&D costs,
a capitalization rate of 17.3% was achieved (previous year: 17.3%).

As of December 31, 2022, the number of employees in our R&D
departments increased by 5.3% to 971. The R&D departments are
supported by other areas that also work on new solutions to fulfill
specific customer orders.

2.9 — R&D EMPLOYEES 2022

Responsibility for R&D lies with the individual divisions. Processes
and detailed issues relating to their R&D work are governed
by guidelines. There is also a cross-functional team, “R&D/
Technology/Digital”, which coordinates cross-functional R&D
activities and promotes the use of best-practice solutions across
divisional boundaries. The team reports directly to the CEO. The
development of new solutions represents around 70% of our
R&D expenditure, with just under 30% going toward maintaining
existing products. Our R&D work focuses on concrete solutions.
Basic research is inherently of minor importance in our business.

2.8 — R&D KEY FIGURES

2022 2021 2020

R&D expenditure € million -136.5 -123.9  -107.7
Group R&D ratio % 3.2 3.5 3.2

Paint and Final Assembly

Systems % 2.0 2.5 1.9

Application Technology % 44 5.3 5.9

Clean Technology Systems % 1.6 1.6 1.1

Measuring and Process

Systems' % 2.3 2.3 2.9

Woodworking Machinery and

Systems! % 4.2 'wA 4.3
Capitalized development costs € million 23.6 21.5 18.1
Amortization of capitalized
development costs € million -12.9 -10.7 -10.0
R&D employees (Dec. 31) 971 922 795
R&D personnel costs € million -92.9 -82.6 -71.8

" With effect from January 1, 2022, the tooling business was transferred from Woodworking
Machinery and Systems to Measuring and Process Systems. The figures for 2021 have been
adjusted compared with the disclosure in the 2021 annual report. The figures for 2020 have
not been adjusted.

Woodworking

Paint and Final Application  Clean Technology Measuring and Machinery and

Group Assembly Systems Technology Systems Process Systems Systems

Total 971 200 174 21 74 502
% of divisional workforce 5.2 3.7 8.5 1.5 4.3 6.7
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NEW DEVELOPMENTS AND PATENTS

In 2022, our R&D work resulted in 74 product innovations. As of
December 31, 2022, we had 7,172 individual patents divided among
1,429 patent families (Dec. 31, 2021: 7,341 and 1,403). As in previous
years, the Application Technology division accounted for the
largest number of patents. The costs for protecting our intellectual
property amounted to €10.2 million (previous year: €10.0 million).

COLLABORATIVE RESEARCH AND BOUGHT-IN
R&D SERVICES

Collaborations with scientific institutes and development partners
contribute to R&D work based on the latest scientific knowledge.
We spent €60.1 million on external R&D services in 2022 (previous
year: €54.5 million). Public research funding amounted to
€2.4 million; this represents 1.8% of the total R&D costs (previous
year: €1.9 million or 1.6%).

R&D FOCUS

In our innovation work, we take into account both customer
requirements and superordinate technology and manufacturing
trends. The following are particularly important:

- Sustainability: Many companies have set targets for the
decarbonization of their production and want to reduce their
dependence on fossil fuels. To that end, they are seeking the
support of their suppliers. Our development work therefore
focuses on the low-emission operation of our plants, the
electrification of production processes, the processing of
sustainable materials, and exhaust-air purification.

- Digitalization: We use artificial intelligence, virtual reality,
and simulations to facilitate the commissioning and ongoing
operation of our plants. At the same time, we are developing
modular software solutions that incorporate both our expert
knowledge of production processes and our software expertise.
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» Increased flexibility: If our customers want to offer a wide

diversity of models and variants or achieve higher output,
they need flexible production concepts. Therefore, we work on
solutions that bypass rigid process chains and are modularly
expandable.

» Customization: Demand for individually configured end

products is rising. With our equipment, these can be
manufactured efficiently on automated lines.

= Optimization of per-unit cost: Reducing per-unit manufacturing

costs is an important goal for our customers. That is why we
are developing products and processes with a reduced demand
for material, energy, maintenance, and human resources.

= Automation: Automation is the key to reproducible top quality,

making our customers less dependent on the increasing
labor shortage. In addition to the automation potential in our
traditional business, we see great opportunities with solutions
for the production of timber house construction elements,
batteries, electric motors, and medical plastic products.

- Electromobility: The production of battery-powered vehicles

requires, in part, special manufacturing systems. Among
other things, we are developing electrode coating technology,
balancing systems for e-rotors as well as painting, assembly,
and testing technology for electric cars.

= Autonomous driving: Modern vehicles are equipped with

numerous driver assistance systems; the automotive industry
is also pushing ahead with autonomous driving. Highly sensitive
test systems are crucial for testing and calibrating the required
safety-relevant technology, such as sensors, during mass
production.

» Overall equipment effectiveness: For our customers, it is

increasingly important how profitable the operation of their
plants is on the bottom line - considering not only the unit
costs, but also aspects such as timely service or smart software
solutions that make operations more efficient.
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R&D RESULTS

Paint and Final Assembly Systems

Paint and Final Assembly Systems has developed EcoQPower, an
intelligent energy network, i.e. a combined heating and cooling
system individually optimized for each paint shop. In this way, the
energy consumption of a paint shop can be significantly reduced.
This network, in conjunction with our electrified car body oven
and the Oxi.X RV exhaust-air purification system, enables paint
shop operation to be fully electric and - when using green
electricity - CO,-neutral.

Building on the “Paint Shop of the Future” concept, there is now
also an innovative future concept for automotive final assembly:
“Assembly of the Future”. Instead of rigid conveyor technology, the
vehicles to be assembled are transported by automated guided
vehicles of the ProFleet and ProLiner series. These carrier systems
are flexible, scalable as well as modularly expandable and can be
easily relocated to other production sites. Special requirements
for the building structure, such as pits or reinforced ceilings, are
a thing of the past. Added to this is the x-combined test stand
concept - the first test stand on which axle measurements as well
as brake and sensor tests can be carried out. Other test processes,
such as the calibration of driver assistance systems, can also be
integrated.

Hekuma, our automation specialist active in the medtech sector,
has added two solutions to its product portfolio for pipette tips.
One new addition is the QC Assistant — a stand-alone module for
thorough testing and quality control of pipette tips. The second
new development is a proof of principle for the pretreatment of
filters, which serve as a boundary for the liquids to be pipetted
and thus as protection against contamination. The new proof of
principle ensures that only precise and sharp-edged filters are
used in assembly.

Application Technology

In addition to painting robots, Application Technology also offers
special robots that seal welds, seal off cavities, and clean car bodies
in the paint shop. The division has optimized the corresponding
EcoRS robot series. The previous portfolio has been reduced to four
robot types in order to simplify spare parts management. These
four robot types have been redesigned: They are easier to clean,
require up to 70% less floor space, and weigh significantly less. At
the same time, the sealing robots — page 262 in this series cover

a larger working area.

38

Application Technology has advanced our automated system for
overspray-free paint application. In addition to painting roofs,
the EcoPaintJet Pro is now also able to paint complex car body
parts such as A-pillars and roof arches without producing any
overspray. Moreover, it can apply all paint systems. Plus, color
changes are now possible for the first time. By means of a new,
software-supported calibration method, two EcoPaintJet Pro units
can be adjusted in a way that enables them to both paint a car
body simultaneously. This shortens the cycle time - an important
consideration for customers who produce high volumes.

Clean Technology Systems

Clean Technology Systems has enhanced the Oxi.X RV thermal
exhaust-air purification system for use in the automotive industry.
Adjustments were particularly necessary as the exhaust air
given off by paint shops contains small amounts of phosphorus
and silicon compounds, treatment of which is complicated. The
electrified system allows automotive manufacturers to reduce
their dependence on natural gas and to clean exhaust air in
a CO,-neutral manner, provided that they utilize renewable
energy sources.

We have developed a process for solvent recovery in the production
of lithium-ion batteries, which allows 99% of the solvents used
in the coating — page 262 process to be recovered. After the
treatment, just over 95% of this can be returned to the process,
reducing emissions to less than one milligram per cubic meter.

Measuring and Process Systems

Measuring and Process Systems used to market various cloud
apps under the Schenck ONE digital brand. Now, the division has
further developed Schenck ONE into a software platform that
offers an integrated user experience. This means that the user
interfaces of the software on the machines and of the software
in the cloud are identical and that data can be synchronized in
both directions. It allows the customer to carry out preparatory
activities, for example creating type data, from any device and
location, operate the machine on site, and retrieve the results
online after the measurement. Additionally, the software platform
provides the opportunity to easily install software updates or
functional enhancements.
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With the BENZ i.tag, our subsidiary Benz, which specializes
in tooling systems, has developed a digital nameplate. This is
attached to the products, can be read by smartphone, and grants
immediate access to the technical data, documents, and drawings
of the corresponding product via an encrypted connection. Plus,
with the i.tag, customers are just one click away from contacting
our sales and service team.

Woodworking Machinery and Systems

Woodworking Machinery and Systems has developed the new
DRILLTEQ V-310 vertical CNC machining center. With its vertical
workpiece feed, this machine requires significantly less space - an
important selling point, since space and resources are often
limited, especially for craft and mid-size furniture production
companies. The machining center provides comprehensive
solutions for milling, drilling, and grooving. Operators can easily
select and set up the necessary tools via a touchscreen. An LED
assistance system facilitates the insertion of workpieces, thus
helping to avoid errors.

The new productionManager helps craft businesses to keep an
overview of current jobs. The web application bundles production-
relevant data, allowing the progress of orders and the current
status of individual components to be displayed in real time. The
digital job folder can be accessed via the internet from any location,
replacing paper documents. The pre-configured interfaces with
other HOMAG applications provide additional benefits. In craft
businesses that use the intelliDivide optimization software, for
example, productionManager can transfer the information for
cutting the parts directly to intelliDivide.
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DURR TECHNOLOGY COUNCIL

The Dirr Technology Council advises the Board of Management
on questions of technology strategy. The Council brings together
scientific expertise, consultancy skills, and senior management
experience in the automotive engineering, automation, and IT
sectors. Its members in 2022 were:

» Prof. Holger Hanselka (Chair), President of the Karlsruhe
Institute of Technology (KIT)

= Ulrich Dietz, former CEO of GFT Technologies SE

« Prof. Alexander Sauer, Director of the Fraunhofer Institute
for Manufacturing Engineering and Automation

- Dr. Eberhard Veit, Managing Partner at Robert Bosch
Industrietreuhand KG, former CEO of Festo AG

= Prof. Thomas Weber, former member of the Board of
Management of Daimler AG, responsible for research
and development

The Dirr Technology Council sees its role as a think tank and
sparring partner for the Board of Management. It balances our
innovation strategy against current trends in production and
provides advice on the potential of future technologies. The Council
maintains constant contact with the Board of Management and,
if necessary, exchanges information with the heads of divisions
and managers from R&D, software, and corporate development
departments.

In 2022, the Dirr Technology Council convened three times. At
its first meeting at the end of June, it welcomed a new member,
Prof. Alexander Sauer. The key topics of this meeting were potential
new business areas and electromobility. At the August meeting,
the topic of electromobility was explored in greater depth, with
members discussing in particular battery technology and the need
for a European supply chain for battery manufacturing. Another
focus was on disruptive trends and the resulting opportunities and
risks for the Dirr Group. The third meeting was held in October
at the Fraunhofer Institute for Manufacturing Engineering and
Automation in the German city of Stuttgart, with the heads of the
Application Technology and Clean Technology Systems divisions
also attending. At the beginning, Dr. Jochen Weyrauch informed
about the cooperation with the mechanical engineering companies
Grob and Manz in the field of battery production technology. The
meeting was centered around guest presentations on current key
areas of research of the Fraunhofer Institute for Manufacturing
Engineering and Automation, including batteries, robotics,
and hydrogen.
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SUSTAINABILITY

Our aim is to give equal consideration to the economic,
environmental, and social aspects of our business activities. As
a signatory to the United Nations Global Compact (UNGC), we are
committed to responsible corporate governance and thus the ten
principles of sustainability in the areas of human rights, labor,
environment, and anti-corruption.

In 2022, we again published a sustainability report in line with
the requirements of the "Core” option of the Global Reporting
Initiative (GRI). It contains, for the first time, climate-related
information in accordance with the recommendations of the
Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD). We
are thus creating transparency about how we deal with climate-
related risks and opportunities, and we are responding to the
increased interest of our stakeholders in climate issues. We have
also integrated into the sustainability report a progress report on
the implementation of the UNGC principles within the Dirr Group.
Moreover, we provide regular information on our actions and
progress in the area of sustainability through other channels, for
example at investor meetings, on our website, or on social media.
We deliver comprehensive data to ESG rating agencies such as
CDP and EcoVadis, and we were able to improve many of our ESG
ratings in the reporting year.

We intensified our efforts in the area of sustainable finance in
2022 and published a Sustainable Finance Framework for the first
time. It provides the framework for future corporate financing
guided by sustainability principles, and specifies how sustainable
financing instruments, such as green bonds and Schuldschein
loans, are to be used. Against the backdrop of the German Supply
Chain Due Diligence Act (LkSG), we also pushed ahead with the
enforcement of high environmental and social standards in our
global supply chain. Another focus was the implementation of our
climate strategy.
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The issue of sustainability is a central component of the Group’s
strategy. The Sustainability Council, the central decision-making
body for sustainability issues in the Dirr Group, met once in 2022. It
adopts sustainability strategies and targets and tracks the Group’s
progress toward meeting them. In 2022, the group of participants
was expanded to include representatives from the three areas of
Distribution Logistics, Corporate Accounting & Controlling, and
Corporate Internal Audit & Internal Controls. The CEO of Dirr AG
chairs the Sustainability Council and has overall responsibility for
Corporate Sustainability.

The Supervisory Board advises and supports the Board of
Management on sustainability issues and appointed one of
its members, Dr. Anja Schuler, as a sustainability expert.
The Sustainability Council invites the sustainability expert to
its meetings on a case-by-case basis. The members of the
Supervisory Board and the Sustainability Council attended
a sustainability-specific training seminar in June 2022, thus
enhancing their relevant competencies.

Materiality analysis

In order to determine which sustainability topics are particularly
relevant for the Dirr Group and its stakeholders, we carried out
a materiality analysis in 2020. The business criticality of various
non-financial matters was determined on the basis of discussions
with specialized departments, interviews with managers, and
a management workshop. At the same time, we assessed the
economic, environmental, and social impacts of our business
activities and had them validated by external sustainability
experts. In 2021, we further specified our materiality analysis and
classified the climate impact of our operations to be material
for the Diirr Group in keeping with Section 289c of the German
Commercial Code (HGB).
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2.10 — RESPONSIBILITY AND ORGANIZATION IN THE AREA OF SUSTAINABILITY

Supervisory Board Diirr AG

A informs
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CEO Diirr AG
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" The Human Rights Officer is part of the Corporate Sustainability department and reports directly to the Board of Management of Diirr AG.

For the 2022 fiscal year, we are again providing information on the
contribution of our business activities to climate protectionin line
with the EU Taxonomy. As one of the first companies in the DAX
family, we have already voluntarily reported on taxonomy-aligned
sales revenues, capital expenditures, and operating expenditures
for the 2021 fiscal year, beyond the legally required disclosures.

We continue to classify the aspect of social affairs as not material
for us, as we consider the business relevance of this topic for
the Dirr Group as well as its impact on society within the global
environment to be low. In accordance with Section 289c of the
German Commercial Code, we have thus identified seven material
non-financial matters:

» EU Taxonomy

» Compliance and anti-corruption

» Human rights (and responsible supply chain)
- Employee satisfaction and retention

» People development and further training

» Occupational safety

= Climate protection
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In addition, we report on other non-financial matters that we
classify as not material within the meaning of Section 289c of the
German Commercial Code, but as important for the Dirr Group.
These include, for example, workplace health promotion and
social commitment. Reporting on our non-financial matters is
based on the GRI standards.

GROUP NON-FINANCIAL STATEMENT

The Group non-financial statement in accordance with Section 315b
(1) HGB is an integral part of the management report and is spread
over several of its chapters. The following index (— table 2.11)
shows which chapters contain information on the non-financial
matters that are material to us. The content of the Group non-
financial statement is marked in the relevant chapters with a
dashed line in the margin and the abbreviation NFS. References
to sources outside the annual report merely refer to further
detailed information that goes beyond the statutory disclosures.
The content of the Group non-financial statement was not audited
as part of the audit of the annual and consolidated financial
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statements by Deloitte GmbH Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft.
Deloitte GmbH Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft performed an
audit to obtain a limited assurance with respect to the Group non-
financial statement in accordance with the ISAE 3000 (revised)
auditing standard.

2.11 — INDEX OF DISCLOSURES ON MATERIAL NON-FINANCIAL
MATTERS IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 315C (1) IN
CONJUNCTION WITH SECTION 289C HGB

Disclosures Chapter/subchapter/section

Business model * Fundamentals/The Group at a glance/Profile

* Fundamentals/The Group at a glance/Group
organizational structure

* Fundamentals/The Group at a glance/

Business model

Risks in relation to material
non-financial matters

* Report on risks, opportunities and expected
future development/Risks/Risks in relation
to material non-financial matters

MATERIAL NON-FINANCIAL MATTERS

Environmental matters * Sustainability/EU Taxonomy

* Sustainability/Environment and climate
protection/Environmental footprint of our
products (Topic: climate protection)

* Sustainability/Environment and climate
protection/Environmental footprint in the
supply chain (Topic: climate protection)

* Sustainability/Environment and climate
protection/Operational environmental
footprint (Topic: climate protection)

Anti-corruption and
anti-bribery

- Sustainability/Integrity/Compliance and
anti-corruption

Respect for human rights » Sustainability/Integrity/Human rights

(and responsible supply chain)

Employee matters * Sustainability/Employees/Employee
satisfaction and retention

* Sustainability/Employees/People
development and further training

* Sustainability/Employees/Occupational

health and safety (Topic: occupational safety)

EU Taxonomy

The Dirr Group sees the shift toward greater sustainability as an
opportunity. With the Taxonomy Regulation, the European Union
(EU) has developed a classification system for environmentally
sustainable economic activities, thus creating uniform criteria for
companies. With our taxonomy-aligned products, services, and
investments, we contribute to the climate-friendly transformation
of the economy.
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BACKGROUND AND GOALS

With the European Green Deal, the EU has set itself the goal
of becoming climate neutral by 2050. In order to finance the
measures required and to make the economic and financial
system in the EU more sustainable, capital flows are to be directed
toward sustainable investments. To this end, the European
Commission (EU Commission) has developed the Action Plan on
Financing Sustainable Growth. The core element of this action
plan is the EU Taxonomy Regulation.

According to the EU Taxonomy Regulation, economic activities are
“taxonomy-eligible” if they comply with the activity descriptions
set out in Annexes | and Il to the Delegated Act of June 2021 and/
or the Complementary Delegated Act of March 2022, and if they
potentially contribute to the achievement of one of the following
six environmental objectives: (1) climate change mitigation, (2)
climate change adaptation, (3) sustainable use and protection of
water and marine resources, (4) transition to a circular economy,
(5) pollution prevention and control, and (6) protection and
restoration of biodiversity and ecosystems.

In addition, economic activities are “environmentally sustainable”
or “taxonomy-aligned” according to the taxonomy specifications,
if the taxonomy-eligible economic activities

= substantially contribute to the achievement of one or more
of the six environmental objectives listed (Substantial
Contribution)

+ do not significantly harm the achievement of the five other
environmental objectives (Do No Significant Harm, DNSH),
and

» ensure compliance with minimum safeguards (Minimum
Safeguards).

At the time of publication of this report, the EU only had criteria
for the first two environmental objectives, so that information
must only be provided on the substantial contribution to these
environmental objectives for fiscal year 2022.

At the time this report was published, the EU Taxonomy
Regulation and the Delegated Acts adopted in this context
contained terms and wordings that are subject to uncertainty in
terms of interpretation and for which clarifications had not been
published in every case. In such cases, we have identified and
explained the assumptions made in this report.
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2.12 — EU TAXONOMY: METHODOLOGY AND PROCEDURE
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IMPLEMENTATION OF THE TAXONOMY
REQUIREMENTS

The Dirr Group had already voluntarily reported on taxonomy-
eligible and taxonomy-aligned sales revenues, capital
expenditures (CapEx], and operating expenditures (OpEx) for the
2021 fiscal year, beyond the legally required disclosures. This
means we had already created the organizational and content-
related prerequisites for the Group-wide implementation of the
taxonomy requirements in the previous year. Further discussions
and analysis were conducted in 2022 to validate our statements.
As a result, we have not made any significant changes to
the interpretation, the relevant economic activities, and the
methodology of data collection compared with the previous year.
Large portions of the Diirr Group’s business activities are still not
directly covered by the taxonomy requirements, as the current
version of the EU Taxonomy Regulation is not directly aimed at the
mechanical engineering sector and the supplier industry.
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BUSINESS ACTIVITIES OF THE DURR GROUP

Our business activities make a substantial contribution to
reducing global greenhouse gas emissions in two respects.
Firstly, we develop and market low-emission technologies for
sustainable production processes. When used by our customers,
these enable significant reductions in greenhouse gas emissions
over the entire lifecycle of the product. With the help of many of
our technologies, customers can therefore achieve significantly
lower emission levels compared to the best performing reference
technologies predominantly available on the market. Examples
include selected technologies for resource-conserving automotive
painting and systems for exhaust-gas and exhaust-air purification.
Secondly, we offer technologies for manufacturing climate-
friendly products, for example solutions for producing batteries
for electric vehicles or machines for the industrial production of
timber houses. Against this backdrop, the Dirr Group has a key
role to play in the sustainable transformation of sectors such as
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automotive production, woodworking, mechanical engineering,
chemicals, pharmaceuticals, and electrical engineering.

As part of our climate strategy, we are also pursuing the goal of
making the Dirr Group’s infrastructure sustainable. This includes,
among other things, investments in energy-efficient buildings and
their technical equipment, the increased use of systems for the
generation of renewable energies, and the expansion of our electric
vehicle fleet and charging infrastructure.

IDENTIFICATION OF TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE
ECONOMIC ACTIVITIES

In order to identify taxonomy-eligible technologies, we have
filtered the Dirr Group’s portfolio for low carbon solutions and
classified as taxonomy-eligible those technologies that contribute
to a significant reduction in greenhouse gas emissions. The
following economic activities defined by the EU Taxonomy have
been identified for the recognition and assignment of sales
revenues, CapEx, and OpEx of the Diirr Group:

» 3.1 Manufacture of renewable energy technologies
= 3.6 Manufacture of other low carbon technologies
= 4.11 Storage of thermal energy

The activity description “3.6 Manufacture of other low carbon
technologies” is of particular relevance to the Dirr Group. Due to
the generic description of this economic activity, it is necessary
to describe our interpretation in greater detail. The economic
activity includes activities for the production of technologies that
aim at substantial reductions in greenhouse gas emissions in
other sectors of the economy. From the Diirr Group’s perspective,
a substantial reduction means a decrease in greenhouse gas
emissions in the use phase by at least 20%. Such a substantial
reduction can usually only be achieved by a technological leap
and not by continuous improvements. We have therefore set the
value of 20% as the minimum level for a substantial reduction in
greenhouse gas emissions.

For the 2022 fiscal year, the following business activities of the
Dirr Group have accordingly been identified for the recognition
and assignment of taxonomy-eligible sales revenues, CapEx,
and OpEx:
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Painting technology

Despite significant technological leaps in recent years, modern
paint shops continue to be among the biggest energy consumers in
the production of automobiles. In particular, paint application and
drying of the car bodies are responsible for the majority of energy
and resource consumption in paint shops. In addition to machines
and systems that meet current market standards, we also sell
solutions with above-average energy-efficiency and resource-
savings that we classify as taxonomy-eligible due to the significant
savings of emissions. In the following, only those machines and
systems are identified as taxonomy-eligible that contribute to
a significant reduction in greenhouse gas emissions. Examples
include selected solutions for dry separation of paint overspray,
such as EcoDryScrubber or EcoDryX, and our latest EcoProBooth
paint booth concept. With the help of these technologies, energy
consumption during paint application in the paint booth can be
reduced by up to 60% compared to conventional wet separation.
In the field of car body curing, the EcolnCure oven and the
EcoSmart VEC fresh- and exhaust-air control system can achieve
a reduction in energy consumption of more than 20% compared to
conventional drying systems. Furthermore, our intelligent energy
network EcoQPower contributes to a significant reduction in the
energy consumption of paint shops through an optimal combined
heating and cooling system. These solutions are complemented in
particular by energy- and resource-saving technologies for paint
application, including the EcoPaintJet overspray-free application
system, the EcoBell3 atomizer product line with twin main needle,
the EcoLCC color changer generation, and the EcoSupplyP special
paint supply system. The business activities of the Diirr Group
considered in painting technology are assigned to economic
activity 3.6.

Battery manufacturing technology

The Durr Group offers specific technologies for producing
rechargeable battery packs and accumulators for the
transportation sector as well as stationary or decentralized energy
storage systems. Only machines and systems for such a purpose
are covered below. Due to their specific nature, it would not make
economic sense for our customers to use these technologies for
any other purpose, as this would require correspondingly complex
technical adjustments. The Diirr Group offers technical solutions
for various process steps in the battery production value chain.
These primarily include our coating technology, dryers, and solvent
recovery systems for the production of battery electrodes, as well
as assembly and testing technology for lithium-ion cells and
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for battery modules and packs. Furthermore, we provide gluing
application technologies for battery systems. The battery types
mentioned above are manufactured directly using technologies
from the Dirr Group and then installed in electric vehicles
or energy storage systems. The batteries produced with our
machines and systems are thus either part of the electric power
train, which is essential for the emission reduction potential of
electric cars, or they form the central storage unit in stationary
or decentralized energy storage systems. Our corresponding
business activities thus aim to significantly reduce lifecycle
emissions in the transportation and energy sectors, so that
our technologies support the EU’s key objectives with regard to
accelerated introduction of low-emission modes of transport and
decarbonizing the energy sector. The business activities of the
Dirr Group considered in battery manufacturing technology are
assigned to economic activity 3.6.

Technology for electromobility

The Dirr Group manufactures technologies specifically used in
the production of electric motors for the transportation sector.
This paragraph refers exclusively to technologies for this intended
use. It would not make economic sense for customers to use
our machines and systems for the production of electric motors
elsewhere, as this would require extensive and correspondingly
complex technical adjustments to the technologies. Specifically,
we develop and supply equipment for filling electric vehicles with
highly specific refrigerants, balancing and spin-test systems for
rotors in electric drives, and modular end-of-line test stands for
electric drives. The electric motors manufactured and tested
with our machines and systems form the central element of the
electric power train, which is essential for the emission reduction
potential of electric cars. Our business activities in the area of
“technology for electromobility” thus aim to considerably reduce
life-cycle emissions in the transportation sector and are assigned
to economic activity 3.6.

Renewable energy technology

The Durr Group manufactures technologies for renewable
energies. These include, in particular, machines and systems
for producing solar cell strings, cleaning systems for biogas
purification, and technologies for generating electricity from
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thermal energy during the combustion of renewable fuels or from
geothermal or solar thermal energy. The technologies of the Dirr
Group considered are assigned to economic activity 3.1.

Environmental technology

The Dirr Group makes a substantial contribution to reducing
emissions in various industrial sectors through environmental
technology systems. We develop and supply modern plant
technologies that enable efficient disposal of waste gases and
residues, and reduce energy consumption in the use phase.
These include, above all, specific regenerative thermal oxidation
processes, which are characterized in particular by complex
technologies for storing heat and are therefore assigned to
economic activity 4.11. In addition, other Dirr environmental
technology systems ensure substantial savings in greenhouse gas
emissions, which regularly exceed 20%. Compared to competitor
solutions, our systems significantly increase overall efficiency
with the help of specially developed system components or
patented processes. Our range of technologies includes systems
for flameless regenerative thermal oxidation and recuperative
thermal oxidation, catalytic filter element systems, high-pressure
catalytic systems as well as selected sorptive processes and
plants for VOC concentration. These technologies considered in
the field of environmental technologies are assigned to economic
activity 3.6.

Woodworking technology

The Dirr Group produces technologies for the solid wood
manufacturing sector that are specifically used for the industrial
production of timber construction elements as well as timber
windows and doors. These technologies include machines and
systems for manufacturing cross laminated timber, for the fully
automated production and insulation of wall and ceiling elements
of timber houses, and for the production of timber windows and
doors. In the following, only machines and systems for such a
purpose are considered. For economic reasons, it would not
make sense for customers to use these technologies for other
purposes, as this is impossible to achieve without extensive and
complex technical modifications. Timber construction elements
as well as timber windows and doors are manufactured directly
with Dirr Group machines and systems. According to the German

ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Combined management report

Sustainability: EU Taxonomy

Federal Environment Agency, around 60% of emissions in the
building sector are attributable to the construction and demolition
of existing buildings, as the building materials (for example steel,
cement, aluminum) predominantly used in the building sector to
date are highly energy-intensive. In addition, expert analysis shows
that the production of windows and doors made of materials such
as PVC and aluminum, for example, has an energy intensity eight
times higher than the production of doors and windows made of
timber. Thus, our technologies are aimed at significantly reducing
life-cycle emissions in the building sector; they are assigned to
economic activity 3.6.

For the 2022 fiscal year, further economic activities have been
identified for the recognition and assignment of taxonomy-eligible
CapEx and OpEx of the Diirr Group:

+ 6.5 Transport by motorbikes, passenger cars and light
commercial vehicles

« 7.3 Installation, maintenance and repair of energy efficiency
equipment

» 7.4 Installation, maintenance and repair of charging stations
for electric vehicles in buildings (and parking spaces attached
to buildings)

= 7.6 Installation, maintenance and repair of renewable energy
technologies

= 7.7 Acquisition and ownership of buildings

Taxonomy-eligible CapEx and OpEx create the prerequisite
for making the Dirr Group’s infrastructure sustainable. In the
2022 fiscal year, this included investments in energy-efficient
buildings and their technical equipment, in systems for generating
renewable energies at our locations, and in the expansion of our
electric vehicle fleet and charging infrastructure.
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IDENTIFICATION OF TAXONOMY-ALIGNED
ECONOMIC ACTIVITIES

According to the EU Taxonomy Regulation, taxonomy-eligible
economic activities are to be classified as taxonomy-aligned if
they make a substantial contribution to the achievement of one or
more environmental objectives, do not significantly harm any of
the other environmental objectives, and ensure compliance with
minimum safeguards in the context of the economic activities.

SUBSTANTIAL CONTRIBUTION

Compliance with the criteria for a substantial contribution to
the two environmental objectives (1) climate change mitigation
and (2) climate change adaptation was assessed individually for
each taxonomy-eligible business activity of the Dirr Group. In
the analyses conducted, no economic activity was identified that
makes a substantial contribution to the second environmental
objective.

Taking into account the technical screening criteria, taxonomy-
eligible and taxonomy-aligned sales revenues and OpEx of
the Dirr Group regularly correspond to each other. In the case
of CapEx, it is possible that taxonomy-eligible and taxonomy-
aligned economic activities differ in their results. Further details
on the composition of environmentally sustainable sales revenues,
CapEx, and OpEx are provided in the section entitled “Performance

indicators according to the EU Taxonomy Regulation” — page 49.

Due to the generic description of economic activity “3.6 Manu-
facture of other low carbon technologies,” the verification
regarding the substantial contribution to the first environmen-
tal objective also requires explanation. The economic activity
includes the production of technologies that aim at and demon-
strably achieve substantial reductions in greenhouse gas emis-
sions over the product lifecycle compared to the best performing
alternative technology available on the market. As a reference
standard, we base it on the technology commonly used in the
market at the time of publication of this report. The reference
technology is thus the best performing alternative technology
predominantly available on the market.
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Furthermore, the technical screening criteria for economic activity
3.6 describe requirements for the quantification of life-cycle
greenhouse gas emissions. The quantifications must be calculated
on the basis of defined standards and audited by an independent
third party. We generally provide our customers with individualized
technological solutions, some of which may differ significantly due
to customer-specific or location-specific characteristics. In order
to determine the greenhouse gas emissions in the lifecycle of our
machines and systems at product level, a separate greenhouse
gas balance would have to be prepared for each location-specific
or customer-specific project. Since this would be disproportionate,
we have science-based lifecycle greenhouse gas balances for
representative machines and systems prepared by the Fraunhofer
Institute for Building Physics (IBP). As a result, these balances show
that the use phase of our machines and systems in particular has
a substantial impact on the lifecycle greenhouse gas emissions.
By contrast, upstream and downstream emissions relating, for
instance, to logistics processes, the manufacture of purchased
parts, and end-of-life recycling, as well as emissions from our
internal value chain, have only a minor impact on the lifecycle
emissions of machines and systems. For the remaining share of
our machines and systems, we therefore based our calculations
on the potential savings of greenhouse gas emissions in the use
phase. In assessing the lifecycle emissions of goods manufactured
with our machines and systems, we relied on published data and
analyses from recognized scientific organizations.
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AVOIDANCE OF SIGNIFICANT HARM

Furthermore, we analyzed whether the achievement of the five
remaining EU environmental objectives is significantly harmed
by the business activities listed above. For that purpose, it was
appropriate to regularly assess DNSH compliance at the level
of the business activities and at the level of the locations of the
Dirr Group. The locations assessed as relevant were those which
accounted for significant value-adding processes for taxonomy-
eligible business activities or environmentally sustainable CapEx
and OpEx in the 2022 fiscal year. Subsequently, a comparison was
made with the DNSH criteria for the selected locations.

The criteria for the second EU environmental objective, “climate
change adaptation,” refer to physical climate risks. We have
already identified potential harm to relevant locations due
to physical climate risks by means of climate scenario and
vulnerability analyses in the past. We updated them in the 2022
fiscal year based on data from the Intergovernmental Panel on
Climate Change (IPCC) available at the time of reporting. The
analyses are based on the Shared Socioeconomic Pathway (SSP)
scenarios SSP245 and SSP585 and include medium- and long-
term climate hazards. ldentified local damage potential was
checked for relevance and, if necessary, mitigation measures
were initiated and documented.
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The third EU environmental objective describes criteria for
sustainable use and protection of water and marine resources.
We analyzed relevant locations according to the criteria of water
stress, seasonal fluctuations in water availability, and supply of
drinking water and sanitary facilities. To this end, we relied on
internal queries, documentation of audits as part of the 1ISO 14001
certification of relevant sites, and external data sources. From the
results, we derived and described possible adaptation solutions.

The fourth EU environmental objective, “transition to a circular
economy,” includes general requirements regarding high
durability, ease of disassembly, and reparability. The majority of the
components installed in our machines and systems are designed
for a very long service life and still have a monetary material value
at the end of their useful life. Therefore, they can usually be either
reused or recycled in a useful manner by an external facility. In
addition, our Group-wide spare parts and modernization business
ensures an extended service life for the machines and systems
used by our customers.

The criteria for the fifth EU environmental objective, “pollution
prevention and control,” relate primarily to legal and regulatory
requirements with which we are obliged to comply. Compliance
in the context of our business activities is monitored and ensured
worldwide by our Group-wide environmental management
system. This includes compliance with the substances listed in
Regulation (EC) No. 1907/2006 (REACH) and Directive 2011/65/
EU (RoHS Directive]. By contrast, Regulations (EU) 2019/1021
(POPs Regulation), (EU) 2017/852 (Mercury Regulation), and (EC)
No. 1005/2009 (Ozone Layer Regulation) were not deemed relevant
to our business activities following internal analyses by experts.
The use of substances of concern identified by the EU is regulated
for our machines and systems in our purchasing conditions, among
other things. Corresponding documentation (for example safety
data sheets] - including for purchased components - is usually
provided to our customers upon project completion. At present,
we have no knowledge that the Dirr Group’s taxonomy-eligible
business activities contribute to the production, marketing, or use
of substances classified as hazardous.
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With regard to the sixth EU environmental objective, “protection
and restoration of biodiversity and ecosystems,” we conduct
environmental impact assessments or comparable assessments
as part of our business activities, if required. The relevant sites
are located in designated industrial or commercial areas, with
local environmental requirements regularly taken into account as
part of the planning application process. Furthermore, internal
analyses have shown that none of the sites considered is located
in or near biodiversity-sensitive areas.

As a result, we have not identified any significant harm to the
achievement of the five other environmental objectives at any
relevant location.

COMPLIANCE WITH MINIMUM SAFEGUARDS

The Dirr Group is committed to respecting human rights and
promoting fair working conditions - this applies in particular to
dealings with its own employees and direct suppliers. Our actions
are guided by the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises, the
United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights
(UNGP), and the Core Labor Standards of the International Labour
Organization (ILO), among others. In the 2022 fiscal year, we again
reviewed compliance with these guiding principles and standards
in our business activities across the Group, focusing on respect for
human and employee rights as well as on combating bribery and
corruption. The result showed that our Group-wide processes and
systems are suited to reliably identify potential risks or violations at
our locations worldwide. Further information on respect for human
rights in our business activities and in the supply chain is provided
in the relevant sections of the Group non-financial statement.
The section entitled “Human rights (and responsible supply chain)”
—> page 57 also contains detailed information on processes and
measures that we have developed against the backdrop of the
German Supply Chain Due Diligence Act (LKSG) in order to fulfill
our corporate responsibility for ensuring compliance with human
rights in the supply chain. We report on compliance with minimum
requirements regarding occupational safety in the “Occupational
health and safety”— page 63 section of the Group non-financial
statement.
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PERFORMANCE INDICATORS ACCORDING TO
THE EU TAXONOMY REGULATION

In the following, we provide information on our Group-wide
taxonomy-eligible and taxonomy-aligned sales revenues, CapEx,
and OpEx in accordance with the EU Taxonomy for the 2022 and
2021 fiscal years.

Sales revenues

In accordance with the EU Taxonomy Regulation, sales revenues
are generally defined as they are reported in the consolidated
income statement. The Dirr Group generates most of its sales
revenues from the production and delivery of customer-specific
plant and machinery and the resulting service business. Sales
revenues over time are recognized using the percentage-of-
completion method (POC method). Taxonomy-eligible or taxonomy-
aligned sales revenues over time are determined analogously on
the basis of the costs incurred in relation to the total expected costs
of a contract. If only individual components of an overall project
generate taxonomy-eligible or taxonomy-aligned revenues, only
these components are taken into account. Sales revenues that are
not recognized over time can be derived directly from financial
accounting. In addition, certain revenues generated in service
business are reported as taxonomy-eligible or taxonomy-aligned
sales revenues. Depending on the business activity, such service
revenues are determined from separately identifiable service
projects or on the basis of appropriate allocation keys as a subset
of total service business. Only taxonomy-eligible or taxonomy-
aligned sales revenues of fully consolidated subsidiaries were
taken into account.

In the 2022 fiscal year, taxonomy-eligible sales revenues again
corresponded to taxonomy-aligned sales revenues. Compared to
the previous year, these increased by 45.4% to €726.6 million. The
share of taxonomy-eligible or taxonomy-aligned sales revenues
in Group sales also increased and amounted to 16.8% in the 2022
financial year (previous year: 14.1%). This was due in particular
to activities in the context of economic activity “3.6 Manufacture
of other low carbon technologies.” The woodworking technology
sector recorded strong growth in this area. In addition, increasing
demand in the growth market of battery production technology led
to a rise in the Dirr Group's taxonomy-aligned sales revenues.
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2.13 — TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE AND TAXONOMY-ALIGNED SALES REVENUES IN 2022

Substantial contribution

criteria’
Climate Climate
Absolute sales Share of sales change change
Economic activities Codel(s) revenues revenues mitigation adaptation
€ million % % %
A. TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
A.1 ENVIRONMENTALLY SUSTAINABLE ACTIVITIES (TAXONOMY-ALIGNED)
Manufacture of renewable energy technologies 3.1 18.8 0.4 100.0 0.0
Manufacture of other low carbon technologies 3.6 537.0 12.4 100.0 0.0
Storage of thermal energy 4.11 170.8 4.0 100.0 0.0
Sales revenues of environmentally sustainable activities (taxonomy-aligned) (A.1) - 726.6 16.8 100.0 0.0
A.2 TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE BUT NOT ENVIRONMENTALLY SUSTAINABLE ACTIVITIES
(NOT TAXONOMY-ALIGNED ACTIVITIES)
Manufacture of renewable energy technologies 3.1 0 0.0 - -
Manufacture of other low carbon technologies 3.6 0 0.0 - -
Storage of thermal energy 411 0 0.0 - -
Sales revenues of taxonomy-eligible but not environmentally sustainable activities
(not taxonomy-aligned activities) (A.2) - 0 0.0 - -
Total (A.1+A.2) - 726.6 16.8 - -
B. TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
Sales revenues of taxonomy-non-eligible activities (B) - 3,587.4 83.2
Total (A + B) - 4,314.1 100.0

' At the time of publication of this report, the EU only had criteria for the first two environmental objectives. The table section “Substantial contribution criteria” shows the breakdown of the Diirr Group’s taxonomy-aligned

sales revenues by economic activities and environmental objectives.

2 A taxonomy-eligible economic activity meets the DNSH criteria if significant harm can be ruled out for each EU environmental objective (“Y” for “yes”). A significant harm is indicated in the table by an “N” (“no”).

3 Enabling activities within the meaning of Article 10(1) of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 play a key role in decarbonizing the economy by directly enabling the carbon footprint and environmental performance of other activities

to be improved. Enabling activities are indicated by an “E" in the table.

“Transitional activities within the meaning of Article 10(2) of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 did not have technically feasible and economic low carbon alternatives at the time of publication of this report, but they support the

transition to a carbon-neutral economy. Transitional activities are indicated by a “T” in the table.

 No specific DNSH criteria were available for the respective environmental objective at the time of publication of this report. Failure to meet these DNSH criteria is therefore excluded.

¢ Adjustment of the previous year's figure from 15.1 to 14.1% due to new findings.

CapEx

In accordance with the EU Taxonomy Regulation, CapEx includes
investments in intangible assets (excluding goodwill) and
property, plant, and equipment, including rights to use leased
assets. This also includes additions to non-current assets
resulting from company acquisitions which were consolidated
for the first time in the fiscal year. The amount can be reconciled
to the disclosures in — notes 18 and 43 of the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. CapEx is calculated on a gross
basis, i.e. without taking into account revaluations or amortization,
depreciation and impairment. CapEx amounts attributable only
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partially to taxonomy-aligned or taxonomy-eligible business
activities are allocated on a pro rata basis using expected shares
of sales.

Taxonomy-eligible CapEx amounted to €74.9 million in the 2022
fiscal year (previous year: €86.1 million). Of this, €33.7 million
(previous year: €56.7 million) met the criteria of the EU Taxonomy
Regulation for taxonomy-aligned CapEx. The difference between
taxonomy-eligible and taxonomy-aligned CapEx in the amount
of €41.1 million resulted mainly from investments assigned to
economic activities “6.5 Transport by motorbikes, passenger
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DNSH criteria
(“Do No Significant Harm")?

Taxonomy- Taxonomy-

Climate Climate Water and Biodiversity Compliance aligned share aligned share
change change marine Circular and minimum of sales of sales Enabling Transitional
mitigation adaptation resources economy Pollution ecosystems safeguards revenues 2022 revenues 2021 activities® activities*
Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N % % E T
- Y Y Y Y Y Y 0.4 0.3 E -
- Y Y Y Y Y Y 12.4 9.8 E -
- Y Y Y Ys Y Y 4.0 4.0 E -
- Y Y Y Y Y Y 16.8 14.1¢ 100.0% 0.0%
- - - - - - - 0.0 0.0 - -
- - - - - - - 16.8 14.1¢ 100.0% 0.0%

cars and light commercial vehicles” and “7.7 Acquisition and
ownership of buildings,” though it was not possible to demonstrate
a substantial contribution to the first environmental objective
“climate change mitigation” in all cases.

In the 2022 fiscal year, 24.3% of our investments complied with
the requirements of the EU Taxonomy Regulation on taxonomy-
aligned CapEx (previous year: 25.1%). This resulted mainly from
the expenses for the current investment program at HOMAG,
which are assigned to economic activity “7.7 Acquisition and
ownership of buildings.” In addition, capitalized development
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costs in the areas of battery production technology and painting
technology caused an increase in environmentally sustainable
CapEx in the context of economic activity “3.6 Manufacture of
other low carbon technologies.”
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2.14 — TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE AND TAXONOMY-ALIGNED CAPEX 2022

Substantial contribution

criteria’
Climate Climate
Absolute Share of change change
Economic activities Codel(s) CapEx CapEx mitigation adaptation
€ million % % %
A. TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
A.1 ENVIRONMENTALLY SUSTAINABLE ACTIVITIES (TAXONOMY-ALIGNED)
Manufacture of renewable energy technologies 3.1 0.1 0.0 100.0 0.0
Manufacture of other low carbon technologies 3.6 1.3 8.1 100.0 0.0
Transport by motorbikes, passenger cars and light commercial vehicles 6.5 0.0 0.0 100.0 0.0
Installation, maintenance and repair of energy efficiency equipment 7.3 0.7 0.5 100.0 0.0
Installation, maintenance and repair of charging stations for electric vehicles in buildings 7.4 0.2 0.1 100.0 0.0
Installation, maintenance and repair of renewable energy technologies 7.6 0.4 0.3 100.0 0.0
Acquisition and ownership of buildings 7.7 211 15.2 100.0 0.0
CapEx of environmentally sustainable activities (taxonomy-aligned) (A.1) - 33.7 24.3 100.0 0.0

A.2 TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE BUT NOT ENVIRONMENTALLY SUSTAINABLE ACTIVITIES
(NOT TAXONOMY-ALIGNED ACTIVITIES)

Manufacture of renewable energy technologies 3.1 0.0 0.0 - -
Manufacture of other low carbon technologies 3.6 0.0 0.0 - -
Transport by motorbikes, passenger cars and light commercial vehicles 6.5 9.9 7.2 - -
Installation, maintenance and repair of energy efficiency equipment 7.3 0.0 0.0 - -
Installation, maintenance and repair of charging stations for electric vehicles in buildings 7.4 0.0 0.0 - -
Installation, maintenance and repair of renewable energy technologies 7.6 0.0 0.0 - -
Acquisition and ownership of buildings 7.7 31.2 22.5 - -
CapEx of taxonomy-eligible but not environmentally sustainable activities

(not taxonomy-aligned activities) (A.2) - 41.1 29.7 - -
Total (A.1+A.2) - 74.9 54.0 - -

B. TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES

CapEx of taxonomy-non-eligible activities (B) - 63.7 46.0

Total (A + B) - 138.5 100.0

T At the time of publication of this report, the EU only had criteria for the first two environmental objectives. The table section “Substantial contribution criteria” shows the breakdown of the Diirr Group’s taxonomy-aligned
CapEx by economic activities and environmental objectives.

2 A taxonomy-eligible economic activity meets the DNSH criteria if significant harm can be ruled out for each EU environmental objective (“Y” for “yes”). A significant harm is indicated in the table by an “N” (“no”).

% Enabling activities within the meaning of Article 10(1) of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 play a key role in decarbonizing the economy by directly enabling the carbon footprint and environmental performance of other activities
to be improved. Enabling activities are indicated by an “E” in the table.

“ Transitional activities within the meaning of Article 10(2) of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 did not have technically feasible and economic low carbon alternatives at the time of publication of this report, but they support the
transition to a carbon-neutral economy. Transitional activities are indicated by a “T" in the table.

5 No specific DNSH criteria were available for the respective environmental objective at the time of publication of this report. Failure to meet these DNSH criteria is therefore excluded.

¢ Adjustment of the taxonomy-aligned previous year’s figure from 25.5 to 25.1% and of the previous year’s taxonomy-eligible figure from 29.4 to 38.1% due to new findings.
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DNSH criteria
(“Do No Significant Harm")?

Climate Climate Water and Biodiversity Compliance Taxonomy- Taxonomy-
change change marine Circular and minimum  aligned share  aligned share Enabling Transitional
mitigation adaptation resources economy Pollution ecosystems safeguards of CapEx 2022 of CapEx 2021 activities® activities*
Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N % % E T
- Y Y Y Y Y Y 0.0 2.4 E -
- Y Y Y Y Y Y 8.1 19.8 E -
- Y Ys Y Y Ys Y 0.0 0.0 E -
- Y & & Y & Y 0.5 0.2 E -
- Y Ys Ys Ys Ys Y 0.1 0.0 E -
- Y Ys Ys Ys Ys Y 0.3 0.9 E -
- Y Ys Ys Ys Ys Y 15.2 1.8 E -
- Y Y Y Y Y Y 243 25.1¢ 100.0% 0.0%
- - - - - - - 29.7 13.0 100.0% 0.0%
- - - - - - - 54.0 38.1¢ 100.0% 0.0%
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2.15 — TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE AND TAXONOMY-ALIGNED OPEX 2022

Substantial contribution

criteria’
Climate Climate
Absolute Share of change change
Economic activities Codel(s) OpEx OpEx mitigation adaptation
€ million % % %
A. TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
A.1 ENVIRONMENTALLY SUSTAINABLE ACTIVITIES (TAXONOMY-ALIGNED)
Manufacture of renewable energy technologies 3.1 0.4 0.3 100.0 0.0
Manufacture of other low carbon technologies 3.6 1M1 8.0 100.0 0.0
Storage of thermal energy 411 1.0 0.7 100.0 0.0
Installation, maintenance and repair of energy efficiency equipment 7.3 0.3 0.2 100.0 0.0
Installation, maintenance and repair of renewable energy technologies 7.6 0.1 0.1 100.0 0.0
OpEx of environmentally sustainable activities (taxonomy-aligned) (A.1) - 12.9 9.3 100.0 0.0

A.2 TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE BUT NOT ENVIRONMENTALLY SUSTAINABLE ACTIVITIES
(NOT TAXONOMY-ALIGNED ACTIVITIES)

Manufacture of renewable energy technologies 3.1 0 0.0 - -
Manufacture of other low carbon technologies 3.6 0 0.0 - -
Storage of thermal energy 4.11 0 0.0 - -
Installation, maintenance and repair of energy efficiency equipment 7.3 0 0.0 - -
Installation, maintenance and repair of renewable energy technologies 7.6 0 0.0 - -
OpEx of taxonomy-eligible but not environmentally sustainable activities

(not taxonomy-aligned activities) (A.2) - 0 0.0 - -
Total (A.1+A.2) - 12.9 9.3 - -
B. TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES

OpEx of taxonomy-non-eligible activities (B) - 125.4 90.7

Total (A + B) - 138.3 100.0

' At the time of publication of this report, the EU only had criteria for the first two environmental objectives. The table section “Substantial contribution criteria” shows the breakdown of the Diirr Group’s taxonomy-aligned
OpEx by economic activities and environmental objectives.

2 A taxonomy-eligible economic activity meets the DNSH criteria if significant harm can be ruled out for each EU environmental objective (“Y” for “yes”). A significant harm is indicated in the table by an “N” (“no”).

3 Enabling activities within the meaning of Article 10(1) of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 play a key role in decarbonizing the economy by directly enabling the carbon footprint and environmental performance of other activities to
be improved. Enabling activities are indicated by an “E” in the table.

“ Transitional activities within the meaning of Article 10(2) of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 did not have technically feasible and economic low carbon alternatives at the time of publication of this report, but they support the
transition to a carbon-neutral economy. Transitional activities are indicated by a “T" in the table.

5 No specific DNSH criteria were available for the respective environmental objective at the time of publication of this report. Failure to meet these DNSH criteria is therefore excluded.
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DNSH criteria
(“Do No Significant Harm")?

Climate Climate Water and Biodiversity Compliance Taxonomy- Taxonomy-
change change marine Circular and minimum  aligned share aligned share Enabling Transitional
mitigation adaptation resources economy Pollution ecosystems safeguards of OpEx 2022 of OpEx 2021 activities?® activities*
Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N % % E T
- Y Y Y Y Y Y 0.3 0.2 E -
- Y Y Y Y Y Y 8.0 6.9 E -
- Y Y Y Ys Y Y 0.7 0.5 E -
- Y Ys Ys Y Ys Y 0.2 0.2 E -
- Y & & & & Y 0.1 0.2 E -
- Y Y Y Y Y Y 9.3 8.1 100.0% 0.0%
- - - - - - - 0.0 0.0 - -
- - - - - - - 9.3 8.1 100.0% 0.0%

OpEXx

OpEx as defined by the EU Taxonomy Regulation take into account
non-capitalizable expenses for research and development, building
refurbishment measures, short-term leasing, maintenance and
repair, and all other direct expenses for the upkeep of property, plant,
and equipment to ensure that the taxonomy-eligible or taxonomy-
aligned assets are ready for operation. The corresponding values can
be clearly derived from our internal reporting systems. OpEx are not
directly reconcilable to the presentation in the consolidated income
statement.
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As in the previous year, taxonomy-eligible OpEx corresponded to
taxonomy-aligned OpEx, amounting to €12.9 million. This means an
increase of €3.0 million compared to fiscal year 2021. The taxonomy-
eligible or taxonomy-aligned share of the Diirr Group’s relevant OpEx
in accordance with the Taxonomy Regulation amounted to 9.3% in the
year under review (previous year: 8.1%). An important component
were non-capitalizable expenses for research and development,
which contributed 93% to the taxonomy-eligible or taxonomy-aligned
OpEx (previous year: 90%].
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Integrity

Our actions are guided by the principles of integrity and legality.
Our Group-wide Code of Conduct provides an overview of the
values and principles of behavior that are binding for all employees
in the Durr Group. All employees have the right to be treated fairly,
politely, and respectfully - regardless of nationality, gender, sexual
orientation, religion, culture, and age.

COMPLIANCE AND ANTI-CORRUPTION

Compliance and integrity play a vital role in our business success,
so it is essential that all employees comply with applicable law and
ethical standards in their daily business activities. Our aim is to
avoid any violation of compliance rules in our company.

Responsibility and organization

The central body of our compliance organization is the Corporate
Compliance Board, whose responsibilities include defining and
further developing the compliance management system. Local
Group Company Compliance Managers in the Group companies
support the employees in meeting compliance requirements.
The Corporate Compliance Officer coordinates all operational
compliance issues at Group level. He is the contact person in the
event of potential compliance violations and has been responsible
since August 2022 for notifying the Chief Financial Officer and
the Corporate Compliance Board of any concrete grounds for
suspicion. The board examines the need for further steps on a
case-by-case basis.

Guidelines

Our Group-wide Code of Conduct forms the ethical foundation of
our relationships with employees, customers, business partners,
and shareholders. It is available in ten languages and is part of our
mandatory onboarding training for all new employees. The Code
was revised and redesigned in 2022. In this context, the topics of
environmental and climate protection as well as compliance in the
supply chain were specified and emphasized more strongly. We
accompanied the introduction of the updated Code of Conduct with
communication measures on the intranet and adapted the online
compliance training for our employees accordingly.
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2.16 — COMPLIANCE ORGANIZATION

Chief Financial Officer
Diirr AG
R R
reports to report to
Corporate Compliance » Corporate Compliance Board
Officer reports to ) ]
Corporate Compliance Officer,
N M Heads of Internal Audit, Tax,
report to coordinates Legal and Human Resources,

Corporate Risk Manager,
Financial Officers of the

divisions, Group Security

Officer, IT Security Officer

Group Company
Compliance Managers

Our Compliance Management System (CMS) provides a framework
for action so that all activities in business operations can be
carried out in accordance with legal and internal requirements.
The three elements of prevention, early detection, and response
are core components of the CMS. A Group-wide company directive
on compliance defines responsibilities, communication channels,
and measures. An anti-corruption company directive for the
Group also provides our employees with rules of conduct for their
dealings with business partners and in the event of conflicts of
interest. The risk of corruption is also addressed by regulations
such as the separation of functions, approval procedures, and the
four-eyes principle. The selection and commissioning of business
partners for sales-related services and the handling of donations
are further compliance-relevant topics that are regulated in Group-
wide company directives.

Processes and measures

Employees, business partners, and third parties who suspect
legal violations, for example corruption or money laundering, or
violations of the Diirr Group’s Code of Conduct, can contact us
through various channels - anonymously, if they wish. One option
is the DiUrr Group Integrity Line, our whistleblowing hotline.
Reports are reviewed by the Corporate Compliance Officer, who
initiates further steps in justified cases and coordinates measures
in consultation with the various departments.
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In 2022, the Corporate Compliance Officer received 28 tips (previous
year: 38). In one case, the suspicion of a violation of anti-corruption
regulations was confirmed. As a consequence, appropriate
personnel and organizational steps were taken (previous year: no
confirmed cases of corruption).

Our training courses are designed to substantially contribute to
the avoidance of compliance violations. They include onboarding
events for new employees, online compliance training courses,
and training on data privacy. These trainings are mandatory for all
employees, and refresher courses must be completed every two
years. In 2022, we trained nearly 17,900 employees on compliance
and data privacy (previous year: nearly 5,800). The increase is
the result of both the two-year training cycle and the revision of
the online compliance training in the previous year. As a result,
some of the training courses that were scheduled for 2021 had
been postponed to 2022. All managers and particularly exposed
functional areas, such as sales and purchasing, must complete
in-depth training in the advanced modules “Protection against
corruption”, “Fair competition”, and “Payment fraud” every
three years. In 2022, there were 870 attendances in “Protection
against corruption” (previous year: 488), 871 attendances in “Fair
competition” (previous year: 508) and 289 attendances in “Payment
fraud” (previous year: 915). In addition, we carried out ad-hoc
internal audits in Mexico and Italy to clarify potentially compliance-
relevant issues.

HUMAN RIGHTS (AND RESPONSIBLE
SUPPLY CHAIN)

Our aim is to respect and protect human rights. In doing so, we
relate our corporate due diligence not only to our own business
activities, but also to the supply chain. We have committed
ourselves to this aim by, among other things, signing the UNGC.

Responsibility and organization

Overall responsibility for human rights and environmental due
diligence lies with the Board of Management of Dirr AG. The
purchasing organizations of the subgroups and the Corporate
Human Resources department are primarily responsible for
implementing due diligence. In doing so, they are supported by the
Corporate Sustainability, Corporate Compliance, and Corporate
Legal departments. Any processes to ensure due diligence in the
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supply chain are defined, implemented, and followed up by the
cross-divisional Sustainable Supply Chain department. Corporate
Human Resources is responsible for the worldwide coordination
of measures for the respect of human rights and fair working
conditions in the Dirr Group. Corporate Sustainability provides
support in coordinating and dealing with human rights issues.

The implementation and review of compliance with our corporate
due diligence has been accompanied and supported throughout
the Group by the Human Rights Officer of Diirr AG since
January 1, 2023. The Human Rights Officer is part of the Corporate
Sustainability department. She informs the Executive Board and
the Dirr Management Board at least once a year about current
human rights issues and any incidents.

Guidelines
In the Group-wide Code of Conduct, we are committed to observing
human rights. One component of the contracts with suppliers is
our globally applicable Supplier Code of Conduct, which explicitly
requires compliance with human rights and was updated in
March 2022.

A policy statement on the respect for human rights describes our
approach to compliance with corporate due diligence. It contains
binding principles on the respect for human rights and fair
working conditions and forms the basis for fulfilling our social
and environmental responsibility along the entire value chain.

Processes and measures

In order to increase transparency with regard to human rights
issues in our supply chain, we conducted a risk analysis of our
direct suppliers for the first time in 2021 and updated it in the first
quarter of 2022 as per the regular schedule. This analysis is an
important element of our risk management. Based on country-
specific indices, we perform a risk classification of the countries
of origin of our direct suppliers. In high-risk countries, we focus
our risk analysis on suppliers that together account for 80% of
the purchasing volume in each high-risk country and carry out
preventive measures with them. If necessary, we define measures
against human rights violations together with the suppliers. We
further specified the preventive measures in 2022. Among other
things, we require suppliers from high-risk countries to sign
our Supplier Code of Conduct and to complete self-assessment
questionnaires. In the event of critical results, we plan to conduct
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feedback discussions with the relevant suppliers and develop action
plans to improve their social and environmental performance.
On-site audits focusing on sustainability will also be conducted
where necessary. As a further preventive measure, in fall 2022, we
started to introduce a mandatory e-learning module on the topic
of sustainability for suppliers from high-risk countries, available in
five languages. Starting from 2023, the aforementioned preventive
measures are to be extended to new and existing suppliers in non-
risk countries.

Against the backdrop of the German Supply Chain Due Diligence
Act (LkSG), which came into force on January 1, 2023, we have
developed a further process for evaluating human rights and
environmental risk issues in our supply chain. We assess risks on
the basis of their severity and probability of occurrence. We then
prioritize the assessment results in terms of our ability to influence
the respective risk, deriving focus topics that we will prioritize in
the future when working with suppliers. In 2022, we defined focus
topics for the first time, which will also be incorporated into the
further development of our preventive and remedial measures.
The evaluation is carried out once a year and when circumstances
require.

In order to raise awareness of sustainability in the supply chain
among our buyers worldwide, we are successively adding human
rights and sustainability-specific content to existing training
courses. We also inform buyers regularly about relevant changes.

In 2022, we also defined minimum social and environmental criteria
for suppliers as a prerequisite for the future awarding of contracts,
which are to be further substantiated and integrated into the
purchasing processes in 2023.
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Goals and next steps

2.17 — GOALS AND NEXT STEPS: HUMAN RIGHTS
(AND RESPONSIBLE SUPPLY CHAIN)

Degree of target
Target achievement
year (as of: Dec. 31, 2022)

Development, implementation, and execution of
sustainability-specific supplier trainings 2022 [T

Definition of minimum criteria for high-risk
suppliers as a prerequisite for the future
awarding of contracts 2022 [T

Signing of our Supplier Code of Conduct by at
least 75% of high-risk suppliers 2022 [T

Obtaining self-declarations from more than
50% of high-risk suppliers 2022 [TTT]

Development and implementation of a

financial incentive system for suppliers to

increase transparency and sustainability

in the supply chain 2023 mooo

Expansion of purchasing training to include the
topic of sustainability in the supply chain 2023 [ Ialalal

Revision or further development of the existing
due diligence process for conflict minerals 2023 oooo

Signing of the Supplier Code of Conduct by at
least 90% of high-risk suppliers 2023 oooo

Completion of the self-assessment
questionnaire by at least 90% of high-risk
suppliers 2023 oooo

Completion of the e-learning module on the
topic of sustainability by at least 90% of high-risk
suppliers 2023 oooo

Definition of a bonus/malus scheme taking
into account sustainability criteria for future
awarding of contracts 2023 oooo

Conducting feedback sessions with critical
suppliers to develop remedial measures 2023 oooo

mumm = fully met
EOO0/ME00/mmm0 = in progress
oooo=in planning
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Employees

As of December 31, 2022, the Diirr Group had 18,514 employees.
This represents an increase of 712 employees, or 4.0%, compared
to year-end 2021. Among the divisions, Woodworking Machinery
and Systems recorded the most significant increase (5.0%,
361 employees) as part of its strong growth. The increase in the
number of employees in the Corporate Center was mainly due
to the reassignment of IT specialists previously assigned to the
divisions. Consolidation effects did not play a role in 2022, as
no external companies were acquired and no Group companies
were sold.

20.6% of the employment growth (147 people) in 2022 was
attributable to our Group companies in Poland. In the ranking
of countries with the largest number of employees, Poland is in
fourth position with 1,485 employees, virtually identical with the
United States (1,487). Germany ranks first with 8,853 employees
and a share of 47.8% of the Group’s workforce, followed by China
with 2,527 employees and a share of 13.6%.

2.18 — EMPLOYEES BY DIVISION (DECEMBER 31)

2.4% Corporate Center

Paint and Final
Assembly Systems 29.4%

Woodworking

Machinery and
40.6% Systems o
Application
Technology 11.0%

Measuring and Clean Techno-

9.2% Process Systems [ - logy Systems  7.4%

2022 2021 2020
Paint and Final Assembly Systems 5,439 5,258 4,383
Application Technology 2,040 2,026 2,162
Clean Technology Systems 1,363 1,381 1,348
Measuring and Process Systems' 1,707 1,652 1,407
Woodworking Machinery and Systems' 7,525 7,164 6,942
Corporate Center 440 321 283
Total 18,514 17,802 16,525

" With effect from January 1, 2022, the Tooling business was transferred from Woodworking
Machinery and Systems to Measuring and Process Systems. The figures for 2021 have been
adjusted compared with the disclosure in the 2021 annual report. The figures for 2020 have
not been adjusted.
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2.19 — EMPLOYEES BY REGION (DECEMBER 31)

Asia (without China),
7.4%

13.6% China

Africa, Australia
14.6% Americas

Europe
16.5% (without Germany)

Germany 47.8%

2022 2021 2020
Germany 8,853 8,643 7,931
Europe (without Germany) 3,060 2,888 2,638
Americas 2,703 2,511 2,229
China 2,527 2,488 2,434
Asia (without China), Africa, Australia 1,371 1,272 1,293
Total 18,514 17,802 16,525
2.20 — KEY FIGURES FOR EMPLOYEES
2022 2021 2020

Number of employees (Dec. 31) 18,514 17,802 16,525

of whom apprentices and students

at universities offering work-study

programs (Dec. 31) 500 505 425
Proportion of female employees
(Dec. 31) (%) 17 17 16
Employees working part-time (Dec. 31) 696 633 573
Employees with fixed-term contracts
(Dec. 31) 467 203 166
Number of external employees
(temporary work] (Dec. 31) 1,171 856 724
Average length of service [years) 1 1 12
Employee turnover (%) 11.3 9.7 9.5
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OUR WORKFORCE

Open-mindedness and diversity are key components of our
corporate culture. The average age of our employees is 42.
Across the Group, 32% of employees are under 35 years of age;
the proportion of this age group is particularly high in China, at
40%. Germany has the oldest workforce with an average age of
44 years. 45% of our employees have a university degree, while
50% have chosen non-academic vocational training. Most of our
employees - namely 26% - work in assembly and manufacturing.
More than 3,000 (16%) are employed in service worldwide. 10%
of our employees take care of administrative tasks and our
IT infrastructure. Further personnel figures can be found in
—>table 2.20.

EMPLOYEE SATISFACTION AND RETENTION

Satisfied and motivated employees are an important basis of our
company’s success. We therefore assess the satisfaction of our
employees and implement improvement measures if required.

Responsibility and organization

The central Corporate Human Resources department is
responsible for the Group-wide recording of employee satisfaction
levels. Employees’ needs are discussed at the individual Group
sites between senior management, HR departments, employee
representatives, and the respective employees.

Processes and measures

We usually measure the satisfaction of our employees every
three years with the help of global surveys. If strikingly negative
results occur in certain organizational units, we use them to
derive improvement measures and review the implementation and
success of the measures through follow-up surveys.

The most recent survey of our employees was conducted in 2019.
A new survey was planned as per regular schedule for September
2022. However, due to the coronavirus pandemic, we were not able
to ensure at that time that all employees worldwide would, in fact,
be included in the same way. This affected our employees in China,
among others. In addition, the significance and comparability of
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the results would have been limited if a survey had been conducted
under the given circumstances, which is why the survey was
postponed until September 2023. We normally conduct random
pulse surveys on focus topics at least once a year, usually
addressing issues from the global employee survey. Since this
survey could not take place in 2022, we did not conduct any pulse
surveys either.

We promote the satisfaction and retention of our employees
through performance-related remuneration, further training
and career opportunities, flexible working time models, and the
possibility of mobile working, as well as through offers in the areas
of work-life balance, sports, health, and culture. The majority of
our German Group companies is covered by collective agreements.
In 2022, collective bargaining was additionally introduced at five
German production companies of HOMAG; negotiations for further
HOMAG production companies are ongoing.

We are convinced that job satisfaction and loyalty depend to
a large extent on a company’s values and goals, as well as on
its contribution to society and its purpose. In 2022, we took a
close look at this and developed a new corporate statement for
the Dirr Group as part of the OneVision project. With strong
employee participation - over 800 employees had their say - we
developed a new set of values and forward-looking statements
for mission, vision, and purpose. The focus is on concepts such
as sustainability, efficiency, and technology leadership, but also
courage, responsibility, respect, collaboration, and curiosity. As
part of a change process, we want to familiarize the workforce with
the vision, mission, purpose, and values in 2023 and establish the
new corporate statement as a guideline for future action.

In October 2022, a uniform ideas management system was
introduced under the name of “Spark,” enabling employees of all
German sites to enter suggestions for improvement via an online
platform. As of December 31, 2022, 649 ideas had already been
submitted. The platform stimulates exchange across departments
and locations, creating more transparency. At the same time, the
opportunity for employees to participate is intended to strengthen
their identification with the Company. In the future, “Spark” is to
be made available worldwide.
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Goals and next steps

2.21 — GOALS AND NEXT STEPS: EMPLOYEE SATISFACTION
AND RETENTION

Degree of target
Target achievement
year (as of: Dec. 31, 2022)

Conduct a Group-wide survey of our employees
with the goal of improving our 2019 results and
once again outperform the industry average 2023 oooo

Group-wide roll-out of vision, mission, purpose,
and values 2023 oooo

Continuation of the Group-wide roll-out of the
“Spark” ideas management system 2023 mooo

mmnn = fully met
EOO0/mE00/mEmo = in progress
oooo = in planning

PEOPLE DEVELOPMENT AND FURTHER TRAINING

The success of our Company depends to a large extent on qualified
personnel and prudent management. That is why we attach great
importance to further training and development opportunities.
Our individual people development and training programs are
designed to prepare our employees properly for new tasks, to
ensure the availability of well-qualified managers, and to promote
the development of young, skilled personnel and young leaders
from the Company’s own ranks.

Responsibility and organization

In the Dirr Group, overall responsibility for human resources
lies with Corporate Human Resources. A company directive
governs cooperation between Corporate Human Resources,
the HR departments of the three subgroups, and the local
HR managers. As part of Corporate Human Resources, the
Corporate People Development department is responsible for the
Group-wide management and coordination of people development
and further training.

Guidelines, processes, and measures

Structures and processes of people development are regulated
by a company directive. The software-supported personnel
development process “People Development” helps us identify
and develop potential managers within the Company and make the
best possible use of young talent. At annual people development
conferences on various levels of the Group, staff responsible
for people development and managers communicate about the
advancement of high-potential employees and about succession
planning.
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In 2022, we developed new processes for performance and talent
management in Group-wide subprojects that will be used in the
future. We also developed and adopted a new skills model for
managers and employees, in which we describe cross-disciplinary
skills that are required to optimally support our Group strategy, for
example innovative strength and communication.

As a Group-wide platform for further training, the Dirr Group
Academy (DGA) pools all further training offers and is available
in 12 languages. Internally organized training programs on topics
such as leadership, working methods, collaboration, as well as
IT and digitalization can be accessed online by most employees.

Most of our further training events in 2022 took place virtually. We
registered approximately 73,000 online attendances (previous year:
just under 42,000). The increase is mainly due to the approximately
28,000 participants in the mandatory online safety training due in the
year under review, as well as the need to catch up on qualifications
following coronavirus-related cancellations in previous years. Most
of the training courses that promote communication, the exchange
of experience, and team development were held as in-person
events. With over 6,000 participants worldwide, the attendance at
in-person training sessions increased again significantly (previous
year: over 3,500). Overall, the participation rate was 4.3 training
sessions per employee (previous year: 2.5). As in the previous year,
specialized training events accounted for almost one-third of all
attendances.

We have expanded the use of digital learning formats. All
employees have access to numerous online courses at any time
via the LinkedIn Learning platform. As of December 31, 2022, 8,558
employees were registered there. Learning time spent on LinkedIn
Learning totaled 10,492 hours. In 2022, the Digital Training Days
week was hosted again. In short online courses, around 4,400
employees found out how to use collaborative Office applications
in their daily work routines. We also promote collaboration,
networking, and knowledge sharing through the Working Out Loud
(WOL) project, which was continued in 2022.

We have expanded our international corporate training events.
1,806 employees (previous year: 1,188) attended best-practice
training courses on project management, sales, and leadership
as well as qualification programs for prospective and experienced
managers. The Fit for Leadership Program combines international
online sessions with local in-person events. In 2022, 221 future
executives attended (previous year: 179). The Advanced Leadership
Program was used by 68 experienced managers (previous year: 41).
In the Leadership Project Management Program, 89 project
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managers improved their leadership skills. With our cross-
location change simulation game and various coaching sessions,
we trained our managers in dealing with change.

The Diirr Group Graduate Program is open to university graduates
who want to join the Company as trainees in four specialized fields:
technology & innovation, software engineering & data science,
finance, and sales & service.

Goals and next steps

2.22 — GOALS AND NEXT STEPS: PEOPLE DEVELOPMENT
AND FURTHER TRAINING

Degree of target
Target achievement
year (as of: Dec. 31, 2022)

Intensifying the use of the online learning
platform LinkedIn Learning 2022 [T

Redesign of the global performance
management process’ 2022 mmmm

Revision of the Group-wide talent management
process? 2022 mmmm

Piloting of the new talent management

processes? in the new HR IT system 2023 [ Ialala)
Implementing talent pools and corresponding
talent programs 2023 oooo

mmum = fully met
EOO0/mE0D/mEmo = in progress
oooo = in planning

' The performance management process includes, among other things, skills assessment and
development dialog between manager and employee.

2 The talent management process includes, among other things, the allocation of high potentials
and high performers to talent pools, their development, and Group-wide succession planning.

RECRUITING OF EMPLOYEES

Filling vacancies is becoming increasingly challenging, due to
the competition for well-trained staff as well as for demographic
reasons. It is thus all the more important for us to continue to
position ourselves as an attractive employer. In 2022, 2,439 new
employees were hired, 34% more hires than in the previous year
(1,815). In addition to the usual employee turnover, the main
reason for the increase was the growing volume of business,
which required the recruitment of additional employees.
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In order to stand out in the labor market, we use our attractive
employer profile as well as our image as an innovative and digitally
oriented company. We approach potential candidates at university
and graduate fairs, through our careers page on the internet, and
through online job boards. We continue to expand our employer
presence in social media. For example, HOMAG operates channels
on Instagram and YouTube as well as a podcast for apprentices. We
have postponed the revision of our brand presence as an employer,
originally planned for 2022, to 2023 in order to be able to take into
account the results of the OneVision project outlined above. We
will not complete the introduction of an integrated HR platform
as part of the OneDirrGroup program, which includes uniform
recruiting processes for the subgroups, until 2023.

Students who are about to enter the job market can gain practical
experience in our company in the form of internships, work
experience, and opportunities to complete their theses. In 2022,
we hosted 340 young people (previous year: 313). Our talent pool
for students allows us to keep in touch with young talented people
and hire them as employees for our company at a later date.

Our reputation as an attractive employer is underscored by
independent awards and rankings:

= Kununu Top Company: We have achieved average scores of 3.9
(Dirr Systems), 4.1 (Schenck), and 3.5 ([HOMAG) on the Kununu
evaluation platform. The industry average is 3.5 (possible top
score: 5).

Top career opportunities rated by “Deutschland Test” and the
German magazine FOCUS Money: Dirr Systems received the
best possible score of 100 points, ranking first in mechanical
and plant engineering.

Stern Germany’s Best Employers: In the employer ranking
published by German magazine Stern, Diirr Systems achieved
the 4th place in the mechanical and plant engineering sector.

- Fair Company: This quality seal confirms that we do not

hire graduates for internships and that internships are paid
appropriately.
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VOCATIONAL TRAINING

We offer young people a diverse training program, which includes
19 professions, plus 13 work-study programs. We employed -
mainly in Germany - 500 apprentices and students in work-study
programs (previous year: 505); of these, 57% were employed by
HOMAG companies. The training rate in the Dirr Group was 2.7%
(previous year: 2.8%). In 2022, we revised and standardized the
training assessment system for all German training locations
in order to roll it out successively across the Group in 2023. At
the beginning of 2023, we also launched the introduction of new
training management software at the pilot sites in Bietigheim-
Bissingen, Darmstadt, and Schopfloch. The new system is to be
rolled out to all other German locations in mid-2023. We rely on the
model of in-company training abroad. At our US site in Southfield,
we are a cooperation partner of the work-study program Michigan
Advanced Technician Training (MATZ).

According to a study conducted by the business magazine Capital,
the Group companies Dirr Systems, Schenck RoTec, HOMAG, and
Teamtechnik again ranked among Germany’s best trainers in
2022. On Kununu, we achieved a very good average rating of 4.3
out of a maximum of 5 points across all training locations (previous
year: 4.5).

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

Our aim is to preserve and promote the health and safety of all
persons affected by our business activities. Irrespective of national
laws, the Dirr Group’s goal is to achieve a minimum standard of
health protection and occupational safety that meets the needs of
offices, production, and construction sites worldwide.

Responsibility and organization

A cross-functional team is responsible for the Group-wide
implementation of the health and safety strategy “Striving for
Excellence in Safety”, the head of which reports to the CEO. In
addition, the members of the Board of Management receive
monthly information on current issues and any accidents. Accident
statistics, major accidents, and serious (near) accidents are also
regularly discussed at meetings of the Dirr Management Board.
The Cross Functional Health & Safety Lead Team consists of
the health and safety managers of the three subgroups and is
supported by local health and safety managers who implement
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2.23 — RESPONSIBILITY AND ORGANIZATION IN THE AREA
OF HEALTH AND SAFETY

CEO Diirr AG

R

informs and reports
about activities

Health & Safety Director

« .
Diirr Systems

inform

Health & Safety Director

C te Health
orporate Hea Schenck

& Safety Leader »
coordinates

Health & Safety Director

HOMAG
M M
chairs set strategy, goals,

and measures

Cross Functional
Health & Safety Lead Team

Corporate Health & Safety Manager

Schenck HOMAG
2 M

report to coordinate and supervise

target achievement

Global Locations — operational implementation

our standards and processes on site. All managers are in charge
of conducting a proper risk assessment and implementing
appropriate measures to prevent injuries and occupational illness.
All employees must assume responsibility for their own safety and
that of others while at work.

The annual international meeting of all health and safety
managers in the Dirr Group was held virtually in 2022. Moreover,
the health and safety managers of the German locations met in
person to promote the implementation of the Group-wide health
and safety strategy.
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Guidelines

The principles of the health and safety strategy are set out in
a Group-wide policy. It encompasses general principles and
values as well as concrete specifications for eight focus topics,
such as emergency management and fire protection. Processes
and instructions pertaining to the policy are described in Group-
wide and subgroup-specific health and safety guidelines. They
define responsibilities and mandatory minimum standards. The
guideline of the Diirr Systems subgroup meets the requirements
of the IS0 45001 occupational safety standard, and a corresponding
adaptation is also in progress for the guidelines of the Schenck
and HOMAG subgroups.

Processes and measures

The occupational health and safety management system aims
to minimize the risk of damage to health and accidents in the
workplace. At Dirr Systems, 17 companies have an occupational
safety management system certified in accordance with IS0 45001,
at Schenck it is 5 companies. This means that around 8,000
employees already work for correspondingly certified companies.
For the German HOMAG companies, I1SO 45001 certifications are
planned for 2023. Regular inspections and internal audits, which
take place at least once a year, are designed to ensure that health
and safety guidelines and processes are being adhered to at
construction sites as well as at our plants and offices.

An important element of accident prevention is the mandatory
online safety training for all employees. The training sessions
consist of a foundation course for new employees and an annual
refresher course. In 2022, over 98% of all eligible employees
completed our health and safety training, which also included
our coronavirus protection measures (previous year: over
97%). Employees in particularly high-risk work areas, such as
warehouses, logistics, assembly, commissioning, or technical
centers, receive activity-specific in-depth training. Some
of the training courses were converted to online formats in
2022. Managers receive regular training on their duties and
responsibilities for occupational safety. By providing regular
information via the Company intranet, we aim to further raise
awareness of occupational health and safety issues. In the event
of emergencies while traveling, our employees are supported by
a professional emergency management service.

In 2022, protecting employees from coronavirus infections was once
again the dominant issue for health and safety managers. We were
once again able to prevent uncontrolled outbreaks of infection at
our locations. The COVID-19 task force, which makes Group-wide
decisions on how to deal with the coronavirus, remained in place.
Our employees were informed about the Company’s protective
measures on the intranet.
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We organize health days and fitness courses for employees,
especially at our German locations. After the pandemic-related
restrictions of previous years, some of the offerings were held as
in-person courses again in 2022. The Group-wide sick leave rate
was 3.9% in 2022 (previous year: 2.7%).

Performance indicators

2.24 — KEY FIGURES FOR OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY

2022 2021 2020
Number of work-related accidents!
per thousand employees (including
external staff, excluding commuting
accidents) 15.7 10.3 9.2
Work-related accidents' per 1 million
hours worked (including external
staff, excluding commuting accidents) 8.2 53 4.7
Work-related accidents’ resulting
in death - internal staff 0 0 0
Work-related accidents’ resulting
in death - external staff 0 1 1

" A work-related accident is an incident which requires at least medical treatment.

We will continue to carry out our prevention work and to thoroughly
examine the causes of accidents. Moreover, we are reviewing
additional possibilities to help us increase occupational health
and safety even further.

Goals and next steps

2.25 — GOALS AND NEXT STEPS: OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND
SAFETY

Degree of target
Target achievement
year (as of: Dec. 31, 2022)

Group-wide maximum of 10 work-related

accidents per thousand employees per year ongoing?® mmmo

Recording, thorough analysis, and global
reporting of at least 70% of near misses that

occurred in the year’ ongoing® [TTT]

Performance and documentation of at least

500 safety audits annually worldwide ongoing?® [T

1S0O 45001 certification of all companies in
the Dirr Systems, Schenck, and HOMAG?
subgroups with operational value creation
and sales of at least €10 million per year 2024 [TT T

munm = fully met
EOO0/mm00/mmmo = in progress or partly met
oood=in planning

" Major near misses only

2 German companies only
3 The degree of target achievement is given for the year 2022.
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We were unable to achieve our Group-wide target of a maximum
of 10 work-related accidents per 1,000 employees per year in
2022. One reason for this is the higher number of minor work-
related accidents, which can be attributed to the increased
business volume and more hours worked, particularly in the
HOMAG subgroup. The HOMAG Group plans on having its German
companies certified in accordance with the ISO 45001 occupational
safety standard in 2023, which is expected to lead to improvements
in occupational safety. The certification of all major companies of
the Diirr Systems and Schenck subgroups according to 1SO 45001
is to be completed by 2024.

Environment and climate
protection

Our overarching objective is to reduce environmental and climate
impacts associated with our business activities. This relates not
only to the production sites, but also to the entire value chain,
whose individual segments have varying degrees of impact on
our environmental footprint. To improve our environmental and
climate balance, we aim to continuously reduce the consumption of
materials, resources, and energy, the volume of waste generated,
and greenhouse gas emissions in relation to sales.

In 2022, our focus was on implementing the Group-wide climate
strategy with which we aim to contribute to the 1.5°C target of
the Paris Climate Agreement. Our climate targets have been
scientifically validated by the Science Based Targets initiative
(SBTi). We have implemented measures to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions at numerous sites in Germany and abroad, for example
the installation of photovoltaic systems, the conversion to green
electricity, and the expansion of the charging infrastructure for
battery-powered vehicles.

Responsibility and organization

The Corporate Environmental Committee (CEC) is responsible
for the strategic direction and management of all environmental
activities. It consists of the persons responsible for management
and environmental management systems in the three subgroups
and the Corporate Sustainability department, the head of which
reports directly to the CEO. The CEC provides recommendations
on relevant environmental aspects to the Sustainability Council,
defines targets, and derives corresponding fields for action. It has
been meeting quarterly since September 2022 to enable regular
coordination between the subgroups and to drive forward the
implementation of the climate strategy. The main responsibility
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2.26 — RESPONSIBILITY AND ORGANIZATION IN THE AREA
OF ENVIRONMENT

CEO Diirr AG

A
~

report to

Corporate Environmental Committee (CEC)

Corporate Sustainability

HOMAG

Schenck

set goals and measures report to

Global Locations — operational implementation

for environmental issues lies with the management of our local
companies, which are subject to site-specific environmental
action plans.

In October 2022, an international meeting of all the Group’s
environmental managers was held for the first time. Climate
strategy and goals were presented once again, and the participants
discussed best practice examples as well as environmental and
climate protection measures.

Guidelines

A policy on the environment and climate describes our
understanding of environmentally sustainable, climate-friendly
management and serves as a basis for our actions. It applies
to all Group companies worldwide, was fundamentally revised
in 2022 and since then has also taken into account the issues of
climate strategy, energy efficiency, and the expansion of the use of
renewable energies. With regard to our products and services, we
have defined concrete principles for improving the environmental
properties of our products - particularly in the use phase - and
substantiated the Dirr Group’s contribution to the circular
economy. Also in 2022, we updated our Germany-wide vehicle
policy, which accelerates the switch to fully electric vehicles. At
the beginning of 2023, we also adopted a Germany-wide guideline
for sustainable construction in the Dirr Group.
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Processes and measures

With the help of certified environmental and energy management
systems, we are reducing the environmental impact at our
production sites. We have set ourselves the goal of obtaining
certification for the environmental management systems of
all locations with production or assembly facilities or with a
technical center and where hazardous substances are regularly
handled. These certifications are based on the environmental
management standard ISO 14001. Almost 60% of the relevant
locations are already certified according to this standard. Our
German sites regularly conduct energy audits or have a certified
energy management system according to I1SO 50001. An overview
of certifications held can be found at www.durr-group.com under
Sustainability/Documents, Ratings, Certificates.

2.27 — CERTIFICATION

2022 2021 2020
Sites with environmental
management certified to ISO 14001" 28 21 18
Sites with energy management
certified to 1ISO 50001 or similar 19 112 112

' Sites used by several companies of the Diirr Group sometimes hold multiple certificates.
2 Only sites with an energy management system according to SO 50001 were considered.

The starting point for our climate protection activities is the
Group-wide climate strategy. In order to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions in our own operations (Scope 1 and Scope 2] and in
the upstream and downstream value chain (Scope 3], we take
measures in six areas: energy, awareness, mobility, logistics,
procurement, and products. In the following, we describe our
progress in the individual areas.

ENVIRONMENTAL FOOTPRINT OF OUR PRODUCTS

We aim to reduce the environmental impact and climate effects
caused by the use of our products. The “EU Taxonomy” — page 42
section describes the extent to which our business activities
contribute to achieving the EU’s environmental objectives.

Our climate strategy includes the target of reducing emissions
from the downstream value chain (Scope 3) by at least 15% by
2030 compared to the 2019 base-year level. This depends to a
large extent on the willingness of customers to use the resource-
conserving, energy-efficient, and low-emission technologies we
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offer. In addition, emissions from our machines and systems can
be reduced considerably if green electricity is used for operation
instead of gas and conventional electricity. Therefore, the electri-
fication of our products is one focus of our R&D agenda.

According to our greenhouse gas balance, our products’ use phase
emissions represent by far the largest share of our total emissions
(Scope 3.11). Our greatest leverage for reducing emissions thus
lies in optimizing the energy consumption of our machines and
systems. We will publish detailed information on our Scope 3
emissions in the Sustainability Report, which will be released in
mid-2023.

ENVIRONMENTAL FOOTPRINT IN
THE SUPPLY CHAIN

Climate aspects in the supply chain are a central issue for us. Even
though the share of our greenhouse gas emissions attributable
to the supply chain (upstream value chain) is lower than the
share attributable to the use phase of our machines and systems
(downstream value chain), the supply chain is still important for
reducing emissions. We have therefore set ourselves the target
of reducing emissions from the upstream value chain (Scope 3)
by at least 15% by 2030 compared to the 2019 base-year level. We
are working on a Group-wide concept to take the environmental
impact of our suppliers into account in our purchasing
processes. For our high-risk suppliers, we use self-assessment
questionnaires throughout the Group that include, among other
things, information on environmental management certification.
Furthermore, all suppliers of the Dirr Group are contractually
obliged to comply with environmental laws and standards, based
on our Supplier Code of Conduct. In addition, potential high-risk
suppliers have been required to complete an e-learning module
on the topic of sustainability since 2022. Among other things, it
provides information on the Dirr Group’s climate strategy and our
expectations from business partners regarding compliance with
environmental and climate protection standards. From 2023, the
concept is to be complemented by a program that offers financial
incentives for business partners using climate-friendly processes.

In logistics, we are planning measures to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions from 2023. For example, we want to avoid transport by
air freight wherever possible and choose low-emission means of
transport in the future. The carbon footprint of logistics partners
will also play a role when awarding future contracts.
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OPERATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL FOOTPRINT

We record consumption of energy and resources as well as
emissions throughout the Group and implement measures
to reduce consumption and emissions following an economic
efficiency audit. As an engineering company — page 262, we have
a vertical depth of production of around 40%. This means that a
large part of the energy-, material-, and resource-intensive value
creation takes place outside our own business area.

Greenhouse gas emissions directly attributable to the Dirr Group
(Scope 1 and Scope 2) amounted to just under 28,000 tons of COse
emissions in 2022. This represents a 43% reduction compared to
the previous year (approximately 48,000 tons) and a 51% reduction
compared to the 2019 base-year level. The emissions result mainly
from site operations and the purchase of energy. The climate
strategy includes the target of reducing the environmental
footprint of our locations worldwide by 70% by 2030 (compared to
the 2019 base-year level).

In 2022, we already implemented various measures to reduce
our Scope 1 and 2 emissions. For example, we commissioned
photovoltaic systems at our sites in Bietigheim-Bissingen,
Schopfloch, Holzbronn, Shanghai, and Barcelona. In this way, we
generated a total of 2,669 MWh of electricity in 2022 using our own
photovoltaic systems, of which we used approximately 70% for our
own consumption. Furthermore, we have converted the locations
in Germany, India, Canada, Mexico, Brazil, and the United States
to green electricity. We aim to convert our remaining locations in
2023. Since the beginning of 2022, we have been using natural gas
as a bridging technology for supplying heat in Germany, which is
made carbon-neutral by means of externally audited certificates
from our energy supplier. However, our long-term goal is to
gradually minimize gas consumption and switch to alternative
technologies. Further emission reductions are to be achieved
through the successive conversion of the entire company vehicle
fleet in Germany to alternative drives by 2030 at the latest.

To support the achievement of our environmental and climate
targets, we organized a three-day ideas campaign at our German
locations in November 2022. More than 700 employees took part
and submitted a total of 350 suggestions for greater sustainability.
We used the new “Spark” ideas management platform for this
campaign. We also strengthen the environmental and climate
awareness of our employees through communication measures
on the intranet and through sustainability training, for example
for new employees or prospective managers.
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Performance indicators

Since 2021, we have calculated our greenhouse gas emissions
in accordance with the Greenhouse Gas Protocol. The Scope
2 emissions published are based on specific information from
our energy providers (market-based). We will publish detailed
information on the Scope 3 emissions in the Sustainability Report
2022, which will be released in mid-2023.

2.28 — KEY FIGURES FOR ENERGY CONSUMPTION AND
ENERGY INTENSITY

2022 2021 20207 20191
Energy consumption
(in MWh)
Heating oil and gas 64,633 67,926 66,148 66,310
Electricity from con-
ventional sources 30,909 49,974 50,956 57,976
Purchased electric-
ity from renewable
energies 25,982 4,656 3,235 3,768
Self-used electricity
from own generation? 7,018 - - -
District heating 8,334 5,108 3,986 3,772
Total 136,876 127,665 124,326 131,825
Energy intensity
(consumption in MWh
per €1 million in sales)
Heating oil and gas 15.0 19.2 19.9 16.9
Electricity from con-
ventional sources 7.2 14.1 15.3 14.8
Purchased electric-
ity from renewable
energies 6.0 1.3 1.0 1.0
Self-used electricity
from own generation? 1.6 - - -
District heating 1.9 1.4 1.2 1.0
Total 31.7 36.1 37.4 33.6
Energy consumption
indexed
(in relation to sales;
base year: 2019 = 100)
Heating oil and gas 89 114 118 100
Electricity from con-
ventional sources 48 96 104 100
Purchased electric-
ity from renewable
energies 627 137 101 100
Self-used electricity
from own generation?® - - - -
District heating 201 150 125 100
Total 94 107 11 100

" Adjustments due to recalculation on the basis of the Greenhouse Gas Protocol

2 Data only collected since 2022, therefore no adjustment of previous year's figures.

2 Since we have only been using self-generated electricity since 2022, a comparison with
previous years or indexation is not possible.
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2.29 — KEY FIGURES FOR CO,e EMISSIONS AND CO,e INTENSITY

2022 2021 20202 20192

C0,e emissions [in t)

Scope 1: Direct emissions
(heating oil, gas, and vehicle
fleet) 17,825 25,553 25,260 28,034

Scope 2: Indirect emissions’
(electricity, district heating) 9,937 22,819 24,099 28,649

27,762 48,372 49,359 56,683

Total Scope 1 and 2 emissions

Scope 3: Other indirect
emissions (business flights)? 7,482 5,151 5,024 15,158

CO.e intensity
(in t per €1 million in sales)

Scope 1: Direct emissions
(heating oil, gas, and vehicle
fleet) 4.13 7.23 7.60 7.15

Scope 2: Indirect emissions!
(electricity, district heating) 2.30 6.45 7.25 7.31

Scope 3: Other indirect
emissions (business flights)3 1.73 1.46 1.51 3.87

C0.e emissions indexed
(in relation to sales; base year:
2019 =100)

Scope 1: Direct emissions
(heating oil, gas, and vehicle
fleet) 58 101 106 100

Scope 2: Indirect emissions'
(electricity, district heating) 32 88 99 100

Scope 3: Other indirect
emissions (business flights)3 45 38 39 100

" Market-based: Calculation based on specific information from our energy providers

2 Adjustments due to recalculation on the basis of the Greenhouse Gas Protocol

% Scope 3 emissions shown here only take into account emissions from business flights, not
emissions caused in the supply chain or by the use of our products in customers’ plants.

Compared to 2021, energy consumption has increased by around
7%, which is significantly less than the increase in sales (22%).
Accordingly, energy intensity has decreased significantly: Per
€1 million in sales, we used 12.2% less energy than in 2021.
Consumption of oil and gas (mainly natural gas) decreased by 5%
compared to the previous year. Electricity consumption increased
by 17%. It should be considered that more than half of the
electricity came from renewable energy sources - in the previous
year, the figure was just under 9%. A key factor in the improvement
was the fact that we increased our purchase of green power more
than fivefold and at the same time covered 11% of our electricity
requirements through in-house generation. By contrast, the use
of conventionally generated electricity fell by 38%.
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Compared to the previous year, our Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions
decreased by 43%. Compared to the 2019 reference year, the
decrease was 51%, thus exceeding our target of a 40% reduction
compared to 2019. A key reason for the significantly lower CO,
emissions in 2022 was the improved energy mix with reduced use
of fossil fuels and a higher proportion of green electricity. The CO,
emissions from business flights included in Scope 3 increased
compared to the previous two years. It should be considered that
travel in 2020 and 2021 was severely limited by the coronavirus
pandemic. Compared to 2019, emissions resulting from business
flights fell by a good half, as we replaced travel with virtual
meetings to some extent.

2.30 — OTHER ENVIRONMENTAL INDICATORS

2022 2021 2020 2019
Water, waste water, and
waste - absolute
Water consumption (m3) 191,761 175,587 166,998 201,979
Waste water output (m3) 154,609 | 142,388 156,316 191,388
Waste volume (t) 11,145 10,556 9,725 12,235
of which recycled (t) 6,445 5,199 6,685 8,838
Water, waste water, and
waste intensity
Water consumption
(m3/€1 million sales) 44.5 49.6 50.2 51.5
Waste water output
(m3/€1 million sales) 35.8 40.3 47.0 48.8
Waste volume
(t/€1 million sales) 2.6 3.0 2.9 3.1
of which recycled
(t/€1 million sales) 1.5 1.5 2.0 2.3
Water, waste water, and waste
indexed
(in relation to sales;
base year: 2019 = 100)
Water consumption 86 96 98 100
Waste water output 73 82 96 100
Waste volume 83 96 94 100
of which recycled 66 65 89 100
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In 2022, water consumption increased by 9% and thus at a
disproportionately lower rate than sales. The volume of waste
grew by only 6%. Recycled waste increased by almost a quarter,
bringing its share of total waste volume to 58%. Water, waste
water, and waste intensity improved significantly compared to the
previous two years.

Goals and next steps

2.31 — GOALS AND NEXT STEPS:
ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE PROTECTION

Degree of target
Target achievement
year (as of: Dec. 31, 2022)

Revision of the Group-wide environmental and
climate policy 2022 mmmm

Revision of the Germany-wide vehicle policy to
promote the switch to fully electric vehicles 2022 mmmm

Expansion of global environmental
management certifications in accordance with
I1SO 14001 at our production and assembly
sites and all sites with technical centers and/or

hazardous substances ongoing’ [T
Definition of Group-wide reduction targets for

water consumption and waste volume 2023 oooo
Worldwide conversion to green electricity at

the locations 2023 [ 1 [=la}
Reduction of Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions

by at least 70% (compared to 2019 base-year

level] 2030 [ [ mim]
Reduction of Scope 3 emissions (upstream

and downstream value chain) by at least 15%

(compared to 2019 base-year level) 2030 oooo

mmnn = fully met
mOOC0/mmon/mmmo = in progress
oooo = in planning

" The degree of target achievement is given for the year 2022.
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Social commitment

Our social commitment is multifaceted and primarily takes place
in the neighborhoods around our sites. The four priorities are
education, sports, culture, and social affairs.

In 2022, we redefined the process for deciding on donations
throughout Germany. Requests for donations are reviewed and
granted by a donation committee. This consists of representatives
from various Group departments and meets as required.
Furthermore, we plan to promote the voluntary work of our
employees through donations. Their projects are presented as
part of the “Heroes after work” series of intranet articles, and
the corresponding organizations receive financial support. We will
adjust our donations policy accordingly in 2023.

In March 2022, the Dirr Group supported humanitarian aid
for people from Ukraine with a donation of €150,000 to Caritas
International. We continued our cooperation with UNICEF and
donated €60,000 as part of the Christmas campaign “Spenden statt
schenken” (“Donations instead of gifts”). The introduction of the
digital learning platform LinkedIn Learning was accompanied by
a donation of €30,000 for an education project in India. In February
2023, we made a donation of €150,000 for earthquake relief efforts
in Turkey and Syria.

2.32 — SOCIAL COMMITMENT OF THE DURR GROUP

Amount in € k 2022 2021 2020
Donations 819 740 360
Sponsorships 275 127 138
Total 1,094 867 498
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CORPORATE

GOVERNANCE

The German Corporate Governance Code contains rules
and recommendations for the responsible management and
supervision of listed companies. Our current Declaration of
Compliance (pursuant to Section 161 of the German Stock
Corporation Act (AktG]) dated October 5, 2022, relates to the
version of the Code published on June 27, 2022. This version differs
from the previous one mainly through its updates on the topic of
sustainability and on the implementation of the Financial Market
Integrity Strengthening Act. Prior to October 5, the Declaration
of Compliance signed on September 29, 2021, and its update of
June 3, 2022, applied; both were based on the version of the Code
dated March 20, 2020. We comply with all recommendations,
with two exceptions regarding the short/long-term incentive.
The full texts of our Declarations of Compliance are available at
www.durr-group.com under Investors/Corporate Governance/
Declaration on Corporate Governance.

Other information on
corporate governance

The full Declaration on Corporate Governance is available at
www.durr-group.com under Investors/Corporate Governance. To
avoid duplication, the management report only includes selected
content from the Declaration on Corporate Governance.

BOARD OF MANAGEMENT

On January 1, 2022, Dr. Jochen Weyrauch took over the position
of CEO at Dirr AG, prior to which he had been Deputy CEO. His
appointment has a term expiring on December 31, 2026. Dr.
Weyrauch succeeded Ralf W. Dieter, who had handed over his

2.33 — RESPONSIBILITIES WITHIN THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT IN 2022

Dr. Jochen Weyrauch
(CEO)

Dietmar Heinrich
(CFO)

Divisional/operational
responsibility

* Paint and Final Assembly Systems

* Application Technology

* Clean Technology Systems

* Woodworking Machinery and Systems

* Measuring and Process Systems
= OneDirrGroup programs

Corporate functions
+ Corporate Communications
* Corporate Development
+ Corporate Sustainability
* Purchasing
* Internal Auditing (until July 31, 2022)
* Corporate Compliance (until July 31, 2022)

+ Corporate Human Resources (Employee Affairs Director)

* Finance/Controlling/Internal Control System
+ Legal Affairs/Patents/Insurance

= Treasury

= Taxes

* Risk Management

* Investor Relations

= Global IT

» Internal Auditing (since August 1, 2022)

+ Corporate Compliance (since August 1, 2022)

70

ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Combined management report

Corporate governance: Other information on corporate governance

role as CEO in the interests of an orderly succession path and
left Dirr AG on December 31, 2021. During the year under review,
the Supervisory Board extended until September 30, 2026, the
appointment of CFO Dietmar Heinrich, who has been a member of
the Board of Management since August 2020.

SHAREHOLDINGS AND MANAGERS"®
TRANSACTIONS

We publish managers’ transactions, i.e. securities transactions
that have to be reported pursuant to Article 19 of the Market Abuse
Regulation (MAR], as soon as we are notified of them. An overview
is available at www.durr-group.com under Investors/Corporate
Governance.

As of December 31, 2022, the members of the Supervisory Board
held 0.12% of Durr AG’s shares and the members of the Board of
Management held 0.06% of the shares.

WOMEN IN EXECUTIVE POSITIONS: TARGETS
AND TARGET IMPLEMENTATION

We have fulfilled the legal requirements as follows:

= The Supervisory Board of Dirr AG has been including four
women since the 2016 elections. This corresponds to a
proportion of 33%, which fulfills the 30% minimum quota
required by law.

* The Board of Management of Dirr AG consists of two men. In
its resolution adopted on May 13, 2022, the Supervisory Board
formulated the target of appointing a woman to the Board
of Management by June 30, 2027, at the latest. In 2022, the
Supervisory Board carefully considered the option of expanding
the Board of Management but found no need to do so. The
Supervisory Board will continue to review this option going
forward. If it resolves to expand the Board of Management
in the future or if a successor for an existing member
needs to be appointed, the Supervisory Board will favor the
appointment of a woman provided that the requirements
in terms of qualification and personality are met. Until the
current Supervisory Board resolution became effective, the
corresponding resolution adopted in 2017 applied. This did not
contain a target for increasing the proportion of women on
the Board of Management since no new appointments were
envisaged at the time and the service contracts of the Board of
Management members had relatively long terms.

A

= The Board of Management's resolution adopted on June 2, 2022
sets out that, going forward, one woman is to be part of the first
senior management level below the Board of Management, and
two women are to be part of the second level. The deadline
for achieving these targets is June 30, 2027. As of December
31, 2022, there were no women at these first or second senior
management levels. The previous resolution adopted by the
Board of Management in 2017 had set the targets for the
proportion of women in senior management positions at 0%
for the first level and 20% for the second level below the Board
of Management. The deadline for achieving those targets was
June 30, 2022. At that time, the first senior management level
below the Board of Management consisted of ten men and no
women, while the second level comprised eight men and one
woman. When considering our target achievement, account
must be taken of the fact that Dirr AG, being a management
holding company, has a relatively small number of employees
and senior managers. Consequently, a single personnel
change can be equivalent to a change of over 10 percentage
points. Going forward, when selecting candidates for senior
management positions, we will focus more keenly on the
targeted appointment of women in order to achieve our goals.

DIVERSITY

No form of discrimination is tolerated at the Dirr Group, be it on
grounds of gender, age, religion, disease, background, skin color,
sexual orientation, or for any other reason. We consider diversity
and equal opportunities when hiring staff. Flexible working time
models which meet individual needs promote equal opportunities.
Given the international nature of our business, intercultural
diversity and tolerance are important values at the Dirr Group.

As stated above, the Supervisory Board seeks the appointment of a
woman to the Board of Management. In addition, when appointing
members to the Board of Management, the Supervisory Board
pays particular attention to professional and social skills as well
as to long-term experience in similar positions, in our industry
and in an international environment. Added to that are character
suitability and an appropriate educational background. Neither
nationality nor age at the time of employment is decisive in hiring
candidates. The general age limit for members of the Board of
Management is 63.
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DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 289A AND
315A OF THE GERMAN COMMERCIAL CODE (HGB)

= Structure of subscribed capital

Dirr AG’s subscribed capital is divided into 69,202,080 no-par
value bearer shares with full voting rights. The rights and
obligations associated with the shares are regulated by the
German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). In September 2020,
Dirr AG issued an unsubordinated, unsecured convertible
bond with a volume of €150 million, maturing on January 15,
2026. Under certain conditions, this convertible bond can be
converted into 4,512,418 new no-par value ordinary shares in
Dirr AG.

» Restrictions on voting rights/transfer of shares and

related agreements

The Board of Management is not aware of any agreements by
shareholders of Dirr AG which contain restrictions relating
to voting rights or the transfer of shares. Legal voting right
limitations exist, for example, pursuant to Section 44 (1) (breach
of disclosure obligations) of the German Securities Trading Act
(WpHG] as well as Section 71b (rights attaching to treasury
shares of stock) and Section 136 (1) (exclusion of voting rights
in the event of certain conflicts of interest) of the German Stock
Corporation Act (AktG).

= Direct or indirect shareholdings exceeding 10%

Heinz Dirr GmbH, Berlin, holds 26.2% of Diirr AG's capital stock
(as of: December 31, 2022).

+ Shares conferring special rights

There are no shares in Dirr AG that confer special rights.

» Control of voting rights if employees hold stock ownership

plans and control rights are not directly exercised
There are no employee stock ownership plans where the
control rights are not directly exercised by the employees.

* Rules governing the appointment and replacement of
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members of the Board of Management

The applicable statutory rules are set out in Sections 84 and 85 of
the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and in Section 31 of the
German Co-determination Act (MitbestG). Diirr AG's Articles of
Incorporation do not contain any provisions that diverge from the

statutory rules. Article 6 (1) of the Articles of Incorporation states
additionally that the Board of Management consists of at least
two members and that the appointment of deputy members of
the Board of Management is admissible. Article 6 (2) states that
the Supervisory Board may appoint one member of the Board
of Management to be the Chair of the Board of Management
and another member of the Board of Management to be the
Deputy Chair.

* Rules governing amendment of the Articles of Incorporation

Any changes in the Articles of Incorporation are adopted by way
of resolution at the annual general meeting. Unless otherwise
mandatorily specified in the German Stock Corporation Act,
the resolution is passed in accordance with Article 20 (1) of the
Articles of Incorporation by a simple majority of the votes cast
and - where a majority of the capital represented in the voting is
required - by a simple majority of the capital stock represented
in the voting. In accordance with Article 14 (4) of the Articles
of Incorporation, the Supervisory Board is authorized to carry
out amendments to the Articles of Incorporation which relate
only to the wording. Pursuant to Article 4 (4) and Article 5 of the
Articles of Incorporation, the Supervisory Board is authorized
upon utilization of the conditional or authorized capital to
amend the wording of the Articles of Incorporation to reflect
the extent of the utilization.

= Powers of the Board of Management to issue or buy back

shares
Information on this point may be found in — note 27 of the notes
to the consolidated financial statements.

» Agreements in the event of a change of control following

a takeover bid

Schuldschein loan: In the event of a change of control,
the lenders have the right, according to the terms of our
Schuldschein loan agreements, to demand redemption of the
Schuldschein loan. A change of control occurs if one person
or a majority of people acting in concert hold more than 50%
of the shares, can control more than 50% of the voting rights
and/or the company’s course of business, and/or has the
power to appoint more than 50% of the members of the Board
of Management. The lender of the Schuldschein loan has the
right to demand redemption within 30 days of the notification
of the change of control by the borrower. Redemption shall be
due by the next interest payment date.
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Syndicated loan: In accordance with the terms of our syndicated
loan agreement, no additional cash drawings or applications
for guarantees may be made in the event of a change of control.
In addition, any lender has the right to terminate its credit
commitments, which could result in the syndicated loan having
to be repaid in part or even in full. The agent representing the
interests of the banking syndicate must be informed about
a change of control immediately after it becomes known. A
change of control occurs if in total, directly or indirectly, more
than 50% of the voting rights in Diirr AG are held or controlled
by one or more persons who have come to an accord on the
exercise of voting rights or who collaborate in some other
manner with the aim of achieving a permanent and substantial
change in the business focus of Dirr AG.

Convertible bond: In the event of a takeover bid or a change of
control, the terms of the convertible bond entitle bondholders
to exercise their conversion right at the adjusted conversion
price (as defined in the terms of the convertible bond) within
a certain period of time. A change of control occurs if an
acquisition of control takes place or a mandatory offer is
published in accordance with Section 35 (2) (1), Section 14 (2) (1)
of the German Securities Acquisition and Takeover Act (WpUG).
An acquisition of control has occurred if one or several specific
persons acquire the direct or indirect, legal and/or economic
ownership of ordinary shares (Section 29 (2], Section 30 of
the German Securities Acquisition and Takeover Act (WpUG])
in Durr AG, which together grant 30% or more of the voting
rights. Furthermore, in the event of an acquisition of control or
a transferring merger (Section 2 or Section 122a of the German
Reorganization Act (UmwG)), the bond can be terminated (early)
by a bondholder in accordance with the terms defined in more
detail in the terms of the convertible bond.

Agreements providing for compensation in the event

of takeover bids

There are no agreements providing for compensation in the
event of takeover bids.
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Economic and sector environment

GLOBAL ECONOMY COOLING OFF IN 2022

With the previous year marked by a general recovery, the global
economy cooled off noticeably again in 2022. This was mainly
due to the war in Ukraine and the resulting economic fallout.
The far-reaching sanctions imposed on Russia triggered a sharp
decline in that country’s economic output. Persistent supply chain
problems, high inflation rates, and pandemic-related lockdowns
in China also exacerbated the economic downturn. Global gross
domestic product widened by only 3.4% in 2022, down from 6.2%
in the previous year. China’s economic growth slowed by around
5 percentage points compared to 2021, reaching 3.0%.

2.34 — GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT

Year-on-year change, % 2022 2021 2020
Global 3.4 6.2 -3.0
Germany 1.9 2.6 -3.7
Eurozone 3.5 5.3 -6.1
Russia -2.2 4.7 -2.7
United States 2.0 5.9 -3.4
China 3.0 8.4 2.2
India 6.8 8.7 -6.6
Japan 1.4 2.1 -4.6
Brazil 3.1 5.0 -3.9

Source: International Monetary Fund 01/2023
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The US Federal Reserve’s consistent interest rate hikes caused the
US dollar to appreciate considerably against the euro in the course
of 2022, with the European single currency temporarily slipping
to 0.96 US dollars at the end of September. Accordingly, the euro
traded below parity for the first time in 20 years, before stabilizing
above the one-dollar mark. At 1.0506, the average exchange rate
against the US dollar remained well short of the previous year.

2.35 — AVERAGE EXCHANGE RATES

€1 equals 2022 2021 2020
usD 1.0506 1.1813 1.1468
GBP 0.8546 0.8585 0.8894
JPY 138.1242 130.2933 121.8217
CNY 7.0871 7.6165 7.8985

Source: Commerzbank

CENTRAL BANKS INITIATED INTEREST RATE
TURNAROUND IN 2022

The current yield on government bonds and other fixed income
securities returned to positive territory in Germany in 2022,
climbing to 2.53% (2021: -0.1%). According to Deutsche Bank
calculations, the inflation rate surged, reaching new record
heights of 8.4% in the Eurozone and 8.2% in the United States
over the year as a whole. In response to the elevated inflation, the
relevant central banks initiated a decisive turnaround in interest
rates. Thus, the European Central Bank raised its base rate to
2.5% in four steps and also put an end to its multi-billion asset
purchasing operations. The U.S. Federal Reserve increased its key
interest rate to 4.5% in seven steps.
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Against the backdrop of the Russian war of aggression, the sharp
rise in energy prices, and mounting concerns over inflation, the
capital markets came under massive pressure at the beginning
of the year. The DAX hit a low for the year of under 12,000 points at
the end of September. Although it was subsequently able to regain
some lost territory, it closed 2022 down 12.3%.

INCREASE IN AUTOMOTIVE PRODUCTION DESPITE
MOUNTING UNCERTAINTY

After remaining very largely flat in the previous year due to
supply chain constraints, automotive production likewise grew
at only a fairly subdued pace in 2022 due to new concerns. The
still unresolved supply chain problems were exacerbated by the
outbreak of war in Ukraine, which caused additional shortfalls
along the value chains. In addition, the far-reaching pandemic-
induced lockdowns in China left traces on automotive production,
especially in the first half of 2022. Data provider LMC Automotive,
which specializes in automotive forecasting, had to increasingly
scale back its estimates for global light vehicle production over the
course of the year. After assuming growth of 12% to 85.8 million
units at the beginning of the year, it most recently downgraded its
estimate to 82.0 million units (+7%).

2.36 — PRODUCTION OF LIGHT VEHICLES

Million units 2022 2021 2020
Global 82.0 76.7 74.5
Western Europe 10.0 9.5 10.1
Germany 3.7 3.3 3.8
Eastern Europe 5.9 6.5 6.6
Russia 0.5 1.5 1.4
North America (incl. Mexico) 14.2 13.0 12.9
United States 9.7 8.9 8.6
South America 2.8 2.6 2.2
Brazil 2.2 2.1 1.9
Asia 46.9 43.3 40.8
China 26.0 24.3 23.1
Japan 7.4 7.4 7.8
India 5.1 4.1 3.2

Source: LMC 02/2023
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CONTRACTION IN MECHANICAL AND
PLANT ENGINEERING

After encouraging growth in the previous year, German
manufacturers of capital goods faced more muted conditions in
2022. Equipment spending in Germany increased by only around
2%. The diverse economic dislocations were also reflected in
order books for mechanical and plant engineering. The German
Mechanical and Plant Engineering Association (VDMA) estimated
that there was a 3% decline in price-adjusted order intake in the
sector; however, the companies continued to benefit from a solid
order backlog. After a subdued first half, machine production in
Germany climbed sharply in the following months, with the result
that full-year growth was slightly positive, coming to around 1%.

MORE MUTED DEMAND FOR WOODWORKING
MACHINERY

After a strong previous year, which saw growth of 21%, sales in the
secondary woodworking machinery segment expanded by only 2%
in 2022. Price-adjusted order intake declined by 5% year on year.
Given the increased cost of living, the boom year in 2021 gave way
to restraint on the part of buyers of new furniture. In addition, high
purchase prices and supply chain bottlenecks for timber caused
problems for the construction industry. Even so, sustainable
construction with timber remains a high priority for many builders.
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Explanatory notes on the figures

The charts and tables in this management report generally contain
IFRS figures for the years from 2020 through 2022.

EBIT

EBIT is defined as earnings before interest, income taxes, and
income from investments. The items eliminated from EBIT before
extraordinary effects are shown in — table 2.49.

REPORTING CONVENTIONS

Amendments to the IFRSs had only a minor impact on the
presentation of the Company’s economic position in 2022.
Relatively few reporting options are available under the IFRSs and
their utilization barely impacts our net assets, financial position,
and results of operations. In the case of important balance-
sheet items, we exercise options in such a way that the greatest
possible measurement continuity is preserved. We made use of all
reporting options in unchanged form in 2022. The use of specific
accounting policies exerted at most only a minor influence on the
presentation of the results of operation. Moreover, it is inconsistent
in many cases with our commitment to continuity and cross-period
transparency.

As of 2021, we recognize impairments and derecognitions of
trade receivables and contract assets within the cost of sales.
They were previously included in selling expenses. For the sake
of comparability, we have adjusted the corresponding figures for
2020 compared to the figures originally reported.

HOMAG GROUP AG: DOMINATION AND PROFIT
AND LOSS TRANSFER AGREEMENT

Under the terms of the domination and profit and loss transfer
agreement entered into between Dirr Technologies GmbH and
HOMAG Group AG, all of the net profit earned by the HOMAG Group
AG accrues to the Dirr Group. HOMAG Group AG’s non-controlling
shareholders (35.11% of the capital) are not entitled to a variable
dividend. Instead, they receive a guaranteed dividend of €1.01 per
share (net] for the duration of the domination and profit and loss
transfer agreement. In addition, a cash settlement offer of €31.56
per share has been offered. The interest expense arising from the
domination and profit and loss transfer agreement is recognized
within the Dirr Group’s financial result and came to €6.2 million
in 2022.
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In valuation proceedings, the non-controlling shareholders
of HOMAG Group AG are having the amount of the guaranteed
dividend and cash settlement reviewed in court. Under a ruling
by the Stuttgart Regional Court in August 2019, the guaranteed
dividend was to be increased to €1.03 per share [net) and the cash
settlement to €31.58. However, the ruling is not final as HOMAG
Group AG shareholders filed an appeal against it in October 2019.
Pending a decision by the Stuttgart Higher Regional Court, the
amounts originally set for the cash settlement and the guaranteed
dividend (€1.01 net and €31.56, respectively) continue to apply.

EFFECTS OF ACQUISITIONS

In 2022, there were no acquisitions other than the increase in the
share held in CPM S.p.A., which had already been fully consolidated.
In 2021, by contrast, five companies or equity interests had been
acquired. They were consolidated for the first full year in 2022 and
this must be borne in mind in a comparison with the previous
year's figures. The companies acquired in 2021 were:

» Teamtechnik Group (Paint and Final Assembly Systems, fully
consolidated from February 5, 2021)

= Cogiscan Inc. (Paint and Final Assembly Systems, fully
consolidated from February 15, 2021)

+ Kallesoe Machinery A/S (Woodworking Machinery and
Systems, fully consolidated from April 28, 2021)

» Hekuma GmbH (Paint and Final Assembly Systems, fully
consolidated from July 30, 2021)

* Roomle GmbH (Woodworking Machinery and Systems, fully
consolidated from August 13, 2021)

The periods in the previous year in which the acquired companies
had not yet been consolidated accounted for the following
cumulative amounts in 2022: order intake of €73.4 million, sales
of €46.8 million, and EBIT of €2.3 million.

Tooling business

Effective January 1, 2022, we transferred our tooling business,
which had previously been based in the Woodworking Machinery
and Systems division, to the Measuring and Process Systems
division. In 2021, these activities accounted for roughly 300
employees and sales of around €50 million. The corresponding
figures for 2021 were adjusted retroactively. Without this
adjustment, sales in fiscal year 2021 would have been around
€50 million lower for Measuring and Process Systems and around
€25 million higher for Woodworking Machinery and Systems.
No adjustments were made for 2020.
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As a result of the transfer of the tooling business, we also reported
intra-Group sales in the division figures as of fiscal year 2022.
These sales are subsequently eliminated at the consolidated
level. A substantial part of tooling business is attributable to the
intra-Group delivery of woodworking products to the Woodworking
Machinery and Systems division, which reports the resulting
external sales. Accordingly, tooling business with the wood
industry is included in the key figures for both Measuring and
Process Systems and Woodworking Machinery and Systems. There
are only minor intra-Group sales between the other divisions.

Impact of the war in Ukraine and
of the coronavirus pandemic

The war in Ukraine has so far left only minor traces on our
business. We are complying with all relevant sanctions imposed on
Russia. However, this has resulted in only limited losses in sales
and order intake due to the small volume of business concerned.
In 2021, Russia accounted for only 1.6% of the two performance
indicators. At less than 1% of sales and order intake, the share
of Ukrainian business, which has also been lost due to the war,
is negligible. Earnings came under pressure in 2022 as a result
of restructuring and the impairment losses recognized on assets
in Russia. This resulted in total expense of €7.0 million, which
primarily arose in the fourth quarter.

More significant than the direct effects of the war in Ukraine were
the indirect ones on conditions in our procurement and sell-side
markets. In many cases, the already high prices of materials
continued to climb, and additional supply chain bottlenecks arose.
These constraints resulted in unplanned additional expenses.
Moreover, rising energy prices fueled inflation even further,
placing a damper on consumer and capital spending.
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The burden on our business caused by the coronavirus pandemic
continued to ease in 2022 in most countries, although China proved
to be an exception. The lockdowns imposed there had a significant
impact on sales and earnings in the second quarter. Together with
the worsening procurement situation in the course of the war in
Ukraine, this forced us to adjust our original earnings forecast for
2022 at the beginning of May.

In the second half of the year in particular, the disruption caused
by the outbreak of war and the pandemic-related lockdowns in
China subsided again. In China, we were able to recoup a large
part of the sales and earnings that had been lost as a result of
the lockdowns. At the same time, China’s abandonment of its
strict Zero-Covid policy mitigated the risk of further lockdowns.
However, the increase in infection rates following the Chinese
government’s change of course brought with it new economic
risks. Further information on the effects of the pandemic and the
war in Ukraine can be found in the “Risk report” — page 104.

General statement by the
Board of Management and
target achievement

2022 was marked by significant macroeconomic upheavals and
severe political conflicts. In addition to the Russian attack on
Ukraine, these particularly include the ongoing supply chain
problems, the lockdowns in China and the high inflation rates.
However, the energy crisis and the tensions surrounding
Taiwan also unleashed considerable uncertainty. In this difficult
environment, the Dirr Group displayed pronounced resilience:
We were able to set new records in order intake and sales and
exceed the targets formulated in February 2022. Free cash flow
—> page 263 also exceeded the target, coming close to the previous
year's figure. At the same time, we stepped up the expansion of
our new growth segments Construction Elements Solutions,
Production Automation Systems, and Battery Production on the
basis of our solid core business. Detailed information on these
growth segments can be found in the chapter entitled “Strategy

and medium-term targets” — page 30.
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Order intake increased by 16.7% to €5,008.4 million, thus exceeding
the €5 billion threshold for the first time. One important reason for
the strong order growth was our focus on three fields offering high
potential for the future, which are of great strategic importance
for our customers: sustainability, e-mobility, and automation. 2022
showed that capital spending in these areas is continuing even
in the face of the economic headwinds, as they are crucial for
future competitiveness. We benefited from this long term focus
of our customers in 2022. As a result, we raised our order intake
forecast (originally €4,100 to €4,400 million) twice: once in August
to between €4,400 and €4,700 million and again in November to
between €4,800 and €5,100 million.

As expected, sales increased from quarter to quarter and, at
€4,314.1 million, slightly exceeded the target corridor defined in
February (€3,900 to €4,200 million). This marked a strong 22.0%
gain over the previous year, on which the pandemic had taken its
toll. Overall, we are very satisfied with our sales performance:
After a subdued start to the year, we were able to adapt more
and more efficiently to the disruptions along the supply chains; in
the second half of the year, we successfully harnessed the effects
of the nascent improvement in material sourcing to generate
higher sales.

Earnings as such fell short of our expectations. However, given
the extent of the exogenous shocks in 2022, we still consider
earnings performance to be positive. At 5.4%, the EBIT margin
before extraordinary effects reached the target range of 5.0% to
6.5% that had been set at the beginning of May. We had originally
formulated a target of 6.5% to 7.5% in February. We were forced
to adjust this forecast as the Ukraine war additionally caused
material prices to rise and exacerbated the supply chain situation,
while the lockdowns in China exerted a heavy strain on earnings
in the second quarter. We implemented new instruments and
measures in 2022 to shield ourselves from the effects of cost
inflation and to boost our profitability on a sustained basis. These
include, for example, price escalation clauses for major projects,
the “value before volume” sales strategy for plant engineering,
and the OneDirrGroup synergy program. Looking ahead to 2023,
we expect a significant improvement in earnings and are aiming
for an EBIT margin of at least 8% before extraordinary effects from
2024 onward.
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The net extraordinary expenses included in EBIT amounted to
€26.3 million and therefore matched the forecast of approximately
€25 million. As expected, the bulk of the extraordinary
expenses was attributable to purchase price allocation effects
(€-23.9 million). In addition, expenses of €7.0 million arose in the
fourth quarter for restructuring and the impairment of assets at
our Russian companies.

At €134.3 million, earnings after tax reached the target corridor
defined in May, rising by 58.1% over the previous year. They were
particularly underpinned by a significant improvement in financial
result. In the previous year, the financial result had included
non-recurring expenses arising from the renewal of the pool
agreement with the Schuler/Klessmann shareholder group, which
holds 14.05% of the shares in HOMAG Group AG.

At 17.3%, the ROCE — page 263 was above the previous year's figure
(15.5%) and reached the upper end of the target range, which
we had lowered to between 13% and 18% in May. The reduction
in this target was due to our revised EBIT forecast; despite the
significantly higher sales, there was only a moderate increase
of 5.0% in capital employed — page 263. The net working capital
included in this dropped slightly (by 2.8%) despite the higher sales
and inventories, as we received extensive prepayments as a result
of our high order intake.

We increased our capital spending by 28.5% compared to
the previous year, with the ongoing investment program at
Woodworking Machinery and Systems featuring particularly
predominantly. Even so, it accounted for only 3.2% of sales rather
than the projected 4.0% to 5.0% as some construction projects
were postponed due to the higher material costs.

Despite the higher capital spending, free cash flow — page 263
exceeded the target range and reached a high of €117.1 million. It
was underpinned by the higher absolute earnings, lower interest
payments, and our disciplined management of net working capital.
At €-46.4 million at the end of 2022, net financial status — page 263
was also slightly better than provided for in the forecast.
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2.37 — GROUP TARGET ACHIEVEMENT IN 2022

2022 target 2022 target

(Forecast of (Most recent

2021 act. 2022 act. February 24, 2022) forecast)

Order intake' € million 4,291.0 5,008.4 4,100 to 4,400 4,800 to0 5,100

Sales € million 3,536.7 4,314.1 3,900 to 4,200 3,900 to 4,200

EBIT margin? % 5.0 4.8 5.9t06.9 4.4105.9

EBIT margin before extraordinary effects? % 5.6 5.4 6.5t07.5 5.0t06.5

Earnings after tax? € million 84.9 134.3 130 to 180 100 to 150

ROCE? % 15.5 17.3 17to 21 13t0 18

Free cash flow € million 120.8 171 50 to 100 50 to 100

Net financial status (Dec. 31) € million -99.5 -46.4 -75t0-125 -75t0-125
Capital expenditure?® € million 107.8 138.5

% of sales 3.0 3.2 4.0t05.0 4.0t05.0

" Forecast raised on August 4, 2022, and on November 10, 2022
2 Forecast lowered on May 2, 2022

3 on property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, and right-of-use assets under leases (excluding acquisitions)

DIVISION TARGETS

In addition to the initial Group forecast, we also published the
annual targets for the five divisions on February 24, 2022. Various
adjustments were made to these in the quarterly statements
issued on August 4 and on November 10, 2022. The order intake
targets were raised in all divisions. However, the earnings targets
had to be scaled back in view of the lockdowns in China and
the consequences of the war in Ukraine. The sales target was
lowered for Measuring and Process Systems but raised for Clean
Technology Systems and Woodworking Machinery and Systems.
The following target achievement analysis compares the actual
figures with the targets specified on November 10, 2022.

With an order intake of €1,786.6 million, Paint and Final Assembly
Systems only just achieved the target range, that had been
significantly raised. It also reported the highest order volume
and the strongest growth in the Group. This performance was
particularly underpinned by the very strong third quarter. Sales
were somewhat higher than planned and exceeded the upper
end of the target corridor, while profitability easily reached the
target range. This was due to a wide EBIT margin of 6.8% before
extraordinary effects in the final quarter, which offset the slump in
earnings caused by the lockdowns in China in the second quarter.

Order intake in the Application Technology division exceeded the
target and reached a new record - here as well, the third quarter
was extremely strong. Sales also exceeded the target corridor
thanks to the strong growth in the second half of the year. The
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EBIT margin before extraordinary effects fell slightly short of the
target due to the fact the significant improvements in the third and
particularly also the fourth quarter failed to fully make up for the
pandemic-related setback in the second quarter.

In the final quarter, Clean Technology Systems posted a new record
in order intake, which significantly exceeded the full-year target
corridor. Sales also performed well, exceeding the target range
slightly. At 3.7%, the EBIT margin before extraordinary effects
pointed upward in the fourth quarter but remained below the full-
year target due to the increased cost of materials.

Order intake in the Measuring and Process Systems division was
slightly higher than expected thanks to a strong first quarter.
Sales reached the upper end of the target range, as the initially
severe material bottlenecks eased in the second half of the year,
resulting in higher sales. This had a positive impact on earnings
in the fourth quarter in particular, with the result that, despite the
pandemic-related impact on earnings in the spring, the division
reached its full-year margin target.

Woodworking Machinery and Systems came close to repeating the
record order intake registered in 2021 and reached the upper end
of the ambitious target corridor. This performance was driven by
an extremely strong first half of the year, while demand normalized
as expected in the second half. Sales exceeded the target range
slightly, rising to a new record high of €1,602.1 million. The EBIT
margin before extraordinary effects exceeded 7% in all four
quarters and, at 7.8%, reached the full-year target.
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2.38 — TARGET ACHIEVEMENT OF THE DIVISIONS 2022

Order intake Sales EBIT margin
(€ million) (€ million) before extraordinary effects (%)
2022 target 2022 target 2022 target
(Forecast of 2022 target (Forecast of 2022 target (Forecast of 2022 target
2022 February 24, (Most recent 2022 February 24, (Most recent 2022 February 24, (Most recent
act. 2022) forecast) act. 2022) forecast) act. 2022) forecast)
Paint and Final Assembly
Systems 1,786.6 1,350 to 1,500 1,800 to 1,950" 1,436.2 1,300to 1,400 1,300 to 1,400 4.0 4.3105.3 3.0 to 4.5%
Application
Technology 654.0 530 to 570 580 to 620" 586.6 510 to 550 510 to 550 8.3 9.7t010.7 9.0t0 10.58
Clean Technology
Systems 587.1 440 to 480 480 to 530' 456.1 390 to 420 420 to 4503 2.5 5.7t06.7 3.0 to 4.5%
Measuring and Process
Systems 326.0 280 to 300 300 to 3202 276.2 290 to 310 260 to 280° 6.2 8.5t09.5 5.0to 6.5%
Woodworking Machinery
and Systems 1,705.8 1,450t0 1,600 1,600to 1,750% | 1,602.1 1,450to 1,550 1,450 to 1,600% 7.8 8.0t0 9.0 7.5t0 9.0°

" Forecast raised on August 4, 2022, and on November 10, 2022
2 Forecast raised on November 10, 2022
3 Forecast adjusted on August 4, 2022

GROUP MANAGEMENT PARAMETERS

The main financial performance indicators for Group management
are order intake, sales, EBIT and EBIT margin, ROCE — page 263,
and - particularly at the Group level - free cash flow — page 263.
An analysis of these items can be found in the section entitled
“Operational performance indicators” in the chapter entitled
“Financial development” — page 95. This section also contains
information on the non-financial performance indicators. Please
also note the Group non-financial statement in connection with the
non-financial disclosures and performance indicators.

MAIN EVENTS DRIVING BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

The negative external factors in 2022 were cost inflation, material
shortages, and the lockdowns in China. Added to this was the war
in Ukraine, which exacerbated the supply chain problems and
impacted both consumer confidence and capital spending. The
key drivers of our business were the long-term trends toward
sustainable technologies and products, electromobility, and
manufacturing automation. Low automotive production output had
little impact on our business. This is due to the industry’s long-
term planning horizon: As a rule, automotive OEMs base big-ticket
equipment investments on their long-term needs rather than on
temporarily lower production figures.
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Business performance

NEW ORDERS IN EXCESS OF €5 BILLION
FOR THE FIRST TIME

Our new business proved very resilient in the face of the
challenging macroeconomic conditions in 2022. Order intake
increased by 16.7% to a new all-time high of €5,008.4 million, thus
passing the €5 billion threshold for the first time and exceeding
the previous year’s record figure by more than €700 million.
Currency-translation effects added €190.2 million to order intake
in 2022, with price increases also having a positive effect.

We benefited from the fact that our business is largely driven
by long-term trends such as sustainability, electromobility, and
automation. As capital expenditure related to these trends is a
priority for many customers, it tends not to be deferred in the
event of any economic or political disruptions. This is reflected, for
example, in our order intake in production technology for electric
vehicles, which increased by more than 40% to over €1.1 billion,
thus reaching a new high.
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Whereas the first half of the year had seen strong growth in
business in woodworking machinery, our core automotive
business was the main growth driver in the second half of the
year. We also recorded very good order intake in 2022 in the
Teamtechnik Group’s automation business within the Paint and
Final Assembly Systems division. Moreover, Clean Technology
Systems contributed an extraordinarily high volume of new
orders worth €232.2 million in the fourth quarter, thanks to a
big-ticket order for the delivery of a solvent recovery system for
a battery plant, among other things. Of all the divisions, Paint
and Final Assembly Systems and Clean Technology Systems
achieved the highest growth in new orders (31.2% and 30.6%,
respectively). In the case of big-ticket orders in the automotive
sector, we were generally able to agree on the inclusion of price-
escalation clauses with customers and thus reduce our exposure
to inflation-related risks.

Order intake in North and South America was particularly
strong, rising sharply by 67.2%. This performance was driven by
catching-up effects following the pandemic-induced slump in
2020 as well as reindustrialization in the United States. Growth

2.39 — CONSOLIDATED ORDER INTAKE BY SALES REGION

Asia (excluding Chinal,
7.5% Africa, Australia

Germany 15.1%

\

16.4% China

Europe
(excluding
Germany) 25.4%

35.6% Americas

€ million 2022 2021 2020
Germany 755.8 658.8 616.2
Europe (excluding Germany) 1,270.8 1,274.0 978.2
Americas 1,781.5 1,065.4 665.4
China 823.2 1,000.7 761.0

Asia (excluding Chinal,

. . . . . . Africa, Australia 3771 292.0 262.4
was also recorded in Asia (excluding China), Africa, and Australia
as well as in Europe (29.2% and 4.8%, respectively), while order Total 50084 42910 _ 32832
intake in China shrank by 17.7%. At €1,902.4 million, orders in the
emerging markets (including China) were virtually unchanged.
2.40 — CONSOLIDATED ORDER INTAKE BY QUARTER
€ million
1,400 1,400.5
1,319.4
1,200 1,208.9
1,078.7 1,095.1 1,085.1 1,079.7
1,000 9738 1,032.2
800 838.3 826.3
400 644.8
400
200
0
Q1/20  Q2/20  Q3/20  Q4/20 Q1/21  Q2/21  Q3/21  Q4/21 Q1/22  Q2/22 Q3/22  Q4/22
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NEW RECORD REACHED IN SALES 2.41 — CONSOLIDATED SALES BY SALES REGION

Sales rose by 22.0% to a new record of €4,314.1 million in 2022. The

two halves of the year were very disparate, however: While revenue Asia excluding China),
7.7%  Africa, Australia

recognition was initially severely hampered by supply chain Germany 14.8%
constraints and the lockdowns in China, the situation gradually \

improved in the second half of the year. At the same time, several 22.3% China Europe
orders in the Paint and Final Assembly Systems division reached (excluding

Germany) 27.6%

execution phases with a high level of revenue recognition. Against
this backdrop, we were able to reach a new quarterly record of
€1,236.0 million in the final quarter of the year. A significant part

of the increase in sales - specifically €136.2 million - resulted 27.6% Americas

from currency-translation effects in 2022. In addition, sales were
spurred by price increases, although to a lesser extent than

order intake.

€ million 2022 2021 2020
. . L . . . Germany 640.1 557.5 562.6
The high sales were driven by significant increases in all divisions,
. . . E luding G 1,192.1 989.8 760.8
with double-digit growth rates achieved almost everywhere. The urope (excluding Germany) '
greatest increases were posted by Paint and Final Assembly Americas 1.190.0 924.7 914.2
Systems (31.9%) and Application Technology (24.5%), whose sales China 961.4 7260 6955
had been dragged down in the previous year by muted order intake Asia [excluding China), Africa,
. . . Australia 330.5 338.8 391.7
in 2020 as a result of the effects of the coronavirus pandemic.
Total 4,314.1 3,536.7 3,324.8
2.42 — CONSOLIDATED SALES BY QUARTER
€ million
1,400
1,200 1,236.0
1,123.5
1,000 1,003.0 1,048.9
894.3 900.8 905.7
800 842.6 772,64 815.3 789 8 843.0
600
400
200
0
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Sales in Germany, Europe (excluding Germany), North and South
America, and China grew at double-digit rates. Sales only fell
slightly short of the previous year in the other Asian countries,
Africa, and Australia. At 42.1%, the share accounted for by
the emerging markets was more or less unchanged (previous
year: 42.6%).

Sales from service business were up on the previous year in all four
quarters, rising by 7.7% to €1,218.7 million over the year as a whole
and marking a new record, to which all five divisions contributed.
The proportion of service business in Group sales shrank to 28.2%
(previous year: 32.0%) as new machinery and equipment sales
grew more quickly than service business. The gross margin on
service business matched that of the previous year.

ORDER BACKLOG IN EXCESS OF €4 BILLION

Although sales rose more swiftly than order intake, the difference
between the two figures remained considerable, at just under
€700 million. As a result, the book-to-bill ratio came to a high
1.16. The same applies to the order backlog, which increased to a
new high of €4,014.0 million at the end of 2022, thus exceeding the
previous year by 19.4%. The high order backlog covers a large part
of the sales target for 2023 and thus gives us good forward visibility.
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2.43 — CONSOLIDATED ORDER BACKLOG (DECEMBER 31)
BY SALES REGION

Asia (excluding China)
7.3% Africa, Australia

Germany 16.6%

18.5% China >

Europe
(excluding
Germany) 25.9%

31.8% Americas

€ million 2022 2021 2020
Germany 665.1 561.7 391.6
Europe (excluding Germany) 1,038.0 958.6 671.4
Americas 1,275.1 652.3 453.7
China 742.4 934.8 758.8
Asia (excluding China), Africa,

Australia 293.3 253.6 281.1
Total 4,014.0 3,361.0 2,556.7
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2.44 — INCOME STATEMENT AND PROFITABILITY RATIOS

2022 2021 2020

Sales € million 4,314.1 3,636.7 3,324.8
Cost of sales! € million -3,375.3 -2,717.2  -2,728.6

of which cost of

materials € million -1,720.3 -1,315.2  -1,338.7

of which personnel

expense € million -807.6 -717.3 -663.4

of which depreciation

and amortization € million -90.9 -85.7 -79.0
Gross profit! € million 938.7 819.4 596.3
Overhead costs'? € million -736.7 -657.6 -585.9
EBITDA € million 337.5 299.4 125.3
EBIT € million 205.9 175.7 1.1
EBIT before extraordinary
effects? € million 232.2 1991 99.5
Financial result € million -17.8 -43.1 -29.7
EBT € million 188.1 132.6 -18.5
Income taxes € million -53.9 -47.6 4.7
Earnings after tax € million 134.3 84.9 -13.9
Earnings per share
[basic) € 1.89 1.20 -0.23
Earnings per share
(diluted) € 1.81 1.16 -0.23
Gross margin’ % 21.8 23.2 17.9
EBITDA margin % 7.8 8.5 3.8
EBIT margin % 4.8 5.0 0.3
EBIT margin before
extraordinary effects?® % 5.4 5.6 3.0
EBT margin % 44 3.7 -0.6
Return on sales after tax % 3.1 2.4 -0.4
Interest coverage 10.8 4.1 0.5
Net financial liabilities
to EBITDA 0.1 0.3 0.4
Tax rate % 28.6 35.9 25.2
Return on equity % 11.9 8.4 -1.5
Return on investment % 3.6 3.3 0.7
ROCE % 17.3 15.5 1.1

" As of 2021, we include impairments and derecognitions of trade receivables and contract assets
within the cost of sales. They were previously included in selling expenses. The corresponding
figures for the previous year have been adjusted slightly.

2 Selling, administrative, and R&D expenses

3 Extraordinary effects in 2022: €-26.3 million (2021: €-23.5 million)
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GROSS MARGIN OF 21.8%

Gross profit on sales increased by 14.6% to €938.7 million in 2022.
As sales grew at a swifter pace than gross profit [22.0%), the gross
margin contracted from 23.2% in the previous year to 21.8%. One
reason for this was the lower gross margin in the second quarter
(21.1%), which resulted from capacity utilization shortfalls and
muted spare parts business during the lockdowns in China as
well as the difficult situation with respect to the cost of materials.
In addition, there were changes in the sales mix: Whereas high-
margin service business had accounted for an above-average
share of 32.0% in sales in 2021, there was strong growth in new
machinery and equipment business in 2022. With its smaller
margins, the Paint and Final Assembly Systems division’s plant
engineering business grew in particular, with the division posting
the greatest sales increase of 31.9%.

COST OF MATERIALS AND OVERHEAD COSTS

Total costs (cost of sales, selling, administration, R&D, and other
operating expenses) rose by 22.4% in 2022 and thus moved almost
fully in sync with sales. The cost of sales climbed by 24.2% and
thus slightly more quickly than sales. This was due to the fact that
the cost of materials increased by 30.8% to €1,720.3 million. On the
other hand, the personnel expenses included in the cost of sales
and depreciation/amortization grew substantially less quickly
than sales. The increased cost of materials was in part the result
of supply chain problems and the sharp rise in price inflation
for materials. Added to this was the sharp increase in sales in
Paint and Final Assembly Systems business with its high cost-of-
materials ratio. On the other hand, the share in sales contributed
by Woodworking Machinery and Systems and service business,
both of which have a lower cost-of-materials ratio, contracted.

Overhead costs rose by 12.0% in 2022 due to currency-translation
effects, among other things, and thus substantially more slowly
than sales. As a result, their proportion relative to sales shrank
from 18.6% in the previous year to 17.1%. Adjusted for acquisition
effects, overhead costs would have increased by 10.6%. Within
overhead costs, general administrative expenses exhibited the
lowest increase of 7.9%. Driven by the sharp growth in business,
selling expenses increased by 15.2%, while research and
development expenses were raised by 10.2%.
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2.45 — OVERHEAD COSTS AND EMPLOYEES IN 2022

Depreci-

Personnel ation and
Employees Costs expenses amortization  Other costs
(Dec.31) (€ million) (€ million) (€ million) (€ million)
Selling 2,107 -382.6 -274.2 -11.7 -96.7
(2021) 2,031 -332.0 -238.2 -11.0 -82.8

Administra-

tive 1,763 -217.7 -141.9 -16.4 -59.4
(2021) 1,689 -201.7 -132.2 -15.7 -53.9
R&D 971 -136.5 -92.9 -8.0 -35.6
(2021) 922 -123.9 -82.6 -11.3 -29.9

MODERATE GROWTH IN GROUP WORKFORCE

The Group headcount rose by 4.0% to 18,514 employees at the end
of 2022. A good half of this increase was attributable to the high-
growth Woodworking Machinery and Systems division. Annual
average employee numbers were 5.8% up on the previous year. At
the same time, personnel expense increased by 12.5% as a result
of acquisition effects as well as higher fixed and performance-
related remuneration. In addition, it should be borne in mind that,
as a result of the pandemic, we were still making greater use
of short-time work and similar cost-cutting instruments in the
previous year. At €68,154 in 2021, personnel expense per employee
was thus below the pre-pandemic figure of €69,055 recorded in
2019. In 2022, on the other hand, it increased to €72,463 (up 6.3%].

2.46 — KEY EMPLOYEE FIGURES

2022 2021 2020
Employees (Dec. 31) 18,514 17,802 16,525
Employees (annual average) 18,1649 17,173 16,334
Personnel expense (€ million) -1,316.6 -1,170.4  -1,051.9
Personnel expense ratio (%) 30.5 33.1 31.6
Personnel expense per employee
(annual average) (€) -72,463 -68,154  -64,399
Sales per employee (annual average)
(€) 237,441 205,943 203,552
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Other operating income net of other operating expense stood
at a positive €3.9 million. Among other things, it arose from
extraordinary income in the mid-single-digit millions from the
settlement of a legal dispute at Hekuma GmbH. As usual, the
largest individual items within other operating income and expense
were currency-translation gains and losses. Both increased
significantly over the previous year, with the losses exceeding the
gains by a good €8 million.

16.6% INCREASE IN EBIT BEFORE
EXTRAORDINARY EFFECTS

EBIT before extraordinary effects widened by 16.6% to
€232.2 million in 2022 despite the high price of materials and
additional expenses caused by supply chain problems. This growth
was mainly underpinned by a significantly improved performance
in the second half of the year, in which the high sales - including
the price increases that we had implemented - as well as the
nascent easing of conditions in the procurement markets left
positive traces. We achieved the highest quarterly earnings of
€83.7 million in the final quarter. This is equivalent to 36.1% of
full-year EBIT before extraordinary effects and marks an increase
of one third over the previous year. Thanks to the strong final
quarter, we were able to recoup, at least partially, the decline
in earnings in the second quarter caused by the pandemic
lockdowns in China.

At 5.4%, the EBIT margin before extraordinary effects reached the
lower half of the full-year target range (5.0% to 6.5%) that had
been adjusted in May. This was materially due to the high margin
of 6.8% in the fourth quarter. At 8.3%, Application Technology
recorded the highest EBIT margin before extraordinary effects in
2022. Woodworking Machinery and Systems made the greatest
contribution to earnings of €124.8 million, accounting for 53.7%
of total EBIT before extraordinary effects.
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EBIT rose by 17.2% to €205.9 million, whereas the EBIT margin
contracted slightly to 4.8% (previous year: 5.0%). Net extraor-
dinary expense of €26.3 million arose, marking an increase
of 12.0% over the previous year (€23.5 million). The largest
item within extraordinary effects was the purchase price allo-
cation effects of €-23.9 million. Restructuring and impair-
ments in Russian business caused extraordinary expenses of
€7.0 million, mainly relating to Woodworking Machinery and

2.47 — EBIT BY QUARTER

Systems. With respect to the positive extraordinary effects, the
above-mentioned proceeds from the settlement of the legal
dispute at Hekuma are particularly worth mentioning. An over-
view of the extraordinary effects can be seen in — table 2.49.
Currency-translation effects added €11.4 million to EBIT in
contrast to the previous year, in which they had virtually no
influence at all.

€ million

100

80

60

40 37.9

20 22.9 25.0 24.1

73.8

62.8
51.0 55.4
43.7
| I 33.0

-20

-16.4 -
40 205

Q1/20 Q2/20 Q3/20 Q4/20 Q1/21 Q2/21

Q3/21 Q4/21 Q1/22  Q2/22 Q3/22 Q4/22

2.48 — EBIT BEFORE EXTRAORDINARY EFFECTS BY QUARTER

€ million

100
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60

29.2
20

49.6

83.7
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o7y 626
‘ ‘ "’I“ 404 ‘

-20 -8.9
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2.49 — EXTRAORDINARY EFFECTS WITHIN EBIT

€ million 2022 2021 2020
Paint and Final Assembly Systems -2.3 = Purchase price allocation -6.2 = Purchase price allocation -30.5 * Purchase price allocation
expense/income expense/income expense
* Restructuring expense/ * Expense/income for * Expense for measures
impairment for Russia measures to secure future to secure future viability/
* Proceeds from lower variable viability/capacity adjustment capacity adjustment in
purchase price payment in Europe Europe
* Proceeds from legal dispute
* Impairments
Application Technology 0.0 - -0.1 = Purchase price allocation -24.8 = Purchase price allocation
expense expense
* Expense/income for * Expense for measures
measures to secure future to secure future viability/
viability/capacity adjustment capacity adjustment in
in Europe Europe
* Proceeds from legal dispute
Clean Technology Systems -5.6 = Purchase price allocation -7.3 = Purchase price allocation -6.9 = Purchase price allocation
expense expense expense
* Closure of US plant * Closure of US plant * Expense for measures
* Integration expense for to secure future viability/
Megtec/Universal capacity adjustment
* Income from sale of * Integration expense for
buildings Megtec/Universal
* Proceeds from sale of
building
Measuring and Process Systems -0.4 = Purchase price allocation -0.4 = Purchase price allocation -3.0 = Purchase price allocation
expense expense expense
* Restructuring expense/ + Expense/income for * Expense for measures
impairment for Russia measures to secure future to secure future viability/
viability/capacity adjustment capacity adjustment in
in Europe Europe
Woodworking Machinery and Systems -17.3 = Purchase price allocation -15.7 = Purchase price allocation -17.1 = Purchase price allocation
expense expense expense
* Restructuring expense/ » Capacity adjustment * Acquisition transaction costs
impairment for Russia expense/income + Capacity adjustment expense
* Personnel expense from * Transaction costs and * Impairments
acquisitions personnel expense from
* Restructuring expense/ acquisitions
income * Impairments
* Income from sale of building
Corporate Center -0.7 = Personnel expense from 6.3 = Proceeds from legal dispute -6.2 = Expense for legal dispute
acquisitions * Personnel expense from + Capacity adjustment expense
acquisitions * Acquisition transaction costs
Total -26.3 -23.5 -88.4

SUBSTANTIAL IMPROVEMENT IN

FINANCIAL RESULT

The financial result came to €-17.8 million, representing a

significant improvement of 58.7% over 2021. It should be borne in

mind that the previous year’s figure (€-43.1 million) had included

extraordinary expense of €17.0 million arising in the third quarter

of 2021 in connection with the renewed pooling agreement between
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Dirr Technologies GmbH and the Schuler/Klessmann shareholder
group, which holds 14.05% of the shares in HOMAG Group AG. In
addition, the financial result benefited from an improvement in

investment income and significantly higher interest income in

2022, while interest expenses decreased following the redemption

of financial instruments in April 2021. Moreover, expenses had been

incurred in 2021 in connection with the early redemption of long-

term finance at Teamtechnik.
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SUBSTANTIAL IMPROVEMENT IN
EARNINGS AFTER TAX

Driven by the sharp improvement in financial result, earnings
before tax increased by 41.9% to €188.1 million. The tax rate fell
to 28.6% after rising to an exceptionally high 35.9% in the previous
year due to the renewal of the pooling agreement with the Schuler/
Klessmann shareholder group. Accordingly, earnings after tax
climbed substantially, as expected, by 58.1% to €134.3 million,
resulting in basic earnings per share of €1.89.

The higher earnings in 2022 give us scope for increasing the
dividend substantially. We therefore propose a 40.0% increase over
the previous year's dividend to €0.70 per share. This is equivalent
to a total payout of €48.4 million and a proportion of 36.1% of the
earnings after tax for 2022. This places the payout ratio in the top
half of the range of 30% to 40% of earnings after tax defined in
our dividend policy. The dividend proposal leaves Dirr AG with
a remaining net retained profit of €658.9 million, which is to be
carried forward.

2.50 — EARNINGS AFTER TAX BY QUARTER

SEGMENT REPORT: DIVISIONS

2.51 — EBIT BY DIVISION

€ million 2022 2021 2020
Paint and Final Assembly Systems 55.0 35.2 6.4
Application Technology 48.9 41.2 -5.8
Clean Technology Systems 5.8 9.2 13.7
Measuring and Process Systems 16.8 17.91 -2.9
Woodworking Machinery and Systems 107.5 76.6 9.9
Corporate Center/consolidation -28.0 -4.41 -10.3
Total 205.9 175.7 1.1

" Due to the transfer of tooling business from Woodworking Machinery and Systems to Measuring
and Process Systems, the figures for 2021 have been adjusted and therefore differ from those
shown in the 2021 annual report. The figures for 2020 have not been adjusted.
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2.52 — PAINT AND FINAL ASSEMBLY SYSTEMS - KEY FIGURES®

€ million 2022 2021 2020 Q12022 Q2 2022 Q3 2022 Q4 2022
Order intake 1,786.6 1,361.9 1,144.5 460.6 411.9 546.7 367.4
Sales 1,436.2 1,088.7 1,176.0 263.9 326.0 376.6 469.7
Gross profit? 213.8 177.5 132.3 453 41.4 56.0 71.1
EBITDA 89.1 65.3 315 21.8 8.0 20.7 38.6
EBIT 55.0 35.2 6.4 13.7 -0.7 13.2 28.8
EBIT before extraordinary effects 57.3 41.4 36.9 9.0 1.1 15.3 31.9
EBIT margin 3.8% 3.2% 0.5% 5.2% -0.2% 3.5% 61%
EBIT margin before extraordinary effects 4.0% 3.8% 3.1% 3.4% 0.3% 4% 6.8%
Cash flow from operating activities 29.4 33.2 17.4 27.7 -14.6 13.3 3.0
Capital expenditure 31.0 26.4 18.3 7.1 6.6 7.3 10.0
Capital employed 419.8 345.6 173.7 335.0 351.4 357.0 419.8
ROCE 13.1% 10.2% 3.7% 16.4% -0.8% 14.8% 27.5%
Employees 5,439 5,258 4,383 5,246 5,292 5,348 5,439

" Teamtechnik consolidated from February 5, 2021, Cogiscan from February 15, 2021, Hekuma from July 30, 2021
2 As of 2021, impairments and derecognitions of trade receivables and contract assets are recognized within the cost of sales (previously selling expenses). The figures for the previous year have been

adjusted slightly.

Paint and Final Assembly Systems

Order intake in the Paint and Final Assembly Systems division
climbed by 31.2% in 2022, reaching a new record of €1,786.6 million.
This performance was driven by high demand in the automotive
industry, which, among other things, invested heavily in
production technology for electric vehicles as well as in paint
shop sustainability and energy efficiency. The North American
market in particular was in good shape, with the division able to
more than double new orders and gain 38.0% of its order intake
in that region. On an encouraging note, we were able to arrange
price-escalation clauses for many big-ticket orders received
in 2022. These substantially reduce exposure to inflation risks
during order execution. Production Automation Systems including
Teamtechnik and Hekuma, which had been added in 2021, also
recorded significant order growth in automotive business as well
as in medtech automation and solar module production.

Sales were heavily impacted in the first half of the year by supply
chain problems and lockdowns in China. They subsequently picked
up significantly, achieving an increase of 31.9% over the year as a
whole compared to the low figure for the previous year, which had
been dragged down by the effects of the pandemic. The fourth
quarter in particular contributed to this growth with record sales
of €469.7 million. Sales from service business expanded by 5.8%,
accounting for almost 30% of the division’s total sales.
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Earnings were also burdened by several factors in the first half
of the year, including high material prices, the execution of low-
margin orders that had been awarded in the pandemic year of
2020, and the lockdowns in China. In the second half of the year,
the nascent easing of conditions in the procurement markets and
the higher sales resulted in a significant improvement in earnings.
In addition, the execution of higher-margin orders left traces. At
4.0%, the full-year EBIT margin before extraordinary effects was
above the previous year’s figure, despite the fact that it shrank
to 0.3% in the second quarter due to the pandemic-related
restrictions in China. In the fourth quarter with its strong sales,
we achieved a large margin of 6.8% and more than 50% of the full-
year EBIT before extraordinary effects. Looking forward to 2023, we
project rising earnings thanks, among other things, to the margin-
oriented “value before volume” sales strategy.

Capital expenditure was increased by 17.3%. The most important
items were building investments in Poland and China. Cash flow
from operating activities came very close to repeating the previous
year’s figure, benefiting from continued high prepayments in
addition to the increased earnings. As earnings grew significantly
faster than capital employed — page 263, ROCE — page 263 widened
to 13.1% despite a temporary slump in the second quarter due to
the lockdowns in China.
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2.53 — APPLICATION TECHNOLOGY - KEY FIGURES

€ million 2022 2021 2020 Q12022 Q2 2022 Q3 2022 Q4 2022
Order intake 654.0 535.3 473.0 167.8 150.9 197.8 137.7
Sales 586.6 4711 461.4 122.9 141.3 155.2 167.3
Gross profit! 132.7 117.6 77.6 29.4 30.9 33.0 39.4
EBITDA 62.2 54.0 8.1 12.7 12.9 15.7 20.9
EBIT 48.9 41.2 -5.8 9.6 9.3 12.5 17.5
EBIT before extraordinary effects 48.8 41.3 19.0 9.5 9.2 12.6 17.5
EBIT margin 8.3% 8.7% -1.2% 7.8% 6.6% 8.1% 10.4%
EBIT margin before extraordinary effects 8.3% 8.8% 4% 7.7% 6.5% 8.1% 10.5%
Cash flow from operating activities 325 13.6 53.8 22.2 -12.7 13.4 9.6
Capital expenditure 14.1 9.9 10.0 2.2 4.3 2.4 5.2
Capital employed 309.8 291.3 263.5 274.9 297.4 300.1 309.8
ROCE 15.8% 14.1% -2.2% 14.0% 12.5% 16.7% 22.6%
Employees 2,040 2,026 2,162 1,984 1,981 2,026 2,040

' As of 2021, impairments and derecognitions of trade receivables and contract assets are recognized within the cost of sales [previously selling expenses). The figures for the previous year have been

adjusted slightly.

Application Technology

Application Technology posted a new record in order intake
of €654.0 million in 2022, exceeding the previous year’s figure
by 22.2%. With the exception of China, the division was able to
grow in all market regions. North American business was very
encouraging, with order intake doubling thanks to two large robot
orders awarded in the third quarter.

Sales improved from quarter to quarter, thus exhibiting the same
pattern as in the Paint and Final Assembly Systems sister division.
A strong 24.5% gain over 2021 was generated. In the second half
of the year, Application Technology benefited from the emerging
normalization of the supply chain situation. Sales from service
business displayed relatively moderate growth of 4.4%. However,
it should be borne in mind that in the second quarter they were
significantly affected by customers’ plant closures during the
lockdowns in China.
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The pandemic-related restrictions in China also took their toll
on earnings. In the second quarter, the EBIT margin before
extraordinary effects shrank to 6.5% due to the decline in service
business during the lockdowns. Although this was followed by a
noticeable improvement in margins in the second half of the year,
this effect was dampened by the high proportion of sales from less
profitable equipment business, with the result that the decline in
the margin in the second quarter was not fully recouped. Therefore,
at 8.3%, the full-year EBIT margin before extraordinary effects did
not quite meet the previous year’s figure.

The increase in capital expenditure (42.0%) was due to, among
other things, higher capitalized development costs in connection
with a new sealing technology — page 262 product. Cash flow from
operating activities widened significantly, although we stockpiled
inventories to address supply chain problems. ROCE — page 263
also continued to improve. Both items benefited from high
prepayments received as well as the increased earnings.
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2.54 — CLEAN TECHNOLOGY SYSTEMS - KEY FIGURES

€ million 2022 2021 2020 Q12022 Q2 2022 Q3 2022 Q4 2022
Order intake 587.1 449.6 400.2 112.2 126.1 116.6 232.2
Sales 456.1 388.3 389.7 95.8 116.5 117.6 126.2
Gross profit! 71.1 66.7 69.7 13.2 18.3 18.6 211
EBITDA 15.7 18.6 25.5 1.2 4.7 4.1 5.7
EBIT 5.8 9.2 13.7 -1.2 2.1 1.6 33
EBIT before extraordinary effects 1.4 16.5 20.6 0.2 3.5 3.0 4.7
EBIT margin 1.3% 2.4% 3.5% -1.3% 1.8% 1.4% 2.6%
EBIT margin before extraordinary effects 2.5% 4.3% 5.3% 0.2% 3.0% 2.6% 3.7%
Cash flow from operating activities 85.2 14.7 25.0 19.4 -6.1 22.0 50.0
Capital expenditure 6.9 4.6 2.3 1.7 0.8 1.5 2.9
Capital employed 64.6 139.0 132.7 120.0 132.5 119.3 64.6
ROCE 9.0% 6.6% 10.3% -4.0% 6.3% 5.4% 20.5%
Employees 1,363 1,381 1,348 1,410 1,413 1,414 1,363

' As of 2021, impairments and derecognitions of trade receivables and contract assets are recognized within the cost of sales [previously selling expenses). The figures for the previous year have been

adjusted slightly.

Clean Technology Systems

Clean Technology Systems also posted strong order growth
(30.6%) in 2022, which led to a new record in order intake. After
remaining remarkably steady in the first three quarters, order
intake rose to a new level in the final quarter and reached
€232.2 million. For one thing, this was due to high demand in
the chemical industry in traditional business in exhaust-air
purification systems. And for another, the division was also able
to generate strong growth with its future-oriented business
in technologies for battery cell production. This segment
accounted for around one third of the high order intake in the
fourth quarter. Among other things, Clean Technology Systems
received another big-ticket contract in Germany for the delivery
of solvent-recovery systems for electrode production. Earlier
in the year, the Chinese world market leader CATL had placed
a large-scale order for its new battery factory in the German
state of Thuringia.
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Sales improved from quarter to quarter, increasing by 17.4%.
Despite the difficult supply chain situation over much of the
year, they increased year-on-year in all four quarters. On a
particularly encouraging note, sales from service business
expanded more quickly than equipment sales, thereby reaching
a share of over 30% of total sales.

Earnings were impacted by high material costs, which were
particularly noticeable in US business with its high sales.
Against this backdrop and as a result of a weak first quarter, the
EBIT margin before extraordinary effects came to 2.5% and was
thus lower than in the previous two years. A positive trend in
the margin emerged - albeit at a low level - in the final quarter
and should continue in 2023.

Capital expenditure increased over the previous year but
remained at a low level, equivalent to 1.5% of sales. Cash flow
from operating activities was very favorable thanks to a strong
fourth quarter and lower net working capital. ROCE — page 263
also improved despite the unsatisfactory EBIT, as capital
employed — page 263 declined significantly.
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2.55 — MEASURING AND PROCESS SYSTEMS - KEY FIGURES'

€ million 2022 2021 2020 Q12022 Q2 2022 Q3 2022 Q4 2022
Order intake 326.0 268.3 183.3 101.1 76.2 82.1 66.6
Sales 276.2 260.3 196.0 66.8 62.4 71.2 75.8
Gross profit? 88.1 84.9 58.6 21.4 17.9 23.0 25.8
EBITDA 28.7 29.4 6.7 6.5 33 8.2 10.8
EBIT 16.8 17.9 -2.9 3.7 0.3 5.2 7.6
EBIT before extraordinary effects 17.2 18.6 0.2 3.7 0.4 53 7.8
EBIT margin 61% 6.9% -1.5% 5.5% 0.5% 7.3% 10.0%
EBIT margin before extraordinary effects 6.2% 7.1% 0.1% 5.6% 0.6% 7.4% 10.3%
Cash flow from operating activities 30.7 22.2 82.7 1.5 -3.7 12.0 21.0
Capital expenditure 18.3 19.2 7.8 4 4.2 2.9 6.8
Capital employed 186.8 161.9 167.9 186.1 195.0 191.5 186.8
ROCE 9.0% 10.7% -1.7% 7.8% 0.6% 10.8% 16.3%
Employees 1,707 1,652 1,407 1,686 1,694 1,718 1,707

" Due to the transfer of tooling business from Woodworking Machinery and Systems to Measuring and Process Systems, the figures for 2021 have been adjusted and therefore differ from those shown in the
2021 annual report (except cash flow, capital employed, and ROCE). The figures for 2020 have not been adjusted.
2 As of 2021, impairments and derecognitions of trade receivables and contract assets are recognized within the cost of sales (previously selling expenses). The figures for the previous year have been

adjusted slightly.

Measuring and Process Systems

Order intake in the Measuring and Process Systems division
climbed by 21.5% to €326.0 million in 2022, reaching a significantly
higher level than expected at the beginning of the year. The division
grew in all major market regions, particularly in China, where
there was strong demand for balancing technology — page 262 for
e-mobility drive components. Conspicuously, the volume of new
orders was far above the average in the first quarter.

At 6.1%, sales grew much more moderately than order intake. This
was mainly due to significant problems in the supply of materials
in the first half of the year. An improvement in the supply chain
situation emerged in the third quarter and, on the strength of this,
the division achieved good sales of more than €75 million in the
final quarter. Service business expanded in 2022, accounting for
well over 30% of total sales.

Earnings painted a very mixed picture in the course of the year. In
the first half of the year, the margin was significantly impacted by
supply chain problems, lower sales, and the lockdowns in China.
Thereafter, the improved availability of materials and, resulting
from this, higher sales led to a sequential widening of the EBIT
margin before extraordinary effects. In the final quarter of the year,
it again exceeded 10% for the first time since the fourth quarter of
2019, thus reaching the target for Measuring and Process Systems.
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At €18.3 million, capital expenditure was somewhat lower than in
the previous year. Key projects were the construction of a new
production hall for the Tire & Wheels business unit in India as
well as the expansion of the Schenck One digital offering. Cash
flow from operating activities improved over the previous year.
On the other hand, ROCE — page 263 shrank from 10.7% to 9.0%,
as capital employed — page 263 increased in tandem with a slight
decline in EBIT.

Woodworking Machinery and Systems

With order intake of €1,705.8 million, Woodworking Machinery and
Systems came very close to repeating the previous year’s record,
although orders from the furniture industry declined as expected
in the second half of the year. The normalization of demand was
driven by lower furniture purchases due to high inflation and rising
interest rates. In addition, there was a cyclical effect: During the
coronavirus pandemic, many consumers had bought new furniture
as they were spending more time at home; this trend waned in
the course of 2022. Looking forward to 2023, however, we do not
expect to see a dramatic drop in demand for furniture production
technology as the pressure on our customers to automate will
strengthen in view of the shortage of labor. In addition, the
consolidation process in the furniture industry is calling for
additional investment. Given the large installed base of machines
and systems, service business also offers additional opportunities.
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2.56 — WOODWORKING MACHINERY AND SYSTEMS - KEY FIGURES"?

€ million 2022 2021 2020 Q12022 Q2 2022 Q3 2022 Q4 2022
Order intake 1,705.8 1,712.8 1,093.2 573.8 457.0 386.8 288.2
Sales 1,602.1 1,366.4 1,112.2 366.8 414.7 413.4 407.2
Gross profit? 433.6 368.6 256.3 104.5 113.1 1111 104.9
EBITDA 163.0 134.2 60.8 36.8 41.9 45.5 38.8
EBIT 107.5 76.6 9.9 22.8 27.8 29.6 27.3
EBIT before extraordinary effects 124.8 92.0 27.0 26.8 31.7 33.8 32.3
EBIT margin 6.7% 5.6% 0.9% 6.2% 6.7% 7.2% 6.7%
EBIT margin before extraordinary effects 7.8% 6.7% 2.4% 7.3% 7.7% 8.2% 7.9%
Cash flow from operating activities 104.4 159.6 48.6 43.9 17.4 58.8 -15.6
Capital expenditure 65.5 45.9 35.8 15.8 12.2 22.2 15.3
Capital employed 421.5 381.5 403.6 350.0 374.3 359.7 421.5
ROCE 25.5% 20.1% 25% 26.1% 29.7% 32.9% 25.9%
Employees 7,525 7,164 6,942 7,274 7,333 7,462 7,525

" Kallesoe consolidated from April 28, 2021, Roomle from August 13, 2021

2 Due to the transfer of tooling business from Woodworking Machinery and Systems to Measuring and Process Systems, the figures for 2021 have been adjusted and therefore differ from those shown in the
2021 annual report (except cash flow, capital employed, and ROCE). The figures for 2020 have not been adjusted.
3 As of 2021, impairments and derecognitions of trade receivables and contract assets are recognized within the cost of sales (previously selling expenses). The figures for the previous year have been

adjusted slightly.

Moreover, business in production technology for timber house
construction is exerting a stabilizing effect on order intake. This
segment is gaining more and more weight as a second business
mainstay, as the outlook is consistently good due to the trend
toward the construction of climate-friendly timber houses. In
2022, Woodworking Machinery and Systems received extensive
orders for automated systems for the industrial production of
timber construction elements primarily in North America. This
materially helped the division to more than double its order intake
in North and Central America compared with 2020, with this region
accounting for 31.4% of total order intake.

Sales rose by 17.3% despite supply chain problems in the
availability of materials and reached a new record figure of over
€1.6 billion. Despite this, the book-to-bill ratio of 1.06 was above
1. At 3.4%, the growth in service business was more moderate
than in equipment business, while its share in total division sales
was below the Group figure of 28.2%. Looking ahead over the next
few years, service business is to be expanded significantly. One
important prerequisite for this is the recruitment of additional
employees, which was stepped up in 2022.

Earnings improved significantly in 2022, despite the fact that the
supply chain problems entailed additional material procurement
expenses. The high sales and several price adjustments had a
positive impact on profitability. An additional boost came from the
optimization and efficiency measures that have been implemented
since 2019.
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The sharp increase in capital expenditure (up 42.8%) reflects our
investment program for expanding and modernizing several sites
by 2024. Cash flow from operating activities again reached the
three-digit millions, spurred by the increased earnings and high
prepayments received. It was burdened by stockpiling to address
the bottlenecks in the supply of materials. ROCE — page 263
continued to improve, reaching the target figure of 25.5% defined
for the Group as a whole.

Corporate Center

Corporate Center EBIT came to €-28.0 million, compared with
€-4.4 million in the previous year. The main reason for this weaker
performance was the expenditure on synergy projects within the
OneDurrGroup program, together with currency-translation effects
and increased personnel expenses at Diirr AG as a result of the larger
headcount, and higher salaries. The consolidation effects included in
EBIT amounted to €-1.3 million. The costs of the Corporate Center are
materially covered by transfer payments from the Group companies.
In return, the Corporate Center provides intra-group services, e.g. in
the areas of IT, law, tax, and finance. Further information can be found
in the chapter entitled “The Group at a glance” — page 23.
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2.57 — SALES, ORDER INTAKE AND EMPLOYEES (DECEMBER 31, 2022) BY DIVISION

SALES’

1.5%

Corporate Center 33.3%

€65.0 million

Paint and Final
37.1% Assembly Systems
€1,436.2 million
' ] Woodworking Machinery

and Systems

€1,602.1 million 13.6%
SALES [€ MlLL'ON] 6.4% \ / Application Technology

€586.6 million

Measuring and
Process Systems 10.6%
€276.2 million

Clean Technology Systems
€456.1 million

ORDER INTAKE'

1.4%

Corporate Center 35.7%
€69.2 million

Paint and Final
34.1% Assembly Systems
€1,786.6 million
' [ | Woodworking Machinery

and Systems
€1,705.8 million 13.1%

ORDER |NTAKE [€ MlLLlON] 6.5% \ / Application Technology

€654.0 million

Measuring and

Process Systems 11.7%

€326.0 milli
mittion Clean Technology Systems

€587.1 million

EMPLOYEES

2.4% 29.4%
Corporate Center Paint and Final
440 Assembly Systems

5,439
40.6%
' 11.0%

Woodworking Machinery

and Systems
7,525 Application Technology
2,040
EMPLOYEES 0 25 ~—
7.6%
Measuring and
Process Systems Clean Technology Systems
1,707 1,363

" The consolidated figure for sales and order intake does not equal the sum total of the figures for the divisions and the Corporate Center as internal sales and order
intake are eliminated for consolidation purposes.
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Financial development

FUNDING AND LIQUIDITY MANAGEMENT

Our central funding and liquidity management is aimed at covering
financing and liquidity requirements, optimizing earnings and
financing costs as well as mitigating financial risks. The principle
of our liquidity management is to always have an adequate volume
of cash and cash equivalents available in order to meet payment
obligations at any time.

Cash flow from operating activities is the principal source of
funding. We reinforce it through disciplined net working capital
management, enabling us to tie down resources for no longer than
40 to 50 days. In addition, cash flow should benefit in the future
from the increase in sales and margins targeted as part of our
medium-term goals.

As a rule, debt finance is raised by Dirr AG and made available to
the Group companies as required. Liquidity management is another
task of DUrr AG. Its cash pooling system serves to consolidate most
of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents, unless capital flows
are restricted by the rules and regulations of individual states. In
countries where this is the case (China, for example), our national
companies largely obtain their funding locally.

Group Treasury invests surplus funds in compliance with our
financial asset management policy. At €866.1 million, cash and
cash equivalents (including term deposits) at year-end 2022 were
up by 3.4% year-on-year (€837.9 million]) and accounted for 19.1%
of total assets (Dec. 31, 2021: 20.2%).

FUNDING STRUCTURE

In 2022, there were no maturities of financial liabilities, nor did we
place any new financing instruments. A tranche of a Schuldschein
loan amounting to approximately €50 million will mature in April
2023; there are no further maturities in the current year. Sufficient
cash and cash equivalents are available for repayment of the
tranche. In order to maintain our large liquidity leeway - also
in view of possible acquisitions — and to broaden the maturity
structure, we plan to issue a new Schuldschein loan at the
beginning of the second quarter of 2023. For further information,
please refer to the section entitled “Events after the reporting
period” — page 103.
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Our funding structure comprised the following elements as of
December 31, 2022:

» Sustainability-linked convertible bond: The convertible bond
with a value of €150 million placed in September 2020 matures
in January 2026. The coupon is 0.75%, the conversion price is
currently €33.24 per share; originally it was €34.22 per share,
reflecting a premium of 40%. The convertible bond is linked to
a sustainability component in the form of a separate interest
rate derivative. If our sustainability rating as determined
by EcoVadis does not improve to a certain level, we pay a
fixed amount to UniCredit Bank, which will use it to support
sustainable projects.

= Four Schuldschein loans, three of which are sustainability-
linked: In 2019, we were the first company worldwide to place
a sustainability-linked Schuldschein loan worth €200 million.
As with its counterparts placed in the subsequent year,
its interest rate is linked to our sustainability rating. The
tranches have maximum maturities of ten years; the interest
rate averaged 0.84% at the time of issue. The sustainability-
linked Schuldschein loan issued in March 2020 has a volume
of €115 million with an average interest rate of 0.9% at
issue. We secured a further €200 million by placing another
sustainability-linked Schuldschein loan in December 2020.
The interest rate at issue averaged 2.0% and we received the
proceeds in January 2021. Both Schuldschein loans issued in
2020 consist of tranches with maturities of up to ten years. Their
interest is linked to our EcoVadis sustainability rating. A further
€150 million is still available from a Schuldschein loan placed
in 2016 without a sustainability component (average interest
rate 1.6% on placement, maturing no later than 2026).

- Syndicated loan: A syndicated loan amounting to €750 million
has been available to us since the end of July 2019. As in the
case of the 2019 and 2020 Schuldschein loans, its interest rate
is linked to our sustainability rating. The loan is divided into a
cash line of €500 million and a guarantee line of €250 million.
Its maturity is scheduled to end in 2026.

 Leases: At the end of 2022, leasing liabilities in accordance with
IFRS 16 amounted to €94.8 million (Dec. 31, 2021: €95.7 million).

= Bilateral credit facilities: Their volume came to €37.5 million as
of December 31, 2022 (Dec. 31, 2021: €34.1 million).

= Other: We make use of money market and capital market
instruments. Off-balance sheet financing instruments in the
form of sales of receivables (mainly forfaiting) were not used in
2022 (Dec. 31, 2021: €0.2 million).
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For further information on the deployment of financial instruments,
please refer to the section entitled “Currency, interest rate and
liquidity risks as well as financial instruments for risk mitigation

purposes” in the “Risk report“ — page 104.

2.58 — FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (DECEMBER 31)

€ million 2022 2021 2020

Convertible bond/Schuldschein loan/

corporate bond' 806.3 803.7 951.9

Liabilities to banks 0.9 27.0 0.0

Leasing liabilities 94.8 95.7 98.4

Other interest-bearing financial

liabilities 1.9 1.8 7.1

Interest deferral 8.7 9.2 10.6

Total 912.6 937.4 1,068.0
of which due within one year 87.8 39.6 394.2

" Corporate bond only included in 2020, repaid in 2021

The slight decline in financial liabilities to €912.6 million (-2.6%)
as of December 31, 2022, largely resulted from the reduction
in liabilities to banks. At the end of 2022, we had credit and
guarantee lines totaling €1,850.5 million at our disposal, of which
€610.7 million were utilized, exclusively for guarantees. As in the
previous year, the cash lines of the syndicated loan remained
unutilized in 2022. Apart from the guarantee line under the
syndicated loan, there are additional guarantee lines amounting
to €1,063.0 million.

FREE CASH FLOW CLOSE TO PREVIOUS
YEAR’S LEVEL

2.59 — CASH FLOWS

€ million 2022 2021 2020
Cash flow from operating activities 264.7 257.0 215.0
Cash flow from investing activities 13.3 -121.9 -119.2
Cash flow from financing activities -141.3 -334.2 27.4
96

2.60 — CALCULATION OF CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES AND FREE CASH FLOW!

€ million 2022 2021 2020
Earnings before income taxes 188.1 132.6 -18.5
Depreciation and amortization 131.6 123.7 114.2
Interest result 19.1 42.9 35.3
Income tax payments -59.2 -45.5 -32.7
Change in provisions -47.3 -18.0 40.6
Change in net working capital 13.9 19.9 113.5
Other 18.5 1.5 -37.3
Cash flow from operating activities 264.7 257.0 215.0
Interest payments (net) -14.8 -22.8 -22.4
Repayment of leasing liabilities -31.1 -34.3 -29.7
Investment in property, plant and

equipment, and intangible assets -101.8 -79.0 -52.1
Free cash flow 1171 120.8 110.7
Dividend payment -37.4 -23.8 -56.5
Payment for acquisitions -30.7 -77.7 -9.4
Other cash flows 4.1 -69.8 5.4
Change in net financial status 53.1 -50.5 50.3

" Exchange rate effects were eliminated in the cash flow statement. Accordingly, the changes in
balance sheet line items indicated there cannot be fully reflected in the balance sheet.

Cash flow from operating activities improved by €7.7 million in
2022, to €264.7 million. This was due chiefly to the positive earnings
development. We also benefited from the fact that net working
capital (NWC) — page 263 fell by €12.0 million to €415.9 million
at the end of the year. On the one hand, NWC development was
characterized by the increase in inventories and manufactured
products. It resulted from the recovery in business as well as
from the targeted build-up of safety stocks to ensure our ability to
deliver despite the supply chain bottlenecks. On the other hand,
we received higher prepayments as a result of the strong growth
in incoming orders, and trade payables also increased due to the
growth in sales and increased capital expenditures. The turnover
time of NWC measured in days (days working capital) was 34.7 days
at the end of 2022, below the target corridor of 40 to 50 days.

Cash flow from investing activities improved by €135.2 million,
to reach €13.3 million (previous year: €-121.9 million). The main
reason for this was the reversal of term deposits amounting to
€104.6 million; in contrast, we had reduced term deposits by
only €14.6 million in the previous year. Adjusted for the effects of
term deposits, the outflow of funds decreased by €45.1 million. It
resulted chiefly from the decline in expenditure on acquisitions to
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€5.0 million from €74.9 million in 2021. Payments for acquisition
of property, plant, and equipment as well as intangible assets
increased by €22.8 million year-on-year, to €101.8 million. The
inflow of cash and cash equivalents from the disposal of available-
for-sale assets amounted to €6.4 million and was thus almost at
the level of the previous year (€7.9 million).

Cash flow from financing activities amounted to €-141.3 million. It
included outflows of a similar amount from the payment of interest
and dividends, the repayment of lease liabilities and non-current
financial liabilities, and the acquisition of the remaining shares
(49%) in the Italian subsidiary CPM. In 2021, the cash outflow
amounted to €334.2 million, to which the repayment of maturing
financial instruments in the amount of €349.0 million made a key
contribution. In addition, in the prior year there were cash outflows
for dividend payments and for the repayment of debt of acquired
companies (mainly Teamtechnik, Hekuma). This was offset by an
inflow in January 2021 of around €200 million from a Schuldschein
loan issued in December 2020.

Free cash flow reflects the volume of funds freely available after

equipment as well as intangible assets. In order to be able to
assess the adequacy of free cash flow — page 263 in relation to
the financing of our growth, we have defined the cash conversion
rate as a new key performance indicator. It expresses the ratio of
free cash flow to after-tax earnings and is expected to sustainably
exceed 80% after completion of the investment program at HOMAG,
scheduled to run until 2024. In 2022, the cash conversion rate was
87.2%; in the previous year, it had amounted to 142.3%.

2.62 — NET FINANCIAL STATUS (DECEMBER 31)

€ million 2022 2021 2020
Checks, cash in hand, and

+  balances with banks 716.1 583.1 769.2

+  Securities and term deposits 150.1 254.8 249.8
Corporate bond and convertible

- bond 142.5 140.2 437.8

- Liabilities to banks 0.9 27.0 0.0

- Schuldschein loans 663.8 663.5 514.1

Accrued/deferred interest on

all expenses in a given period in order to pay dividends, make - financial liabilities 8.7 92 106
acquisitions, and/or lower the level of debt. At €117.1 million = Leasing liabilities 94.8 95.7 98.4
in 2022, it was almost on a par with the previous year’s figure —  Other loans 1.9 1.8 71
of €120.8 million. The improvement in operating cash flow and = Netfinancial status -46.4 -99.5 -49.0
lower interest payments did not fully offset the higher outflows
attributable in particular to investments in property, plant, and
2.61 — FREE CASH FLOW BY QUARTER
€ million

100

74.8
61.0 65.7 61.3
50 45.9 47.9
25 266
o 5.4 I I
-1.5
-50
-66.9
-100
Q1/20  Q2/20 Q3/20  Q4/20 Q1/21  Q2/21  Q3/21  Q4/21 Q1/22  Q2/22 Q3/22  Q4/22
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Net financial debt decreased by €53.1 million compared to year-
end 2021, to €46.4 million. In addition to the virtually unchanged
good free cash flow, this was mainly due to lower expenditures
for acquisitions, which more than compensated for the increase
in dividend payments. Net financial debt included €94.8 million in
leasing liabilities.

OPERATING PERFORMANCE INDICATORS: UN-
CHANGED ORDER INTAKE, SALES, EBIT, AND ROCE

2.63 — PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

2022 2021 2020
Order intake € million 5,008.4 4,291.0 3,283.2
Sales € million 4,314.1 3,536.7 3,324.8
EBIT € million 205.9 175.7 1.1
EBIT margin % 4.8 5.0 0.3
ROCE % 17.3 15.5 1.1
Free cash flow € million 171 120.8 110.7

Our key performance indicators are order intake, sales, EBIT/EBIT
margin, ROCE — page 263 and, particularly at Group level, free cash
flow — page 263. At the divisional level, an additional focus is on
order margins and net working capital — page 263. Net working
capital, in turn, has a decisive influence on cash flow development.

We also work with non-financial performance indicators that
assist us in the Group’s management and strategic orientation.
Examples are key figures on employee and customer satisfaction,
further training, ecology/sustainability, and R&D/innovation.
While the non-financial performance indicators are becoming
increasingly important, they do not serve a primary role in
steering the company. Instead, they facilitate extended findings
on the situation prevailing within the Group, providing information
for decision-making on that basis. A detailed analysis of non-
financial topics and performance indicators is contained in the
“Sustainability”—> page 40 chapter in the Group non-financial
statement.

The analysis of order intake and the resulting sales enables us
to engage in forward-looking capacity planning. As a rule, sales
generation lags six to twelve months behind order intake in
systems business; for large paint equipment orders, the lag time
is up to 24 months. Order intake for the year 2022 (€5,008.4 million)
was within the target corridor (€4,800 to €5,100 million), which
had been raised twice, giving us high visibility with respect to the
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realization of sales in 2023. The analysis of margins in order intake
enables us to estimate the earnings trend in 2023 relatively well.
However, both sales and earnings in 2023 will continue to depend
to a certain degree on the development of supply chain bottlenecks
and material costs.

We use EBIT and our EBIT margin to measure our profitability. In
2022, EBIT increased significantly to €205.9 million (previous year:
€175.7 million). The main reason for this was the robust sales
growth, which more than offset the slight decline in margins to
4.8% (previous year: 5.0%) due to the increase in material costs
and supply chain bottlenecks. At 4.8%, the EBIT margin was in
the lower half of the target range of 4.4% to 5.9% adjusted in May
2022. Please refer to the chapter entitled “General statement by the
Board of Management and target achievement” — page 77 for more
information on the adjustment of the earnings forecast.

ROCE — page 263 shows whether we generate an appropriate return
on our capital employed — page 263, and thus provides the basis for
efficient capital allocation. Capital employed takes account of all
assets except cash and cash equivalents and financial assets, less
non-interest-bearing liabilities. Due to the significant increase in
EBIT, ROCE also increased in 2022 and reached 17.3% (previous year:
15.5%).

2.64 — VALUE ADDED

2022 2021 2020
Capital employed
(Dec. 31) € million 1,189.3 1,132.8 991.5
ROCE % 17.3 15.5 1.1
NOPAT € million 1441 123.0 7.8
Weighted average cost of
capital (WACC) % 10.58 7.43 7.44
EVA € million 18.3 38.8 -66.0

ROCE (in %) is calculated as follows:

EBIT

- X 100
Capital employed

Economic value added (EVA] reflects the value added that a
company generates in a fiscal year. Despite a higher weighted
cost of capital, we were also able to generate positive value added
in 2022. From 2011 to 2019, we achieved high annual value added.
The decline in value in 2020 was a consequence of the coronavirus
pandemic; we were able to resume the generation of value added
as early as 2021.
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We determine capital costs as the weighted average cost rate
of equity and borrowing costs before taxes (weighted average
cost of capital: WACC). In calculating the cost of equity, a beta
factor is considered, derived from capital market data and the
capital structure of peer group companies. The borrowing costs
comprise a basic - virtually risk-free - interest rate for bonds
and a surcharge determined from the credit rating of comparable
peer group companies. In 2022, the cost of capital was significantly
higher than in the previous year due to interest rate increases
imposed by central banks.

EVA is calculated as follows:

EVA = NOPAT - (WACC X capital employed)
= NOPAT = Net Operating Profit After Taxes/EBIT after fictitious taxes
= WACC = Weighted Average Cost of Capital

In the context of the performance indicator ROCE, added value
is generated when the return on capital employed exceeds the
average cost of capital by at least the fictitious tax rate. In 2022,
this was the case in the Application Technology and Woodworking
Machinery and Systems divisions. In the case of Paint and Final
Assembly Systems, ROCE increased but was not far enough above
the significantly higher weighted average cost of capital. ROCE of
Clean Technology Systems also improved, although it fell short of
the weighted average cost of capital. In the case of Measuring and
Process Systems, ROCE can only be compared with the previous
year’s figure to a limited extent. Since 2022, it has included the
Tooling business, which was previously part of Woodworking
Machinery and Systems. However, ROCE figures for Measuring and
Process Systems for 2021 and 2020 have not been adjusted. In 2022,
however, ROCE of Measuring and Process Systems was too low to
create additional value.

2.65 — ROCE OF THE DIVISIONS

% 2022 2021 2020
Paint and Final Assembly Systems 13.1 10.2 3.7
Application Technology 15.8 14.1 -2.2
Clean Technology Systems 9.0 6.6 10.3
Measuring and Process Systems' 9.0 10.7 -1.7
Woodworking Machinery and Systems! 25.5 20.1 2.5

" As of January 1, 2022, the Tooling business was transferred from Woodworking Machinery and
Systems to Measuring and Process Systems. The values for 2021 and 2020 were not adjusted.
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TOTAL ASSETS INCREASED

2.66 — KEY BALANCE SHEET FIGURES

2022 2021 2020
Net financial status
(Dec. 31) € million -46.4 -99.5 -49.0
Net financial liabilities in
relation to EBITDA 0.1 0.3 0.4
Gearing (Dec. 31) % 4.0 9.0 5.1
Net working capital
(NWC) (Dec. 31) € million 415.9 427.9 382.6
Days working capital days 34.7 43.6 4.4
Inventory turnover days 711 70.1 55.1
Days sales outstanding days 49.6 59.8 55.2
Equity assets ratio
(Dec. 31) % 75.8 68.7 69.0
Asset coverage (Dec. 31) % 140.5 140.8 131.1
Asset intensity (Dec. 31) % 32.7 353 33.9
Current assets to total
assets (Dec. 31) % 67.3 64.7 66.1
Degree of asset
depreciation % 49.3 47.6 48.3
Depreciation expense
ratio % 6.9 7.0 7.7
Cash ratio (Dec. 31) % 29.2 27.9 35.7
Quick ratio (Dec. 31) % 52.1 54.6 58.2
Equity ratio (Dec. 31) % 248 24.2 23.4
Total assets (Dec. 31) € million 4,530.9 4,153.6 3,878.8

Total assets at the end of 2022 amounted to €4,530.9 million, an
increase of 9.1% year-on-year. On the assets side, non-current
assets remained virtually unchanged. By contrast, current assets
increased significantly. In addition to contract assets, inventories
in particular grew due to the good order situation and an inventory
build-up to secure the supply chain. Cash and cash equivalents
increased as a result of the good cash flow and the reversal of
term deposits. Total liquidity, which also includes term deposits,
amounted to €866.1 million as of December 31, 2022 (Dec. 31, 2021:
€837.9 million).
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2.67 — NON-CURRENT AND CURRENT ASSETS (DECEMBER 31)

in % of
total

€ million 2022 assets 2021 2020
Intangible assets 717.3 15.8 730.8 661.3
Property, plant & equipment 588.5 13.0 568.0 488.4
Other non-current assets 176.5 3.9 165.9 165.8
Non-current assets 1,482.3 32.7 1,464.7 1,315.6
Inventories 852.5 18.8 688.8 508.6
Contract assets 617.0 13.6 457.0 393.4
Trade receivables 559.2 12.3 558.6 483.8
Cash and cash equivalents 716.1 15.8 583.1 769.2
Other current assets 303.8 6.7 401.5 408.1
Current assets 3,048.6 67.3 2,689.0 2,563.2
2.68 — EQUITY (DECEMBER 31)

in % of

total

€ million 2022 assets 2021 2020
Subscribed capital 177.2 3.9 177.2 177.2
Other equity 941.5 20.8 823.0 726.5
Equity attributable to
shareholders 1,118.7 24.7 1,000.1 903.7
Non-controlling interest 55 0.1 5.5 4.5
Total equity 1,124.2 24.8 1,005.6 908.1

Equity as of December 31, 2022, was up by 11.8%, reaching
€1,124.2 million. The main reason for this was the higher after-
tax profit of €134.3 million. The outflow of the dividend for 2021 was
partly offset by positive currency translation effects. The equity
ratio was 24.8%, an increase of 0.6 percentage points year-on-year.
Our target remains unchanged at 30%.
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2.69 — CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

(DECEMBER 31)
in % of
total

€ million 2022 assets 2021 2020
Financial liabilities (incl.
convertible bond, Schuldschein
loan(s), corporate bond) 912.6 20.1 937.4 1,068.0
Provisions (incl. pensions) 210.0 4.6 269.4 271.8
Contract liabilities 1,041.7 23.0 932.8 652.1
Trade payables 606.2 13.4 373.0 377.5
Deferred tax liabilities and
income tax liabilities 121.2 2.7 104.0 105.5
Other liabilities 515.1 1.4 531.4 495.6
Total 3,406.8 75.2 3,148.0 2,970.6

Current and non-current liabilities since year-end 2021 were up by
8.2% or €258.7 million. This was mainly due to the €233.1 million
increase in trade payables. It resulted from the significant expansion
of procurement volumes in view of the high order backlog and the
safeguarding of our ability to deliver despite the continuing supply
chain bottlenecks. In addition, contractual liabilities resulting from
project payments from customers continued to increase. Financial
liabilities remained virtually unchanged compared with year-end
2021. Pension provisions decreased to €36.4 million (Dec. 31, 2021:
€50.9 million) and accounted for only 0.8% of total assets.
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2.70 — ASSET AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE (DECEMBER 31)

ASSETS LIABILITIES
24.8 24.2 Total equity
Non-current assets ~ 32.7 35.3
211 25.4 Non-current liabilities
Current assets’  51.5 50.7
Cash and cash equivalents  15.8 14.0 5.0 503 Current liabilities
2022 2021 2022 2021

" Excluding cash and cash equivalents

FURTHER RESURGING INVESTMENTS

Investments (including right-of-use assets under leases, excluding
acquisitions) continued to rise, in particular due to the investment
program at HOMAG, and amounted to €138.5 million (2021:
€107.8 million). Of investments in property, plant, and equipment
(€74.2 million), 40% were replacement investments and 60% were
investments in expansion. Investments in intangible assets, which
include capitalized development costs in addition to the purchase
of software and licenses, increased slightly to €26.8 million (2021:
€25.1 million).

Equity investments decreased to €39.0 million in 2022 (2021:
€62.2 million), of which €30.7 million was effectively disbursed
(2021: €77.7 million). The cash outflows mainly related to the
acquisition of the remaining shares in CPM (49%) and the payment
of contingent purchase price installments for HOMAG China.
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2.71 — INVESTMENTS" AND DEPRECIATION?

€ million 2022 2021 2020
Investments in property, plant, and

equipment 74.2 53.8 28.7
Investments in intangible assets 26.8 251 23.2
Equity investments 39.0 62.2 78.0
Investments in right-of-use assets 37.5 28.9 24.5
Depreciation and amortization -131.6 -123.7 -114.2

" The capital expenditures in this overview deviate from the figures in the statements of cash flows
according to IFRS.

2 Including impairment losses and reversals. Depreciation and amortization taken into account in
the financial result are not included.

2.72 — CAPITAL EXPENDITURE ON PROPERTY, PLANT,
AND EQUIPMENT: REPLACEMENT AND EXTENSION

INVESTMENTS
€ million 2022 2021 2020
Replacement investments 29.8 27.4 18.6
Extension investments [y A 26.5 10.1

Investments in property, plant,
and equipment 74.2 53.8 28.7
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2.73 — LIQUIDITY DEVELOPMENT

€ million

1,200

1,000

800

600 583.1

400

200

o

Cash and cash Cash flow from Investments Other (redemption of the Cash and cash
equivalents as of operating (including bond, Schuldschein loan equivalents as of
December 31, activities acquisitions) tranche and financial December 31,
2021 liabilities from 2022
acquisitions, issuance of a
Schuldschein loan, etc.)

2.74 — MATURITY STRUCTURE OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

€ million

250 253.7

200

182.5

150 145.9
125.1 117.5

100
87.8

50

o

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
and later

A tranche of a Schuldschein loan amounting to approximately OFF-BALANCE SHEET FINANCING INSTRUMENTS

€50 million will mature in 2023. Obligations from the acquisition AND OBLIGATIONS

of property, plant, and equipment amount to €11.7 million.
Off-balance sheet financing instruments and obligations (excluding
liabilities from procurement contracts) accounted for less than 1%
of total assets in 2022 and are therefore of lesser importance. There
were no sales of receivables (forfaiting, premature performance
under documentary credits) (Dec. 31, 2021: €0.2 million).
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EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

We intend to place a Schuldschein loan with a sustainability
component at the beginning of the second quarter of 2023.
Marketing activities to this end commenced at the beginning of
March. We plan to use the proceeds to refinance the €50 million
Schuldschein loan tranche from 2016 due in April 2023. In addition,
we want to maintain our liquidity at a high level with a view to

possible acquisitions.

No other events that materially affected, or could materially
affect, the Group’s assets, liabilities, financial position and
financial performance occurred between the beginning of the
current financial year and March 14, 2023.
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REPORT ON RISKS,
OPPORTUNITIES AND
EXPECTED FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT

Risks

Our strategy is to manage the risks associated with our entrepre-
neurial actions so as to achieve a balanced ratio to the opportu-
nities. To this end, we make use of an effective risk management
system.

RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM OF THE DURR GROUP

Scope of application

Our risk management system is deployed throughout the Group.
It has existed in its fundamental structure since 2008 and has
since been continually adapted to new requirements. In 2022, the
Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board adopted a resolution to
conduct an audit of the appropriateness and effectiveness of the
risk management system in accordance with Auditing Standard
981 of the German Institute of Public Auditors. This audit is to be
completed in 2023.

Objectives

Our risk management system is designed to meet the needs of
the mechanical and plant engineering business. It enables us to
record, analyze and — to the extent possible — evaluate risks
systematically. On this basis, effective countermeasures can
be initiated at an early stage to avoid serious individual risks,
to transfer transferable risks to third parties where this makes
economic sense, and generally to reduce the overall risk. We
document all specific risks, provided that they are identifiable and
sufficiently concrete. Non-quantifiable strategic risks as well as
general risks with a low probability of occurring are not taken into
account, unless they are risks with very high damage potential

104

(referred to as extreme risks). We also document and evaluate
our opportunities; the relevant information is contained in the
“Opportunities” — page 114 chapter.

Methods and processes

The risk management system covers all essential business and
decision-making processes. We maintain open dealings with risks
and encourage employees to report any misdirected developments
at an early stage. The risk management process takes account
of all risks of the participating companies. The central risk
management team at Dlrr AG initiates the nine-stage process
every six months. The centerpiece of this standard risk cycle is
the risk inventory of the Group’s companies. In the risk inventory,
individual risks are identified, assessed, and consolidated, i.e.
classified into 16 specific risk fields (— chart 2.75). The risk fields
cover management, core, and supporting processes as well as
external risk areas.

The assessment of individual risks is carried out by the risk
managers of the operating units and by Dirr AG. They use the risk
management manual as well as risk structure spreadsheets to
do so. The assessment process consists of three stages: First of
all, the damage potential is calculated, i.e. the maximum impact
on EBIT and equity that can result from a risk in the following
24 months. Next, we assess the probability of occurrence of
a specific risk. In a third step, the effectiveness of possible
countermeasures is examined and assessed using a risk-reducing
factor.

The bottom line is the net risk potential, i.e. the net equity risk

that remains after taking the probability of occurrence and the
effectiveness of countermeasures into account. The lower the
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probability of occurrence and the higher the effectiveness of
countermeasures, the more sharply the net risk declines. The net
risks of the 16 risk fields correspond to the sum total of net risks
of all individual risks assigned. Depending on the extent of the
net risk, each risk field is assigned to one of the four following
categories:

« Very low (< €5 million)

= Low (> €5 million to <€20 million)

« Medium (> €20 million to < €40 million)
« High (> €40 million)

The net risks of all 16 risk fields are totaled to produce the
Group’s entire potential risk exposure (aggregate net equity risk).
Interdependencies between material individual risks as well as
between net risks of the 16 risk fields are analyzed and included in
the overall risk potential. The overall risk potential is subsequently
compared to the risk-bearing capacity. The risk-bearing capacity
is based on the liquidity expected for the following two years. If
the overall risk potential exceeds a certain threshold, the Board
of Management is informed in order to initiate risk-reducing
measures without delay. Should the overall risk potential exceed
the risk-bearing capacity, the Company’s continued existence is
assumed to be in danger.

The Group companies and divisions prepare their risk reports after

the risk inventory has been completed. These reports constitute
the basis for the Group Risk Report of Diirr AG, containing

2.75 — RISK FIELDS OF THE DURR GROUP

information on individual risks and overall risk. Following an
analysis by the Board of Management and the Dirr Management
Board, the Group Risk Report is forwarded to the Supervisory
Board and then discussed at length by the Audit Committee. Next,
the Audit Committee Chairman reports to the Supervisory Board.

Acute risks are reported without delay to the Board of Management
and the Heads of the relevant divisions. The risk managers of the
Group, divisions, and Group companies are responsible for the
process of identifying, assessing, managing, and monitoring risks
as well as for reporting; in most cases, these are the CFOs of the
Group companies or the Heads of the controlling departments. The
Internal Audit department is also involved and verifies compliance
with the defined processes on a regular basis.

RISKS IN RELATION TO MATERIAL
NON-FINANCIAL MATTERS

In accordance with the requirements of German commercial law,
our risk management system also takes into account risks that
may arise generally from our business activities or specifically
from our products and services, and may have an impact on
the non-financial issues that we classify as material within the
meaning of Section 289¢ of the German Commercial Code (HGB).
Essentially, a negative influence on material non-financial matters
cannot be ruled out. However, we do not perceive any risks that
could very probably lead to serious negative impacts.

External risk areas

Taxes, Economic .
o . Society,
legislation, environment, .
R ; environment
compliance capital market

Management process

Project execution/

. . After-sales phase
engineering

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, Competition Market
Management i
Core process
Sales/bid phase
Support processes Research & |
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, i1 Procurement
development :

Human
resources

Finance/
controlling

Manu-
facturing

Corporate security/information security
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KEY FEATURES OF THE INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEM/RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM FOR THE
ACCOUNTING PROCESS

The internal control system (ICS]) and the risk management
system (RMS] for the accounting process are elements of the Diirr
Group’s risk management system. The risk management system
comprises all rules, measures, and procedures that guarantee
the reliability of financial reporting with reasonable assurance
and ensure that the financial statements of the Group and its
companies are prepared in conformity with the IFRS. The Board
of Management bears overall responsibility for the ICS/RMS and
has set up an appropriate managerial and reporting organization,
covering all organizational and legal units of the Group. Monitoring
of the ICS/RMS is the task of the Internal Audit department. The
internal control system takes account of the specific features of
Group accounting. The key instruments as well as control and
backup routines for the accounting process are as follows:

» Dirr AG's Accounting Guideline defines the accounting process
at the Group companies. It is updated on a regular basis by
Group Accounting and covers all IFRS rules and regulations
of relevance. Supplementary internal accounting standards
describe, for example, the processes of intercompany
reconciliation of transactions for goods and services.

- In a multi-stage validation process, we carry out random
sampling, plausibility checks, and other accounting controls.
The operating companies, divisions as well as Group
Controlling, Group Accounting, and Internal Audit are involved.
The checks relate to various areas, such as reliability and
appropriateness of IT systems, completeness of provisions, or
evaluation of customer orders where revenue recognition over
time is applied. The results of all material control measures are
systematically documented, recorded by Diirr AG's Compliance
and Internal Controls department, and sent to the Audit
Committee of the Supervisory Board. The Audit Committee
Chairman reports to the Supervisory Board following an
in-depth analysis of the documentation of findings.

All material Group companies document their own internal
controls with which they ensure reliable and factual financial
reporting. Documentation created within the scope of ICS/
RMS is stored and forwarded to the Compliance and Internal
Controls department. The Internal Audit department verifies
the existence and effectiveness of the documented measures
and instruments.
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= Our ERP system and the consolidation system automatically
verify booking processes and ensure that individual business
transactions are duly assigned to the correct balance sheet line
items. In addition, we carry out manual audits.

In the case of micro-entities that cannot themselves ensure a
fully comprehensive internal control environment and proper
financial reporting, external service providers are used. Local
management and the controlling department use plausibility
checks and other controls to verify the work of external service
providers.

= Only a select group of employees has access to the consol-
idation system. Access to all data is reserved for only a few
employees from Group Accounting and Group Controlling.
For all other users, access is confined to the data relevant to
their specific activities. Data entered at the level of the Group
companies must be checked in a two-stage process - initially
by the controlling department of the division responsible and
then by Group Accounting.

Commercial processes that trigger booking entries in the
consolidation system are subject to the four-eyes principle.
Invoices must be signed off by the Division Head, the Managing
Director, or the responsible Board of Management member,
depending on the invoice amount.

In order to avoid risks and ensure unobjectionable financial
statements, we carefully examine key regulations and new
developments in the field of accounting and reporting. Particular
weight is assigned to accounting for customer orders for which
revenue recognition over time is applied, the impairment test
of goodwill, the reliability of qualitative statements in the
management report and in the corporate governance report as
well as the implementation of new IFRS standards.

Within the scope of the ICS/RMS, we provide regular training
sessions for employees of our finance departments, for instance in
the application of accounting standards, accounting rules as well
as IT systems. In the case of corporate acquisitions, we quickly
adjust the accounting processes and familiarize new employees
with all the relevant processes, content, and systems.
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STATEMENT UNRELATED TO THE
MANAGEMENT REPORT

The internal control system and the risk management system are
dynamic systems and are continuously adapted to changes in the
business model, the nature and scope of business transactions,
or responsibilities. As a result, the internal and external audits
reveal potential for improvement in individual cases regarding
the appropriateness (completeness of suitable controls) and
effectiveness (sufficient implementation) of controls. With regard
to the assessment of these management systems, the Board of
Management has no knowledge that they may not be appropriate
or effective in their entirety.

OVERALL RISK SITUATION

The overall risk potential at the end of 2022 amounted to
approximately €553 million, a significant increase of approximately
€115 million or 26% year-on-year. The risks associated with the
coronavirus pandemic saw a further decline in comparison
with the previous year, but are still present. In contrast, risks
have increased significantly as a result of the downturn in the
global economy and higher procurement risks due to continuing
supply bottlenecks and price hikes, although these risks have
recently decreased again to a slight degree. Market entry of new
producers of battery-powered electric vehicles is also leading
to an increase in credit risks. The turnaround in interest rates
resulted in increased risks relating to the recoverability of
goodwill. Market-related risks have also increased in light of
rising political tensions between China and Taiwan. An escalation
of the situation into a military conflict could have serious
consequences for global supply chains and the world economy. In
absolute terms, “Finance/controlling”, “Economic environment/
capital market”, and “Market” were the main risk fields, followed
by “Procurement” and “Taxes/legislation/compliance”.

The overall risk potential includes the net risk potential of 261
assessed individual risks (previous year: 262 individual risks). It
reflects the challenging environment of our business at a time
when the pandemic is subsiding but economic growth is being
impacted by inflation, supply chain bottlenecks, fears of recession,
and political as well as military conflicts. However, the overall
risk potential accounts for less than half of the risk-bearing
capacity, so we do not consider it to be a cause for concern but
still manageable. Risks that might endanger the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, whether separately or in combination
with other risks, are not discernible from today’s perspective.
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2.76 — RISK FIELDS AND NET RISKS

Net risk

Low Medium
(>€5to0 (>€20 High
Very low <€20 mil- to <€40 (>€40

Risk field (< €5 million) lion) million) million)

Economic environment/
capital market

Sales/bid phase "

Project execution/
engineering

Taxes/legislation/
compliance

Market u

Research and
development

Competition n

Procurement u

Human resources [ ]

IT n

Corporate/information
security

Manufacturing ]

Society/environment n

After-sales phase n

Finance/controlling "

Management process "

RISK FIELDS AND SIGNIFICANT INDIVIDUAL RISKS

Economic environment

The risks arising from the economic environment increased
substantially in 2022. This was driven by increasing signs of
a forthcoming recession as well as concerns about political
developments in China and the potential impact on supply chains.

Economic risks related to the coronavirus pandemic remained
unchanged and chiefly reflect the potential impact of renewed
lockdowns in China. This does not take into account the relaxation
of China’s coronavirus policy toward the end of 2022. In 2022, the
pandemic especially impacted business development in China.
The lockdowns in metropolitan Shanghai in the second quarter
led to the temporary closure of two of our plants. A third plant
was able to continue operating in closed-loop mode, meaning that
some employees were housed and fed at the plant and were able
to work while taking regular coronavirus tests. Overall, there was
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a significant drop in earnings due to the plant closures and the
loss of service business, lasting several weeks. These, together
with higher-than-expected inflation as a result of the Ukraine
conflict, led to the earnings targets for 2022 being adjusted at the
beginning of May.

The subdued level of automotive production due to the chip
shortage did not entail any serious risks for our business. In
addition, this did not affect the automotive industry’s investment
decisions, as these are not driven by current production figures
but by medium- to long-term trends such as the shift to e-mobility
and more sustainable production.

Demand for furniture decreased significantly in the second half
of 2022 as a result of higher inflation and increasing fears of
recession. Order intake from the furniture industry reached a new
record level in the first half of 2022, but weakened noticeably in
the second half of the year. This has increased the risk that order
intake in 2023 will be weaker than expected. However, due to the
high order backlog at the beginning of the year, the impact on
sales in 2023 should be limited.

We are not significantly affected by the international trade
conflicts, as virtually no punitive tariffs have been imposed on our
products.

The economy in China, our largest single market, was massively
affected in 2022 by the coronavirus pandemic and the lockdowns
imposed. There is medium- and long-term growth potential for
the automotive and furniture industries in China, since market
saturation is far from being reached and per capita incomes are
rising. As a result of China’s increasingly nationalistic policies
and the experience of the Ukraine conflict, a process of reducing
economic dependence on China has begun in Western countries.
An escalation of the conflict with Taiwan with negative effects
on the supply chains or an economic slump in China would
significantly impact the Dirr Group’s sales and earnings.

We can bridge economic downturns in smaller markets relatively
well, since the distribution of our business is balanced on an
international level. Cyclical fluctuations are discernible at a
comparatively late stage within the Diirr Group since our plant
engineering business is shaped by long-term investment
decisions of the automotive industry. In the early-cycle mechanical
engineering business, macroeconomic changes tend to take effect
faster.
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Capital market
Economic crises and political conflicts may shock the capital
markets, making new financing transactions more expensive
and restricting credit availability. The interest rate turnaround
in North America and Europe in 2022 will make future financing
more expensive.

We classify a hostile takeover of Diirr AG as relatively low since
the Dirr family owns around 26.2% of the Company’s shares. A
further stake of 3.5% is held by the Heinz und Heide Dirr Stiftung,
a foundation. On account of the domination and profit and loss
transfer agreement with HOMAG Group AG, external shareholders
of HOMAG Group AG receive a guaranteed dividend of €1.01;
in addition, we have made them a cash compensation offer
amounting to €31.56 per share. External shareholders of HOMAG
Group AG have valuation proceedings underway to have the amount
of the guaranteed dividend and cash compensation appraised by
a court of law. According to a ruling handed down by the Regional
Court of Stuttgart in August 2019, the cash compensation was to
be raised to €31.58 and the guaranteed dividend to €1.03 per share.
However, the ruling is not yet final and binding, since shareholders
of HOMAG Group AG filed an appeal in October 2019. If the Higher
Regional Court of Stuttgart, which will rule at the next level,
holds higher amounts to be appropriate, this would give rise to
additional expenditure.

It cannot be ruled out altogether that information of a confidential
nature and/or of relevance to the capital market may prematurely
be leaked outside the organization. We protect ourselves from this
by substantially restricting the number of persons with access to
such information and by instructing the relevant persons with
regard to their duties. In addition, we set up project-related insider
lists and use secure communication technologies.

Operating risks: Sales/bid phase

One risk during the bid phase is that we may not be able to assert
margin targets during contract award negotiations in a phase of
high competitive intensity. When performing order calculations,
there is potential for incorrect cost assessments. To prevent this,
we always obtain current market prices on the procurement side
and have our calculation assumptions reviewed internally.
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Operating risks: Project execution/engineering

The key risk in project execution is any failure to meet deadlines or
other commitments, particularly in plant engineering. This can lead
to additional expenses or to customer payments being postponed.
Although project lifetimes are tending to shorten, we assess this
risk as controllable. Especially in the paint shop business, thanks
to largely standardized products and professional processes,
we are able to handle numerous large-scale projects safely in
parallel. Due to the coronavirus pandemic, travel was limited and
some of our customers’ plants were shut down at certain times,
leading to delays in project execution. This risk has recently been
reduced. In 2022, supply bottlenecks led to delays in providing our
production units with materials, resulting in late completion of
machinery and system orders. We try to compensate for delays
in the project schedule where possible and communicate openly
with our customers regarding the progress of projects. Due to
the volume of incoming orders, the risks of underutilization have
decreased. If there is a stronger recession than expected, however,
this risk could increase again.

Operating risks: After-sales phase

The spare parts business depends on capacity utilization at our
customers’ plants, among other factors. If the level of capacity
utilization decreases, then the level of demand for spare parts
usually declines. Due to lockdowns, customers’ plants in China
were not accessible in the second quarter of 2022. This temporarily
led to lower demand for spare parts. After the opening, however,
the shortfall was largely made up. Overall, after-sales risks
decreased compared to the previous year as we adapted to
the challenges of the coronavirus pandemic and supply chain
bottlenecks. In addition, we hired new employees, particularly at
HOMAG, in order to expand the service business.

Taxes, legislation, compliance, and compliance
management system

The net risk in the field of “Taxes/legislation/compliance” declined
slightly year-on-year.

We must observe different national legal norms. To avoid
violations, we cooperate with local legal experts and train our
employees accordingly. New trade barriers and legislation may
increase our costs and reduce our sales opportunities. Changes
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under tax law may lead to higher tax payments and affect our tax
assets and liabilities; in addition, there is the risk of uncertainties
in interpreting the underlying tax legislation. In large system
projects, tax and customs risks may occur in cases of complex
international delivery processes.

Material legal risks usually arise from warranty claims, claims
for damages in cases of production failures, or patent litigation.
If we fail to meet our contractual obligations in performing
our work, we may be liable to contractual penalties. Before
making any contractual representations, we study what
liability-related consequences we may face. As a principle,
we rule out any commitments that we cannot fulfill. In most
cases, the contractual risks in the project business are higher
than in the single machine business. The extension of the
software business results in increasing risks under VAT law
as well as risks relating to violations of third-party property
rights. A further risk is that of third parties possibly using
technical documents in particular for their own purposes if
such documents are not appropriately labeled.

Compliance violations, for instance in the field of competition or
product liability law, may lead to criminal prosecution, liability
risks, and image loss. We are not aware of any serious violations
at this time. We protect ourselves by means of a compliance
management system, the basic features of which are described
at www.durr-group.com in the section on Investors/Corporate
Governance. The system is monitored on a regular basis
and comprises all activities with the objective of ensuring
that all employees in daily operations behave in conformity
with the relevant rules and ethical requirements. It governs
responsibilities, communication channels, and measures in
three central fields of activity synchronized with one another:
preventing, detecting promptly, and responding to compliance
violations. In this way, the compliance management system
supports employees in avoiding contraventions and resulting
risks of liability and criminal convictions. In addition, we take
targeted action against corruption risks. Key instruments
include internal policies, online training sessions, the four-eyes
principle, a whistleblowing system that employees and third
parties can use to report misconduct, and the work carried out
by the Internal Audit department.
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Market

The risks in the “Market” field have increased substantially. In view
of a possible escalation of the political conflict between China and
Taiwan, we perceive higher risks of sanctions against China with
a negative impact on business activity. In addition, there are risks
in China stemming from the possibility of further lockdowns and a
recession due to the real estate bubble and rising unemployment.
Moreover, there is an increased risk that consumer demand in our
customers’ end markets, for example in the furniture sector, will
be weaker than expected due to inflation and rising interest rates.

In general, there is still a risk of contract awards or projects
being delayed, for instance because start-up customers postpone
planned investments due to a lack of or delays in financing. The
lower volume of demand in 2020 had a temporary negative impact
on sales and margins in 2021. There is a general risk that demand
will not develop as expected and the competitive situation will
deteriorate, with a corresponding negative impact on incoming
orders, sales, and margins. However, there are also opportunities
arising from start-ups in the field of electromobility, the increasing
localization of automotive production in the wake of trade conflicts,
and the trend in the automotive industry to switch production to
more resource-efficient processes. The relevant information is
contained in the “Opportunities” — page 114 chapter.

In the automotive business, dependencies may arise since there
is a limited number of carmakers worldwide. However, their
number has recently grown as new manufacturers of electric
vehicles have entered the market. In 2022, 28% of our sales were
generated by business with the ten largest customers (previous
year: 26%). Outside the automotive industry, the dependency risks
are considerably lower as our customer base is very broad.

The risks resulting from complex tendering procedures
have increased, as have the liability risks associated with
commencement of production and failure to achieve promised
performance data. In our markets, we are confronted with
price pressure; as a rule, this is most pronounced in paint shop
construction for the automotive industry. We react to price
pressure with innovation, process optimization, localization, and
cost management. After reducing overcapacities in the automotive
sector in Germany and Europe in 2020, we have been consistently
pursuing a sales strategy based on the principle of “value before
volume” since 2022. In doing so, we select the projects for which
we submit bids more strictly according to margin criteria and
customer attractiveness.
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In the automotive business, there is a risk of customers enforcing
payment terms that are unfavorable to us. The willingness to make
higher prepayments for major projects may vary, depending on our
customers’ access to liquidity. Due to the high order intake, cash
inflow from prepayments was recently at a good level. Chinese
customers in particular prefer bank acceptance drafts - a kind of
bill of exchange - to conventional prepayments. In corresponding
projects, payments from customers also tend to be made later
or less evenly over the duration of the project. Payment defaults
have not increased significantly; uncollectible claims are rare in
particular in business with the automotive industry.

For projects with new producers of electric vehicles, we prevent
credit rating risks by conducting a thorough solvency check in
advance. If the creditworthiness falls below a threshold value
defined by us, we monitor receivables closely or do not accept
orders at all. In the execution of our projects, we make sure that
there is a positive balance of cash inflows and outflows. To this
end, we align the progress of project execution with the relevant
progress payments received.

We do not perceive any concrete risks to our market leadership at
present. New products and business models that could endanger
our position are not discernible. Disruptive technologies such as
electromobility have not led to lower demand for paint, assembly,
and testing technology in the automotive industry, either. Instead,
the level of demand for final assembly technology is likely to
rise since the assembly of electric vehicles partly calls for new
processes and systems. In the field of painting technology, there
are no serious substitution risks as there still are no alternatives
to aluminum, steel, and plastics in large-scale serial car body
production. Composite materials deployed in lightweight
construction are also painted by conventional means. In furniture
production, where wood and chipboard dominate, there are no
major substitution risks.

In the course of digitalization, we need to offer our customers top-
performing software and IT solutions. Otherwise, competitors from
the software industry could come between us and our customers
with offers of their own. With our manufacturing execution systems
(MES) and a rising number of software and smart products,
however, we are well placed to defend our market position.
Moreover, we know our customers’ production processes very
well and incorporate this knowledge into our software products.
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Corporate strategic risks in the emerging markets
The high business share of emerging markets (42.1% of sales)
entails specific risks:

= Cultural and language barriers, insufficient knowledge of
suppliers, customers and market customs, and specific
legal and general political parameters may give rise to
disadvantages.

The level of staff turnover in the emerging markets is higher
than in Germany. Attractive remuneration, our status as world
market leader, and targeted career planning help us retain top-
performing employees.

- Product and brand piracy is more prolific in the emerging
economies than in the established markets. However, due to
their complexity, many of our products can hardly be copied
in the same quality. Moreover, we protect ourselves through
patents.

Our local product development ensures that regional
customer requirements are taken into account. This reduces
the acceptance risks for new solutions. We protect ourselves
against cost pressure of local competitors by means of a high
degree of localization.

Corporate strategic risks: Acquisitions/

new fields of activity

As regards corporate acquisitions, sales, earnings, and synergies
may turn out lower than planned. We hedge this risk by means
of due diligence audits and integration plans. When entering
into new fields of business, misjudgments cannot be ruled out
with regard to resources deployed, customer requirements, and
price targets, as well as developments in demand, the market,
and competition. Moreover, problems may arise in the field of
technological development. Such misjudgments and problems
may increase the risk of impairment on investments, goodwill,
book values of equity interests, and capitalized development costs.

M

R&D and product liability risks

With regard to innovations, there is a risk that we may not be
able to adequately absorb our development costs through product
pricing. Technical problems may also occur in the development
of new products, resulting in delays or additional costs. To
avoid market acceptance risks, we analyze demand, engage
pilot customers, and develop products with a high return on
investment. This also reduces the risk of unexpected impairment
on capitalized development costs. We review the patent situation
to ensure that new products do not violate any property rights of
third parties. To prevent product liability cases, we ensure that
our products meet health and safety regulations, and we take out
appropriate insurance policies.

Competition

In view of our extensive market shares, some customers choose
to cooperate with smaller-sized competitors. This may make our
price targets difficult to achieve. Local competitors sometimes
undercut our prices. We counter this by increasing value added
locally and by protecting our technology lead through innovation.
Delays in shipping pose a risk for painting robots, as they can lead to
time losses compared to competitors producing in the destination
country, for example in China. We are not aware of any competitors’
products that could endanger our market position. In certain
countries, the level of competitive intensity from internationally
active competitors has increased. We have noticed that competitors
from the emerging markets are also starting to operate outside
their home markets as the trend toward localization of business
activities in close proximity to the customers is increasing. In
addition, there is a risk that in countries with a strong focus on the
national economy, local competitors may be given preference in
contract awards for political reasons.

Procurement and manufacturing

The risks in the field of “Procurement” increased substantially
in the first half of 2022 due to supply chain problems and rising
prices of materials. While the situation eased somewhat in the
second half of the year, the level of risk was still higher than in the
previous year. Delays in completion and delivery of our machinery
and systems may continue to have a negative impact on sales.
Moreover, earnings may be impaired by additional costs. In the
case of planned investments, there may be increases due to higher
construction costs, for instance. To mitigate availability and price
risks, we enter into framework contracts with preferred suppliers
and pool our purchasing volumes. In a few cases, dependency
risks may arise, which we reduce by broadening our supplier

ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Combined management report

Report on risks, opportunities and expected

future development: Risks

base. For standard bought-in parts, a change in suppliers may
make it necessary for us to amend certain designs and contend
with corresponding costs. At some manufacturing locations,
fluctuations in orders placed may lead to underutilization.
Inventory risks are possible in particular when model changes
occur within the product program.

We select and monitor suppliers carefully as a precaution against
quality deficiencies or delayed deadlines, which may occur
particularly among suppliers in the emerging markets. Moreover,
we have reduced our dependency on suppliers in some divisions
by extending our in-house manufacturing. We are often unable
to pass rising supplier prices on to our customers in full. In the
automotive sector, major new contracts with customers have
included price escalation clauses since 2022, which we use to
hedge against rising costs. The insolvency risk of suppliers has
increased in the course of the coronavirus pandemic.

Risks in the field of “Manufacturing” have risen only slightly.
The completion of new production areas at Kallesoe, a Danish
company of Woodworking Machinery and Systems, was completed
on schedule.

Human resources

We hire external employees to avoid risks of capacity bottlenecks
or overcapacity. As we have numerous highly qualified employees,
know-how losses may be incurred when they leave our Company.
This is why we distribute specialist expertise across a number of
persons and promote knowledge transfer. Skills shortages are
making recruitment increasingly difficult, especially in the fields of
information technology, digitalization, and electrical engineering.
To counteract this, we rely on long-term career planning for
experts, personnel and university marketing as well as vocational
training and so-called “dual study programs” combining academic
studies with practical training. Salary hikes during the lifetime of
large, long-term projects can result in an additional cost factor;
this risk exists above all in the emerging markets. We cannot
completely rule out violations of labor law and tariff-based
arrangements in the Dirr Group either.

We have outsourced pension obligations to external pension funds
in which other enterprises also participate. Should one of these
companies file for insolvency, this would give rise to the risk of
co-liability for its retirement benefit commitments. Accordingly,
we regularly monitor the financing status of the pension funds and
the economic development of the participating companies.
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Our pension risks are manageable. The discount rate used
for calculating pension obligations in Germany was 3.76% as
of December 31, 2022 (Dec. 31, 2021: 0.9%). Pension provisions
amounted to €36.4 million.

Finance and controlling

This risk field comprises, among others, exchange-rate and credit
rating risks, the risks that investments made do not generate the
desired return, as well as risks regarding the value of tangible and
intangible assets.

The risks in this field have increased significantly year-on-year.
The main reasons for this include increased credit rating risks
for customers in the electromobility sector and increased risks
relating to the recoverability of goodwill as a result of the rise in
interest rates. Additional factors are increased interest rate and
exchange rate risks.

Corporate and information security, IT,

and management processes

IT risks, such as data loss, hacking, and virus attacks or availability
shortfalls are increasing in the wake of ongoing digitalization.
We protect ourselves by means of a Group-wide IT security
organization and a robust IT infrastructure equipped with state-of-
the-art firewalls and antivirus programs. We use back-up servers
and redundant data lines to avoid any outages. We rate the risk of
hacker attacks and data theft to which we are exposed as normal
for the industry in which we operate. The corporate security team,
established in 2021, also addresses the defense against increasing
cybercrime.

To avoid loss or damage, for example from ransomware, we
use enhanced authentication standards in electronic payments,
security certificates for email messages, secure smartphones,
and verified bank connections. In addition, we regularly draw
our employees’ attention to typical fraud practices. We regularly
review the effectiveness of our IT measures for protection against
cyberattacks.

Incorrect assignment of IT access privileges gives rise to the risk
of data being read or manipulated by unauthorized persons. We
protect ourselves by restrictive assignment of rights. Reading
and editing rights regarding sensitive data are assigned only to
employees who absolutely depend on them to perform their work.
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Society, environment, health and safety

With the introduction of the Supply Chain Due Diligence Act in
Germany, the requirements for companies in terms of compliance
with human rights have been tightened further. Failure to comply
with due diligence requirements could result in sanctions
by lawmakers or customers. We counter this risk with a risk
assessment of suppliers worldwide and active monitoring. To this
end, we have established governance structures and processes
in purchasing and appointed a cross-divisional officer. To comply
reliably with environmental conditions imposed, we have appointed
Environmental Protection Officers; we also rely on environmental
management certifications and policies. Substances that are
harmful to health and the environment are used only to a limited
extent and subject to strict safety regulations. We counter the risk
of accidents at work by carrying out regular safety instructions,
compulsory online training, and comprehensive safety standards
described in our Health & Safety Policy. In addition, we cooperate
with our customers in order to guarantee occupational safety on
construction sites.

CURRENCY, INTEREST, AND LIQUIDITY RISKS AS
WELL AS FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS FOR RISK
MITIGATION PURPOSES

An exact description of currency, interest rate, and liquidity risks
is provided in the notes to the consolidated financial statements
(— note 41). A Group policy governs management of these risks.
The central corporate body is the Financial Risk Committee
consisting of the CFO, the Heads of the Group functions of
Controlling, Treasury, Tax, and Investor Relations as well as the
Financial Officers of the divisions. This committee discusses
strategic financial issues and prepares resolutions for the Diirr AG
Board of Management and the Diirr Management Board.
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Hedging foreign currency risks

We use financial derivatives for hedging purposes. In most cases,
these are forward exchange contracts used as currency hedges.
Their nominal value at the end of 2022 came to €930.3 million (Dec.
31, 2021: €496.5 million). In particular, payment flows were hedged
in the key currencies listed under — note 41 of the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. The use of financial derivatives
can entail risks, such as less favorable deposit conditions and
higher financing costs. Moreover, the market value of financial
derivatives may decrease if credit risk spreads increase due to
changes on the financial markets.

In most cases, we hedge foreign currency risks of orders placed
immediately after the relevant contract awards. In principle, we
agree a separate (micro) hedge for each larger individual project.
In the standard machinery and spare parts business, we also use
macro hedges for several bundled orders. In addition, we reduce
our export-related transaction risks by increasingly producing
goods locally or purchasing in local currency.

All financial derivatives and their underlying transactions are
checked and valued on a regular basis. Financial derivatives are
mainly used to hedge loans and operating business.

The risks involved in currency translation into euros increased
substantially year-on-year in 2022.

Hedging interest rate risks

We pursue a conservative interest rate and financing strategy
comprising three core elements: long-term interest rate and
financing certainty, matching maturities, and a prohibition of
speculation. Our financial debt consists mainly of the 2020,
2019, and 2016 Schuldschein loans, the convertible bond issued
in 2020, and leasing liabilities. Although the risk of interest rate
fluctuations of our Group financing arrangement increased
recently, we continue to assess it as limited.

Interest rate risk management covers all interest-bearing and
interest-sensitive balance sheet line items. Regular interest
analyses enable risks to be identified at an early stage. Group
Treasury is chiefly responsible for borrowing, investment, and
interest rate hedges; from a defined scale upward, exceptions
must be submitted to the CFO for approval.
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Hedging liquidity risks

We largely cover our liquidity needs from our cash flow. At times
of temporary negative cash flows, we are able to use cash and
cash equivalents and the cash line of the syndicated loan. This
again was not necessary in 2022. Please also refer to the chapter
on “Financial development” — page 95 in this regard. Our cash
pooling enables us to make use of liquidity surpluses of individual
Group companies for other subsidiaries, provided that national
capital transfer regulations permit this practice. This enables us
to avoid taking out loans and paying interest expenditure.

Financing risks

No risks relating to borrowed funding exist at this time. The
terms of our Schuldschein loan and the convertible bond contain
the usual restrictions and obligations. In the event of a breach
of material contractual obligations, insolvency, or a change of
control, these debt instruments could be called for payment
immediately. Our syndicated loan contains no financial covenants.

Hedging investment risks

Our Financial Asset Management Policy governs how to deal
with investment risks and defines the eligible asset classes and
credit rating requirements. As we do not hold any government or
corporate bonds, we are not subject to corresponding repayment
and impairment risks.

RATINGS
In 2022, we again did not have any credit ratings carried out to

assess our creditworthiness. We continue to evaluate the inclusion
of a rating.
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Opportunities

OPPORTUNITY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

We identify and evaluate new business opportunities with the help
of a Group-wide opportunity management system. The divisions
play a central role in this: They collect information on new trends
and market requirements through their contacts with customers,
suppliers, and partners. This information is aggregated to identify
opportunity complexes and duly evaluated. Opportunity complexes
offering sustained economic potential are analyzed by the Board of
Management and the division heads as part of the strategy process.
The divisions then integrate the approved opportunity complexes
in their strategy and define goals, measures, responsibilities,
and schedules.

Identifying and evaluating business opportunities is an ongoing
process, which is coordinated by the division heads. The Board of
Management and the Corporate Development central function are
responsible for this at the level of Diirr AG. If opportunities are found
to be of major strategic significance, we form multidisciplinary
teams to conduct potential analyses and establish the budget.

Joint activities with universities, research institutes, and the Dirr
Technology Council also form part of opportunity management.
These contacts help us to determine the extent to which new
scientific findings may yield opportunities for the Dirr Group.
Opportunities may also arise from new legislation, e.g. on emission
protection and international trade. Our opportunity management
system takes account of global and regional business opportunities
as well as the potential offered by specific products, customers,
and business models.

POTENTIAL OFFERED BY OPPORTUNITIES

This section now proceeds to describe the material opportunities
of the Group and the divisions. The business plan for 2023 and
the strategic plan through 2026 incorporate the related earnings
potential that these opportunities can realistically be expected
to generate. If we are able to make use of the opportunities to a
greater extent than assumed, EBIT may substantially exceed the
figures budgeted for 2023. However, this additional EBIT potential
is achievable only in a best-case scenario.
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STRATEGIC OPPORTUNITIES

Digitalization: The digital transformation is opening up new
business opportunities. Examples include sales growth in the
software segment and the establishment of new business and
pricing models that are based, for example, on the value of a digital
service to track system availability, intensity of use, or number of
connected machines. In addition, digitalization allows us to stand
apart from our peers.

Sustainability: We are benefiting from the trend toward low-
consumption and energy-efficient production systems. Many
customers are increasingly seeing sustainability as a priority and
want to reach carbon-neutral production in the foreseeable future.
Our low-consumption solutions can help them to achieve this goal.
In addition, we are making it possible to use electricity to operate
machines and systems that have previously run on fossil fuels,
for example in drying or exhaust-air purification. We believe that
our products and services for the sustainable transformation of
production processes give us a leading position in our markets. In
addition, we offer technologies for manufacturing products that
play an important role in the transition to a carbon-neutral society.
Examples are production systems for electric vehicles or timber
house construction elements.

Electromobility: Electromobility offers opportunities for the Diirr
Group. For one thing, new producers of electric vehicles are
entering the market, something which is broadening our customer
base. For another, the automotive incumbents are significantly
stepping up plant conversion spending and investments in special
production technologies for electric vehicles. We offer e-mobility
start-ups turnkey assembly and paint systems as well as test
systems for electric drives; these activities have been added
through the acquisition of a majority stake in Teamtechnik.

Timber construction: Using wood as a sustainable building
material makes it possible to significantly reduce the carbon
footprint of the construction industry. This is an opportunity for
the HOMAG Group, which covers a large part of the value chain
for the production of construction elements with its woodworking
machines. Order intake in the construction elements solutions
segment has already grown significantly over the last few years.
The first investors are building large factories for the automated
industrial-scale prefabrication of timber components. We are
investing in the expansion of our capacities to address the growing
demand and to utilize the opportunities that are arising.
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Electrode production: With the emergence of electromobility,
business in systems for electrode production is offering good
prospects. The market is growing dynamically as large investments
are being made in the expansion of production capacities to provide
enough batteries for the growing number of electric vehicles. In
Europe alone, production capacity for 1,300 to 1,500 gigawatt/hours
of battery power is to be installed by 2030, marking an immense
increase over 2022 (roughly 120 gigawatt/hours). Our integrated
solutions for coating and drying electrodes — page 262 as well as
for solvent recovery place us in a good starting position for growing
this business. At the same time, we want to position ourselves,
together with our partners Grob and Manz, as suppliers of end-
to-end battery plants. In view of the numerous capital spending
projects in the European battery cell sector, we see potential for
substantially boosting sales in coating technology.

Medtech business: With the acquisition of a majority stake in
Teamtechnik, we have entered business in automated systems
for the assembly of medical technology products (e.g. inhalers
and injection systems). This market is exhibiting high single-digit
growth rates since medical care business is expanding as a result
of demographic growth, rising prosperity, and the aging populations
in many countries. We will be additionally broadening this business.

Service: Our production technology is used in numerous factories
worldwide. This broad installed base offers growth opportunities for
us in service business with its higher margins. We are tapping this
potential within the framework of our lifecycle services strategy. At
HOMAG, we hired about 90 additional service employees in 2022 to
generate additional business in this area.

Process excellence: The quality and efficiency of our processes
form a key thrust of efficiency as a strategic field. With the
OneDirrGroup programs in particular, we want to harness the
potential for improving costs and sales by optimizing processes
and rolling out the latest IT systems.

Localization/local products: By expanding our local capacities
in key markets, we are improving cost structures and customer
proximity. Localizing product development allows us to take better
account of regional market requirements.

Southeast Asia: Driven by rising per-capita income, Southeast
Asia is an attractive growth market in which we will be broadening
our footprint. In local automotive business, we intend to intensify
our relations with the Japanese automotive industry, which holds
a strong market position in Southeast Asia as well.
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OPPORTUNITIES IN THE DIVISIONS

Paint and Final Assembly Systems stepped up its focus on
enhancing margins in 2022 and is now pursuing a sales strategy
based on the “value before volume” principle. This means that
preference is being given to projects with high margin potential,
while no offers are submitted for projects with insufficient margin
potential. The e-mobility transformation and decarbonization in
automotive production offer opportunities in painting and final
assembly technology both in terms of plant modernization and the
construction of new plants. The focus is not only on automotive
incumbents but also on start-ups. By pooling final assembly
technology business within Paint and Final Assembly Systems,
we have been able to substantially improve customer access and
cost structures. The aim is to use innovative concepts to position
ourselves as a final assembly specialist and to leverage our sales
and service network - particularly in the emerging markets - to
harness additional growth. The innovative “Paint Shop of the
Future” concept is to continue generating impetus for growth in
paint shop technology. It replaces the previous line production with
flexible painting boxes and automated guided vehicles, and also
enables rapid plant expansion. The majority stake in Teamtechnik
is opening up two opportunities: For one thing, Teamtechnik can
offer its testing technologies for electric and hybrid drives to a wider
range of customers. For another, we are expanding our business in
production facilities for medical technology plastic products.

Application Technology is benefiting from various contemporary
trends such as automation, digitalization, individualization, and
sustainability. Among other things, there are opportunities for
expanding service and digitalization business beyond the installed
base. With the EcoPaintJet and EcoPaintJet Pro robot systems
for two-tone painting, Application Technology has a disruptive
technology that opens up new possibilities for customer product
individualization. There are also growth opportunities in business
with general industry, in gluing technology — page 262, and with
application technology — page 262 solutions for insulating and
bonding battery cells for electric vehicles. In addition, we have
opportunities for widening market share with individual customers.
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Clean Technology Systems is benefiting from stricter emission
limits, especially in China. In the medium term, other emerging
markets will also offer additional potential. Further growth
opportunities are arising from the accelerated expansion of
lithium-ion battery production, especially in Europe. The division
is well positioned to leverage this trend with systems for double-
sided coating of battery electrodes and the partnership forged
in 2020 with Japanese machine manufacturer Techno Smart.
In addition, a partnership was forged with the mechanical
engineering companies Grob and Manz in 2022 to offer turnkey
systems for battery module production. This boosts the chances
of a successful market entry. Given the large installed base, we
also see further business opportunities in the areas of service,
conversion, and spare parts.

Measuring and Process Systems sees increased opportunities for
balancing technology — page 262 and spin test systems for e-mobility
components. The airlines segment (balancing technology for
aircraft turbines) also offers potential for growth, particularly
via new local turbine construction programs in China. As well as
this, the division is benefiting from the growing automation of the
balancing process and heightened requirements in measuring
and correcting unbalance. Other opportunities can be leveraged
by capitalizing on the cost advantages at our locations in China
and India, for example in assembly and balancing systems for tire
and wheel assemblies.

Woodworking Machinery and Systems has an opportunity for
achieving further efficiency gains through the ongoing optimization
measures. This includes, for example, the introduction of a new
production system and a fully integrated value-chain process with
the corresponding software environment. In addition, investments
are being made in the modernization and expansion of production
capacities. Further opportunities can be found in timber house
construction due to the trend toward using wood as a sustainable
building material. As a technology leader, the HOMAG Group is
also benefiting from the growing digitalization and automation of
furniture production.
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Forecast

MORE MUTED GROWTH IN THE GLOBAL
ECONOMY IN 2023

Economists see some headwinds for the economy in 2023 and
project global growth of 2.9%. Strong inflation, rising interest rates,
and the fallout from the war in Ukraine are placing a sustained
damper on global economic growth. The International Monetary
Fund expects the pace of growth to slow in Europe as well as in
the United States but considers a global recession to be unlikely,
not least of all due to the economic recovery in China. Heightened
military spending by many governments will exert an additional
strain on public-sector budgets. The phase of elevated inflation
should continue in 2023, although rates are declining. According to
Deutsche Bank's estimates, the inflation rate should drop to 6.0%
in the Eurozone and to 4.1% in the United States. The European
Central Bank is planning further increases in its key interest rates
to ensure that inflation returns to its 2.0 percent target. In light of
the tight monetary policy adopted in 2022, the US Federal Reserve
has signaled that it will be slowing the pace of its interest rate
hikes in 2023.

2.77 — FORECAST GROWTH IN GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT

% year-on-year change 2022 2023 2024
Global 3.4 2.9 3.1
Germany 1.9 0.1 1.4
Eurozone 3.5 0.7 1.6
Russia -2.2 0.3 2.1
United States 2.0 1.4 1.0
China 3.0 5.2 4.5
India 6.8 6.1 6.8
Japan 1.4 1.8 0.9
Brazil 3.1 1.2 1.5

Source: International Monetary Fund 01/2023
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TRENDS IN THE MAIN INDUSTRIES IN WHICH
OUR CUSTOMERS OPERATE

Automotive and furniture are our key sell-side industries.
Business in environmental technology, battery production,
medtech automation, and timber house construction is continuing
to gain in importance. Looking ahead over the next few years, we
expect significant business expansion in these sectors despite the
prevailing economic headwinds. The economists at the German
Mechanical Engineering Association VDMA project flat growth of
around 0% in equipment spending and a 2% decline in mechanical
engineering production in 2023.

Automotive industry

With global automotive production growing at a slower pace
(roughly 7%) in 2022 than originally anticipated due to continued
supply chain constraints, LMC Automotive expects output to expand
by roughly 5% to a total of 85.8 million units in 2023, underpinned
by all regions. The pre-pandemic level recorded in 2019 should be
reached again in 2024. Average annual growth of 3% in production
output is projected for the period from 2023 to 2029 and should
be particularly buoyed by improved consumer confidence and
increasing prosperity in the emerging markets.

The main drivers of capital spending in the automotive industry are
the growing demand for production technology for electric vehicles
and batteries as well the use of sustainable technologies to lower
the carbon footprint of automotive plants. Other factors are the
reduction in unit costs in the automotive industry and more flexible
production for different model types. As well as this, we expect
our customers to focus more on digital production processes.
Capital expenditure is being channeled into the construction of
new production lines as well as the modernization of existing ones.
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2.78 — PRODUCTION OF PASSENGER CARS AND LIGHT
COMMERCIAL VEHICLES

Million units 2022 2023p 2024p
Global 82.0 85.8 89.9
Western Europe 10.0 11.0 11.9
Germany 3.7 4.2 4.8
Eastern Europe 5.9 5.9 6.5
Russia 0.5 0.6 0.8
North America (incl. Mexico) 14.2 15.2 15.9
United States 9.7 10.3 10.9
South America 2.8 3.0 3.2
Brazil 2.2 2.3 2.5
Asia 46.9 48.2 49.7
China 26.0 27.0 27.5
Japan 7.4 7.5 7.8
India 5.1 53 5.3

p = projection
Source: LMC 02/2023

Woodworking

In view of the high figure reported in the previous year, we expect
order intake in business with the furniture industry to return to
normal in 2023. The Centre for Industrial Studies (CSIL) forecasts
growth in the furniture market of around 3% worldwide and likewise
3% in Germany in 2023. Although order intake will tend to weaken,
capacity utilization should be high in the industry in 2023, due to the
large order backlog that has accumulated over the last 18 months.
The main trends in furniture production, such as automation,
digitalization, and product individualization, remain intact. As we
are well positioned in all three areas thanks to HOMAG's integrated
production solutions, we continue to see opportunities for widening
our market share in the medium term.

Business in production technology for climate-friendly timber
houses (construction elements solutions] is set to continue
gaining importance over the next few years. We expect construction
elements solutions to widen its contribution to HOMAG's sales to
over 20% by 2030, up from 14% in 2022. The market for systems for
the production of timber construction elements should expand by
an annual average of 11% between 2020 and 2026. This is mainly due
to the excellent climate footprint of timber houses and the potential
for automation in timber house construction.
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Environmental technology

Our environmental technology business is benefiting from the
heightened air pollution control requirements, especially in
emerging markets and developing countries. Accordingly, we
expect to see an increase in demand in the various sell-side
markets. While growth in Europe and Americas is primarily being
driven by services and the modernization of existing plants, in Asia
it is mostly underpinned by new installations.

Coating technology for battery producers

We see great future potential in coating systems for battery
electrodes, particularly in view of the strong growth in the
electromobility market. In Europe alone, battery production
capacity is expected to rise from just under 125 gigawatt/hours to
between 1,300 and 1,500 gigawatt/hours between 2022 and 2030.
In 2022, we were able to increase order intake for coating line
systems to a good €100 million. We were particularly successful
with systems for recovering the solvents used in the coating
process.

Forged in September 2022, the strategic partnership between
Dirr, Grob, and Manz is opening up further opportunities for
growth. In this constellation, we are able to accept projects for
fitting out complete battery factories. The aim is to harness the
immense potential offered by business in production technology
for lithium-ion batteries, to establish ourselves as a European
equipment partner together with our partners, and to cover the
entire value chain. We want to increase battery production sales
to between €300 and €500 million by 2030.
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HIGH ORDER BACKLOG DRIVING SALES AND
EARNINGS GROWTH IN 2023

The outlook for 2023 assumes that growth in the global economy
does not fall short of expectations, and that the war in Ukraine will
be confined to that country and will not have any greater impact
on the economy than at present. Furthermore, we do not expect
any material disruptions to supply chains, caused, for instance,
by renewed lockdowns in China or an escalation of the tensions
between China and Taiwan. A further premise is that it remains
possible to safeguard gas supplies in Europe and that there are no
shortfalls in availability with a severe impact on the economy. Any
other existing risks are described in the “Risk report” — page 104.

On the strength of the record order backlog as of December 31,
2022, we assume that sales will continue to grow in 2023,
accompanied by an improvement in the EBIT margin. This will be
underpinned by the operational improvement measures initiated
in recent years, higher capacity utilization in automotive business,
and wider margins on order intake as a result of price increases
and the “value before volume” sales strategy in the Paint and Final
Assembly Systems division.

Following the record figure in 2022, order intake should decline
somewhat, coming within a corridor of €4,400 to €4,800 million.
The HOMAG Group is expected to see a cyclical decline in demand
for machinery for furniture production. However, we have invested
in the expansion of HOMAG's service business and continue to
register growing demand for machinery for the prefabrication of
construction elements for climate-friendly timber houses. In the
Paint and Final Assembly Systems and Application Technology
divisions, demand from the automotive industry strengthened
significantly in the second half of 2022. There are still many projects
in the pipeline, although the high utilization of our capacities could
force us to place a cap on the intake of new orders. Moreover,
we are continuing our margin-driven “value before volume” sales
strategy. In the Clean Technology Systems and Measuring and
Process Systems divisions, we expect order intake to consolidate
at a high level.
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On the basis of the high order backlog, we have defined a target
range for sales of €4,500 to €4,800 million for 2023. We assume that
the book-to-bill ratio will fall below 1 and that the order backlog
will thus decline. Given that we entered the year with a record
order backlog, we see this as being a step toward normalization.

Total costs (cost of sales and overheads, other operating expenses)
will climb for volume- and inflation-related reasons in 2023. The
largest cost items will continue to be the cost of materials and
personnel expense. We expect a substantial improvement in
gross profit, with the gross margin also set to widen again after
contracting in 2022.

IMPROVED EBIT MARGIN EXPECTED

We anticipate a wider EBIT margin before and after extraordinary
effects in 2023. The main drivers will be rising capacity utilization
and the greater margin quality in the order backlog in automotive
business. These will be joined by lower expenses due to the
receding supply chain bottlenecks, the price increases of the
past few quarters, and the planned implementation of further
process improvements, particularly at the HOMAG Group. In
addition, service business should continue to widen and have a
positive impact on earnings. On the other hand, continued high
inflation and partial shortfalls in capacity utilization could exert
a retarding effect in the event of any temporary weaknesses in
demand. At Clean Technology Systems, higher R&D expenditures
for the continued development of coating technology for lithium-
ion battery cells will leave traces on the margin.

The EBIT margin before extraordinary effects should come within
a range of 6.0% to 7.0% in 2023 (2022: 5.4%). As things currently
stand, the extraordinary expenses should come to around
€20 million (2022: €26.3 million) and primarily comprise purchase
price allocation effects. This will result in a target corridor for the
EBIT margin of 5.6% to 6.6% (2022: 4.8%).

INCREASED EARNINGS AFTER TAX TARGETED

Earnings after tax are expected to rise to between €160 and
€210 million on the basis of the EBIT expectations outlined above.
ROCE — page 263 should also improve again in 2023, reaching a
range of 19% to 23% (2022: 17.3%).
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DIVIDEND POLICY TO BE CONTINUED

We will be proposing a dividend of €0.70 per share for the
2022 financial year. Looking ahead over the coming years, we
likewise expect a payout ratio of 30% to 40% of Group earnings
after tax.

HIGH FREE CASH FLOW IN TANDEM WITH RISING
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Free cash flow — page 263 should be influenced by two opposing
factors in 2023. While the projected improvement in earnings
should make a positive contribution, we plan to increase capital
expenditure at the same time. With respect to net working capital
— page 263, we expect a decline in prepayments due to the
anticipated normalization of our order intake. At the same time,
we see potential for running off the inventories arising from
stockpiling in 2022 in response to supply chain constraints. Days
working capital should continue to be as low as possible. We
reaffirm our target of 40 to 50 days for the time being, although we
fell short of this range at the end of 2022. As in 2021 and 2022, we
have budgeted a free cash flow of €50 to €100 million. Given the
expected cash flow, low net debt, and the good liquidity situation
in 2022, we have sufficient financial flexibility to cover operational
funding requirements, the financial resources required for
acquisitions, and the proposed dividend payout.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND ACQUISITIONS

We anticipate a substantial increase in capital expenditure on
property, plant, and equipment as well as intangible assets
in 2023. This is mainly due to the extensive capital expenditure
program at the HOMAG Group, which has been ongoing since
2021. Thus, HOMAG is to spend €150 to €200 million by 2025 on
expanding capacity, improving efficiency, and creating a modern,
performance-enhancing work environment. In addition, we
are widening capacities in the Measuring and Process Systems
division’s tooling business by investing in a new location in
Germany. Overall, we expect capital expenditure to rise to between
4.0% and 5.0% of sales in 2023 (2022: 3.2%). At the same time, we
want to continue our acquisition strategy and strengthen our
business activities through corporate and technology acquisitions.
Sufficient liquidity is available for funding possible transactions.
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NET FINANCIAL STATUS, LIQUIDITY,
AND FUNDING

As things currently stand, we project a net financial status
— page 263 of €-50 to €-100 million for the end of 2023. Once
again, we do not expect to draw on the cash facility under our
syndicated loan in 2023. We currently have no intention of raising
any fresh capital; this would only be an option in an exceptional
case in the event of a large acquisition. We have a stable funding
position, with the syndicated loan continuing until mid-2026.

EXPECTATIONS BEYOND 2023

Looking forward to 2024, we expect to see a continuation of the
profitable growth and to achieve our medium-term target of an
EBIT margin of at least 8% before extraordinary effects. We are
aiming to increase sales to more than €6 billion by 2030. The goal
is to achieve an average growth rate of 5% to 6% during this period.
At the same time, we want to stabilize the EBIT margin before
extraordinary effects at over 8% on a sustained basis.

2.79 — OUTLOOK FOR GROUP

2022 2023 target
Order intake € million 5,008.4 4,400 to 4,800
Sales € million 4,314.1 4,500 to 4,800
EBIT margin before
extraordinary effects % 5.4 6.0to 7.0
EBIT margin % 4.8 5.610 6.6
Earnings after tax € million 134.3 160to 210
ROCE % 17.3 19 to 23
Free cash flow € million 171 50 to 100
Net financial status
(Dec. 31) € million -46.4 -50to -100
Capital expenditure
[net of acquisitions) € million 138.5
% of sales 3.2 4.0t05.0
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Order intake Sales EBIT margin before extraordinary effects
(€ million) (€ million) (%)
2022 2023 target 2022 2023 target 2022 2023 target
Paint and Final Assembly Systems 1,786.6 1,600 to 1,750 1,436.2 1,650 to 1,750 4.0 4.7t05.7
Application Technology 654.0 560 to 620 586.6 570to 610 8.3 9.4t0 10.4
Clean Technology Systems 587.1 520 to 580 456.1 450 to 490 2.5 3.3t04.3
Measuring and Process Systems 326.0 290 to 320 276.2 290 to 320 6.2 8.4109.4
Woodworking Machinery and Systems 1,705.8 1,450 to 1,600 1,602.1 1,600 to 1,700 7.8 8.0t0 9.5

BOARD OF MANAGEMENT’S OVERALL STATE-
MENT ON THE ANTICIPATED DEVELOPMENT
OF THE GROUP

Given the multitude of challenges it faced, the Dirr Group
performed well in 2022, posting new records in sales, order intake,
and order backlog. On the strength of the very high order backlog
and our measures to improve earnings, we expect profitable
growth in 2023. The order situation in automotive business is very
good. We continue to anticipate extensive capital expenditure on
e-mobility production systems and sustainable technologies for
automotive plants in order to reduce the carbon footprint. With
respect to order intake, the focus is on those projects that promise
the best margins. In business with the furniture industry, we expect
a cyclical slowdown in demand after the record years of 2021 and
2022. At the same time, we see further growth opportunities for
HOMAG in service business and systems for the prefabrication of
components for climate-friendly timber houses.

Sustainability, electromobility, automation, and digitalization will
continue to be the Diirr Group’s main growth drivers over the next
few years. Thanks to the resource efficiency of our products, the
high software and shop-floor expertise of our digital factories, and
the previous years’ acquisitions, we are very well positioned to
benefit from the market opportunities that are emerging.
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Driven by a record order backlog, Group sales should grow to
between €4,500 and €4,800 million in 2023. The EBIT margin
before extraordinary effects is expected to widen to between 6.0%
and 7.0%; the target corridor for the EBIT margin is 5.6% to 6.6%,
accompanied by slightly lower extraordinary expenses of around
€20 million. Earnings after tax are set to rise to between €160
and €210 million. We anticipate free cash flow — page 263 of €50
to €100 million in view of a temporary increase in growth-related
capital expenditure. The high total available liquidity of over
€1 billion (including a cash facility under the syndicated loan) and
relatively low net debt of under €50 million at the end of 2022 mean
that we are financially very well positioned to cover operational
funding requirements, to complete acquisitions, and to pay out a
dividend. We are using this flexibility judiciously and with foresight,
and expect the net financial status — page 263 to remain virtually
unchanged, at between €-50 and €-100 million, as of year-end
2023.

We want to continue growing profitably in 2024 and to achieve
our medium-term target of an EBIT margin before extraordinary
effects of at least 8% in the Dirr Group, with the earnings growth
to be underpinned by all divisions.
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DURR AG (German Commercial Code)

DURR AG (IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE GERMAN
COMMERCIAL CODE, HGB)

Dirr AG’s annual financial statements are prepared in accordance
with the provisions of the German Commercial Code (HGB),
whereas the consolidated financial statements are prepared in
accordance with IFRS. As the holding company, Dirr AG comprises
the Group’s central functions and does not engage in any operating
business of its own. Its economic condition mainly hinges on
the business performance of the Group’s operating companies.
Dirr AG holds shares, directly or indirectly, in 129 companies. The
economic environment in which Diirr AG operates is essentially
the same as the Group’s and is described in the chapter entitled

“Economic and sector environment” — page 74.

Results of operations

Diirr AG's sales rose by 23.9% to €39.3 million in 2022. The main
reason for this were the increase in internal Group transfer payments
made by the Group companies to Dirr AG and the higher payments
for the use of trademarks due to the increased volume of business.
Net other operating expenses came to a substantial €27.6 million
mainly as a result of expenses in the low double-digit millions for
the OneDurrGroup synergy program. These expenses are initia<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>